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Going forward our strategy 15 to build a pan European

a
Transport business with strong shated user networks in each
rea | n g country These will be seamlessly linked through class leading
IT to create international capability including global freight
forwarding and supply chain management Alongside this

i atfo r’ rr»' fo r busiress - and supported by its resources and know how
- will be a Logistics business providing innovative solutions

and reverse logistics including dedicated warehousing with

ancillary dedicated vehicle fleets We are focusing our

e u u re marketing on strong growth sectors with good margins
where our technology and shared user operations offer
customers particular advantage

See 'Reburdding shareholder value” on page 5 for more
intormation on this strategy, which witl involve some
reorganising The structure of the business dunng the
past financial year 1s set out below right
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Financial summary

2007 2006 change
Revenue £899 0m  £819 3m +10%
Profit before tax on continuing operations f44 im  £156m  +183%
Underlying profit before tax* £12 5m £15 4m 19%
Profit after tax f47 4m  £11 8m +302%
Earnings per share 17 90p 4 46p +301%
Dividends per share 3 65p 365p -
Free cash flow’ £612m  £110m +£502m

*Before exceptional items
tFor definition see note 28 on page 65

Group at a glance

Christian Salvesen 1s a major European
business employing some 14,000 staff
In seven countries

We manage outsourced logistics for
manufacturing and retail customers in

the industnal, consumer and food sectors,
working in partnership with them to
transform their supply chains and optimise
Inventones

We have some 200 sites across Europe and
will continue to expand our reach through
organic growth, partnerships and joint
ventures
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Transport sector

Revenue £442m 49% of total
Operatmg pl’OfIt £3 7mM before exceptional items
Employees 5,70

These businesses provide transport

and warehousing for a wide range of
industnal sector customers We operate
shared user networks in the UK, Ibena
and France, and also operate dedicated
warehousing and transport fieets for
customers’ exclusive use We are expert
In the transportation of hazardous loads

Food and Consumer sector

Revenue £457m 51% of total
Operatmg pl’Of!t £14 4m before exceptional tems
Employees 8,287

These businesses provide outsourced supply
chain operations for the food and consumer
sectors, for both manufacturers and retailers
They offer both dedicated and shared user
solutions across Europe, including
temperature controlled storage and
distribution
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Chairman's statement

Dawvid Fish
Charrman

The growth strategy we outlined a vear ago 15 working well

After several years when our szles growth has been limated, 1t 13
encouraging to be on the front foot again Overall, we mcreased
revenue by 10% in the year bur, as we caunoned last year, the
continuing competitive market conditions mean 1t 18 taking longer
than we had hoped to move operating profit in the same direction
Pricing remams under pressure, and as we go forward we must
mcrease our focus on margin improvement

After a challenging vear, overall operiting performance was
shightly ahead of recent expectations Our Food and Consumer
sector performed better than anticipated revenue was up 11%
and a strong performance in the UK helped to increase operating
profit before exceptional 1tems by 9% However, the Iransport
sector fared less well revenue grew 8%, but disappointing
performances in the UK and to a lesser extent in Ibena, halved
operatng profit before exceprional items The French and Iberian
Transport businesses achieved good margmns compared with their
local competitors, but the UK 1s sull losing moncy Turning this
business around remains our rop priority and our plans 1o do

50 are well advanced

Financial highlights

Revenue increased by 10% to £899m Although underlying
operating profit (1 ¢ before exceptional wems) reduced as margins
tightened, net profit increased strongly from £11 8m to £47 4m,
reflecring the benefit of several exceptional rems, which produced
a net gamn of £35 Sm after tax Farnings per share increased by
301% from 4 46p 1o 17 90p, again reflecting the exceptional items

In our last annual report we said we were lookmg at ways to
release capital from the existing asset base to reduce gearmg and
support our plans for renewed growth In Seprember 2006 we
accomplished this through the sale and leaseback of part of our
UK property portfolio The deal generated a net £46m of cash
from property with a book value of £19m The impact on future
earnings 1s broadly neutral, and we sull hold freechold property
worth sigmficantly more than its net book value of £43m

This has helped us to cut net debt by more than half over the year,
from £94m to £39m At the vear end, gearmg {excluding the pension
deficit) was 29%, compared with 83% a year earlier

Dividend

The board 1s recommending a final dnidend of 2 45p a share,
making an unchanged total of 3 65p for the year The dividend
1s covered 1 2 times bv underiying net earnings, compared with
the previaus year's 1 1 times The final dividend will be paid on
31 August 2007 to sharcholders on the register ar 3 August 2007
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With revenue up by 10% we are on the
front foot again Now we must increase
our focus on margin improvement

Pensions

We have agreed some important changes wich the trustees of

our UK pension scheme The most important of these involves

the way annual mcreases in pension pavments are calculated

In Line with widespread UK practice, increases will in furure reflect
price inflation rather than wage mflanon Largely as a resulr of
this change, the pension fund deficit, on an 1AS 19 basis, reduced
by £23 7m over the year without the need for additional cash
contrnibuttons The changes will reduce the future cost of the scheme
and resulted in an excepnional gain of £14 7m w the vear

Operational highlights

Our sales growth has continued to build momentum New contract
wins during the vear were again ahead of the presvious year — £130m
compared with £120m We mainrained our excellent record of
retaining contracts as they came up for renewal and our healthy
mpeline suggests that we can contnue growing the top line, with
the prospect of some of the larger scale deals that we have been
targeting We pride ourselves on the service and value that we
deliver for our customers and were particularlv pleased to recene

a General Motors Global Suppler of the Year Award for the
second consecutive year Our Holistica toint venture, which enables
us 1o manage globat supplv chains, 1s now fully staffed, 1t has buile
1ts own interesting pipeline of prospects to add to the first
management contract from Marks & Spencer

We are now working to ensure thar our growth 1s achieved
profitably, to bring the bottom line 11 step with our progress

on sales We must manage our margins better, MAXIMIse returns

on investment and improve under performing activines We are
addressing all these 1ssues, and our most pressing prionty 1s to tackle
the impact on our bottom line from the UK Transport business

In addition to upgrading the central team, we have continued to
restructure individual businesses - pnimarily the UK and Iberian
Transport businesses and the continental Food and Censumer
business The exceptional costs that we have incurred to deliver
these changes will be recouped by significant savings in the future

In our Food and Consumer sector, the UK business had an excellent
year Improved dedicared contracts and cold store unlisanion helped
it to ratse underlying operating profit by 21% Our Support Services
business continued 1o grow and has been imvestuing to support
expansion plans for continental Europe Salvesen Foods returned to
profit despite a dufficule harvest in summer 2006 On the continent,
we had a more challenging vear The tomgh pricing snvironment
demands sigrmificant productivity improvement, and 1t 18 taking tme
and mvestment to implement the necessary upgrades in transport
and warehousing systems However. we are now seemng signs of
mmprovement under new leadership
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In the Transport sector, our French business continued ro grow

1ts share of a difficult market, and although margins are ght

they compare well with local compentors The Ibenan business

15 still growing and has also manrained relatively strong margns,
but operating profits were reduced by the cost of our network
myestment programme and a continung shortage of subcontractors
thar has increased prices The final phase of our Spanish fleet
restructuring programme was completed by the vear end

A new managing director and new management team are worhing
to restore the UK Transport business Progress during the vear was
slower than hoped, due 1n part to a difficulr start up for our
national tyre distriburion partnership with Goodyear Dunlop The
unplanned start up costs were a significant factor i the increased
losses for the vear As part of the turnaround plan for our UK
network business, we are myvestung n new systems ro achieve
rapid improvement 1n operational efficiency For the longer term,
we are investigating options that will require more fundamental
infrastructure changes

Across the Group, the year’s major contract wins show thar
we are succeedmg in expanding our relationships with existing
customers, entering new sectors and winmng larger contracts
mvolving added value services

For example, we have exrended our relanonship with Ford from
the UK to Spain and France We have broadened our contracts
with Rockware, Marks & Spencer, Tesco, Carrefour and Le Duff

We have moved into ambient food storage and distribunon,

while ar Manchester Airport we now provide security screemng
for all retaiiers both acuvities provide platforms for future growth
Qur Iberian Transport business has won several additronal
conrtracts 1n the textiles sector and the French busiess won a large
contract from arr condiniener manufacturer Daikin ' We have won
e commerce contracts with Superdrug, Urban Qutfitters,

Weight wawhels and Machays

Added value business included a new reverse logistucs contract
from Tesco and a contract from the world’s leading cash and carry
group to consolidace and distribute stock for its Makro stores 1n
the UK

People

In July 2006, Peter Cawdron and Dr Antome Edelman retired
from the board after more than eight years of disungwshed service
as non exerntive directore | waould hike ro thank bath of them for
their contribution through a period of considerable change
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£47.4m

Net earnings increased fourfoid to
£47 4m as we released capital from
existing assets to reduce gearing

These are challenging times for the business and our contnung
restructuring has made additional demands on people at all levels
Their response has been tremendous and I am grarteful to everyone
for their contribution to our progress

Health and safery 1s the first 1tem on the agenda at all board,
Executive Commuttee and business unit board meetngs 1 am
therefore particularly pleased that we have won a Gold Award
from the Royal Society for the Prevennon of Acadents, and
mdmvidual gold awards for tour of our UK sites

Sustamability and environment

It 15 also encouraging o sec continuing :mprovement in our
environmental impact Qur emphasis on shared user transport
networhs 1s an wherently carbon efficient approach to road
transport, and we continue to apply technology to increase our
efficiency We are also helping customers to improve their waste
management through our reverse logistics operations which
support reuse and recycling and have ehminated many mulions
of cardboard cartons from the supply chain altogether

Outlook

While market conditions are unlikely ro get any easter, our healthy
pipeline makes us confident of continuing revenue growth albeir at
a slower pace than in the past 12 months Margin improvement 1s
now the order of the day We expect to see some benefit from the
restructuring, but we will reman cautious about the overall margin
unul we have turned the corner with our Transport businesses,
especially in the UK

Dawvid Fish
Chamrman
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Operating review

Stewart Oades
Chuef Execntive

Strategv — rejuvenating the business

Although market conditions remain highly compentive, the broad
trends 1n the marketplace play to our strengths Road transport
m Europe 1s a growth business As manufacturing migrates to

the lower wage economies on Europe’s fringes, supply chaiwns are
lengthening and the number of road miles being driven 1s increasing

Our strength in shared user operations meets the growing
commercial demand for lower costs and the environmental
impetatve to unprove vehicle unlisation Qur strength m 1T gives
customers the visibility they require, so that they can track and
locate their goods at all nmes We are markening these strengths
wirh increasing success And we are now focusing our markering
effort more sharph on strong growth sectors with good margms
where we can apply these strengths to parncular advantage, for
example 1n non food retail

QOur overall aim 15 to create a pan European logistics services
provider based on a Transport busimess with strong shared user
transport networks 1n each country These will be seamlesslv linked
through class leading technology to create international capability
including global freight forwarding and supply chain management
Alongside the Transport business — and supported by 1ts resources
and know how — will be a Logistics business providing innovaave
solutions and reverse logistics including dedicated warehousing with
anallary dedicated vehicle fleets Together, these complementary
business streams will enable us to squeeze more from our assets
and creare more value for customers and shareholders ahke

The details of thus strategy and the way we ntend to dehver
1t are set out im a senies of pages runming throughout this report

Achieving our goals will require seme investment — 1n locaung
where our customers want us to be, in upgrading exisung depots
to meet the needs of new types of customer, and 1n achieving the
praductivity required to achieve acceprable margins Owr strategy
1o o e @sset hight whetever we can W will be careful mvestors,
muinimising our spending on assets and focusing on partnerships
to maxumise margins and rewarns

We continue to keep a close eve on Salvesen Foods and are
strengthemng our temperature controlled businesses o ensure
they are fit for purpose We also need to modermse our Transport
operations 1 the UK and will continue to support the planned
growth 1o our lbenan and French networks Our credibility with
both shareholders and international customers depends on having
a parttolio i which every tocal busingss 1s a strong and capable
player, and we have remvigorated our management teams across
the business to be properlv equipped
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We aim to create a pan European logistics

services provider based on a Transport

business with strong shared user networks

ard a Logistics business providing innovahve

solutions and support services including

dedicated operations These complementary !
business streams will enable us to squeeze

more from our assets

Operational review

Qur performance 10 the year made 1t clear thar we still have

some way to go We again delivered mixed results m which strong
performances bv some businesses — such as our Food and Consumer
businesses in the UK and {beria — were offset by weakness
elsewhere However, we feel all of our businesses are posittoned

to move forward

Food and Consumer sector

This sector includes our UK and Mainland European busmess

units, oW 1corporating our Support Services operations, and our

Salvesen Foods frozen vegerable business Overall revenue rose 11%

to £4>7 Om as the UK business maintamned its strong growth

For our total domestic business, operating profit before exceprional

irems was up bv 27% — burt a relanvely disappointing performance

on the continent, as we re establish this business, held back the

overall improvement to £14 4m, an ncrease of ¢ 1% |

UK Food and Conswuster

Year to 31 March 200, 006 Change
Revenue £2536m  £217 6m 17%
Operating profic £35 7m £108m  +£24 9m
Underlying operatung profitt  £10 4m £8 6m +£1 8m
Operaung margin® 41% 4 0% +0 1%
Year end capital employed £34 6m £53 0m £18 4m
Return on capital employed" 301% 16 2% +139%

betare exceptional wems

The UK business grew strongly 1n a good year for both dedicated
logistics and the shared user temperature controlled network
revenue grew 17% and operaung profit before exceptional 1tems
was up 21% Intense competition among retalers 1s increasing
customer interest n the cost advantages of shared user operanions
As the leading shared user prosvider we are deally placed to benefic
from this and the grow:h of retailers’ e commerce actuvities
Although the frozen logistics marker remamed difficulr, wath excess
storage capacity, and prices still depressed, this business unit made
further good progress

New business wins increased markedly, but were partially offset i
by some hmited contract losses The pipelme grew strongly over
the year, and includes a number of farge scale prospects



Rebuilding
shareholder
value

Our business 1s growing agatn The challenge now 15 to improve
shareholder value through better bottom hne returns

We're refocusing, to concentrate on sectors where our
strengths will create most value While margins in markets such
ar aytnmntiye and fand reman Aopmqrpdl wia ek lanls +n
consumer markets such as non food retail where our just in time,
flexible, highly wvisible delivery capabihities are prized

We're restructuring the business into two clear streams
Transport remains the heart of our business we are building
and integrating pan Eurcpean shared user networks that are
efficient, flextble and more environmentally sensitive Alongside
them, our Logistics businesses provide innovative solutions and
reverse logistics including dedicated warehousing and ancillary
dedicated vehicle fleets Together, these complementary business
streams will enable us to squeeze more from our assets and
create more value for customers

To ensure that they also create more value for shareholders,
we're selectively managing our investment spending We've
already shown that we can grow sales while reducing our

debt Our future will be asset light wherever possible Capital
expenditure will be more focused Where possible we will form
partnerships to reduce investment and improve returns




Delivering
efficient
transport
networks

Runring efficient shared user transport networks 1s one of

our core skills We have been horing our capabilities for many
years Qur strong IT capability has enabled us to develop a
unigue, highly systems driven approach that provides levels of
responstveness, flexibility and wisibility that customers normafly
associate only with dedicated services As a result, customers
have been able to make the switch from dedicated to shared
user confidently — and to make considerable savings as a result

We have extensive networks tn France, Spain and the UK All
are working well for customers Although we still have work to
do on profitability in the UK, our performance for customers 1s
not in doubt - as our recent Supplier of the Year award from
GM confirmed, our service 1s world class

Developing and extending our shared user transport capability
Is central to our strategy To meet our customers' requirements
across Europe we are aligning our existing networks through
our sector teams to ensure that they can work together
seamtessty — and we will continue extending our footpnnt
across the region to provide both in country distribution and
cross border supply chain solutions




QOperatung review continucd
f=]

Exisung customers rewarded our service and mnovauon with
further business, and both Marks 8¢ Spencer and Rockware
awarded us additional operating centres

We are successfully extending 1nto new markets for Manchester
Asrport Group we now security screen and distribute all producrs
for airport based retail outlets, and in e commerce we have won
new business from Superdrug, Wesghtwatchers, Urban Qutfitrers
and Mackavs Qur Holistica jount venture made a prestigious start
with the Marks & Spencer import management contract And we
have started 1o sell our UK shared user transport capabiliry into the
rerail sector with new contracts from Zara and Makro - for whom
we are handling all UK distribution

The remperature controlled bustness operated close 1o capacity 1n
the first half Poor hanests reduced capacity utilisation in the third
quarter, but business was recovering well in the final quarter and
we have continued to gain market share Productivity continues

to wnprove and we have, i the main, been able to pass encrgy cost
increases on to customers Service lesels remain high, supporting
good customer retention

Our Support Services operation continues to perform strongly,
offering reverse logistics solutions for the retail and industral
markers It specialises in optumising reverse supply chamns, and
managing loose equipment, return products and packaging waste
Its core competences clude applying tts engineering svstems and
process skills to support customers’ sustamable development
nifanves

Revenue was boosted by new business wins and the conunuing
rollout of major contracts with Asda and Tesco

Our network continues to grow, and we opened two new service
centres — one m Corby for Tesco flower buckets and mushroom
trays with annual throughput capacity of 30m trays, and an
environmentally friendly facility for Asda m Falkirk Other major
wins durmng the year included a new loose equipment contract
from Argos and a waste management contract for B&Q, which
includes recycling returned electrical goods, other products

and packaging
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To help Marks & Spencer save cost,

time and CO, emissions, we've developed
unique new double deck trailers At almost
A tall, they're the highest trallers ever buslt
for temperature controlled food transport
They carry significantly more roll cages

than conventional units, reducing the
number of delivenies required

We continue to refine our industry leading COMET and
BACTRACIT systems, and are seeking partners to help us eaplon
opportunties ansing from the new Waste Electrical and Electronic
Fquipment (WEEF) leg:slatron

The vear ahead looks promising The pipeline remains strong

but we are sull expersencing cost pressure n all sectors We will
continue to build on our strong relationships with major customers
and expect 1o make further headway with our strategy of targenng
the non food retail, e commerce, ambient storage/distribution and
avianon sectors In the frozen food sector we expect to contnue to
recover cost mncreases and expect to find further scope for inproving
profits as we conunue to enhance productsny

Salvesen Foods

Year to 31 March 007 006 Change
Revenue £44 6m £39 Im 14%
Operanng profiv/{loss) £0 7m {£0 2m) +£0 9m
Underlving operating

profit/{loss)* £0 3m {£0 2m) +£0 5m
Operating margm” 07% (0 5%) +12%
Year end capital employed £24 0m £20 Om +£4 Om
Return on capital employed* 13% {1 0%) +23%

*before exceptional items

Qur frozen vegetable business mcreased 1ts revenue by 14% and
reterned to profit despite low vields caused by the very wet spring
of 2006 We achieved price increases across our customer base,
although nsing raw material and unhty costs will remain a
challenge in the current year

We had an excelient year for new business, boosted by new
product development and mternanonal sourcing We won new
contracts frem Sainshury’s, Iceland and Brakes Foodservices,

and the new busimness pipeline ts very strong This year we plan

to contnue developing new vegerable and non vegerable products,
increasing our nrernanonal sourcing, deseloping new sources of
organic produce and ncreasing our sales to the new customers
won 1n 2006
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Opelanng review connnucd

Mamland Europe

Year to 21 Masch 00,4 7004 Change
Revenue £158 8m  £1542m 3%
Operating profit £2 4m £4 8m £2 4m
Underlying operatng profi* £37m £4 8m £11m
Operating margmn* 23% 31% 0 8%
Year end capital employed £28 5m £29 1m £0 6m
Return on caprtal employed® 130% 16 5% 32%

before excephional wems

Afrer modestly improving operating profic in the previous year,
our continental Furopean operations performed less well Despite
continued growth 1n lberia, overall revenue grew modestly and,
with performance weakening m Benelux and France, operaung
profit before excepnional rwems fell by over 20%

We have restructured our management team to target a customer
focused growth agenda and fix our problem operations Thev have
started well

In Benelux, good growth in the retail sector and encouraging

new business wins were offset by the loss of our major contract
with Laurus at the end of the year, after 1t decided to divest a large
number of 1ts shops in the Netherlands Revenue was flat and
operating profit was further impacted by productivicy problems,
although most of these were resolved under a new management
ream and performance improved 1n the last quarter Loss making
logistics contraces are being addressed and new customer
agreements have improved under performing transport contracts
Major contracts with Carrefour, Delhaize and Spar were renewed
1 Belglum We see significant market opportunities 1n the coming
yeat, particularly once our SHARP transport management system
s fully operational at the end of the first half Key customers are
showing interest 1n buving addinional services and extending our
geographic coverage

In France, growth i both the frozen and chilled feod sectors was
weak, although the catering sector maintarned reasonable growth
Agamst this background we achieved modest revenue growth

We renewed important contracts with Aldi, Lidl and Masterfoods —
and strengthened our relationship with two major restaurant chains
Productvity should umprove this year with new management teams
at Duppighenn and Langon and uew voice puking technolegy n
several warehouses In reverse logisnics, we developed a new
packagmng solution for Carrefour’s non food business
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In Belgium we have signed an agreement
with Spar to support its continuing expansion
We currently service over 300 Spar
cunermarkets in Belgium, providing sterage,
order picking and distnibution of frozen food
products to indvidual outiets through our
capillary distnbution network that services
nearly 9,000 points of delivery in Belgium
and Luxembourg

In lhena the chilled market continued to expand at around 8%,
but margins 1n general were under pressure Qur market leading
joint venture with Danone mcreased revenue in hine with the market
and increased operating profit Significant new busimess wins
meluded contracts from Carrefour to manage a multi temperature
regional distnbution centre m Seville and provide additional transport
serviges in the Madrid area We are also successfully penetrating
the fruit and vegetable market to enhance asset utilisation and
create profitable synergies This year we aun to consolidate our
position as one of the top two players in the Iberian marker

Transport sector

This sector comprises business units 1n the UK, Ibena and France
Onerall revenue grew by 8% to £447? Om, led by a strong
performance in France But as margins weakened 1n all unss and
UK losses mounted sharply, operating profit before exceptional
iems more than halved from £7 5m to £3 7m

Across the sector, recent price mcreases have posioned the
business for a stronger performance this vear Addressing the UK
business remams our biggest single prionty

UK

\ear to 51 March 2007 2005 Change
Revenue £166 6m  £1556m 7%
Operating profit/{loss) £4 >m (£1 7m) +£6 2m
Underlying operating loss* {£4 61m) (£1 7m} £29m
Operanng margin® {2 8%) 111%) 17%
Year end capital employed £30 0m £38 4m £8 4m
Return on capital emploved® {135 3%) (4 4%) 10 9%

before excepnional nems

Our UK Transport business faced sigmficant competiion from
pallet nerworks and ongomng price pressure from our mndustrial
customer base Performance was very disappomnting and we are
taking decisive action to address the situanon A new maragement
ream has been nstalled and we are pursuing improvements across
our existing operations

We remain focused on developing a lower operating cost structure
and will work with external partners 1o take advantage of any
opportuntty for efficiencies together with a modernisation of our
working practices and facilines A stenng UK rransport husiness 1s
essental to our clear commitment to a pan European shared user
ransport strategv
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speciail
industry
platforms

Creating
St

As part of our Logistics business we want to build shared user
platforms geared precisely to the needs of specific sectors

We pioneered this in thena when we enabled Danone to
transform a non core cost activity into a revenue generator
Wea topk Darone's dedienten Aeluery gperstinn and tured it
into a highly efficient shared user joint venture network it has
become the market leader in chilled logistics, continues to win
new business from customers such as Carrefour and 1s now
expanding into fruit and vegetables

More recently, we've created a new platform for the UK tyre
industry Our partnership with Goodyear Dunlop has created
Tyrefort, the UK's principal tyre distnbution centre with capacty
for a million tyres, at the heart nf a chared user petwork The
system made sense to Continental Tyre Group and others who
have already opted to share the benefits by using Tyrefort

The economic case for ventures like these i1s a powerful one,
and we are receving a growing number of enquinies from
potential partners in a variety of countries and sectors



Innovating
in supply chain
solutions

Manufacturers used to produce goods and deliver them to
warehouses, which held them until needed Now 'make and
store’ has given way to just in time 'make and deliver on
demand And the factory 1s no longer down the road more
often, it's in another country or on another continent

Responsive supply chains need responsive logistics For some
of our customers, such as Marks & Spencer, that means value
added solutrons using dedicated facihities where we provide

a complete pick and pack service But for others we are now
applying techniques we developed for the automotive sector
to combine just in time responsiveness with the low fixed costs
that come from shared user operation — as we are doing for
Makro in the UK and Inditex in the UK and Spain

To address lengthening supply chains we are extending
aur European reach And we are already offering access
to an integrated global freight forwarding service through
our Holistica yoint venture, for customers sourcing goods
in lower cost regions such as Asia

Longer range sourcing 1s changing the focal points 1n our

customers’ supply chains for many, the port (or arport) of entry

15 beginning to look like the logical place to break bulk for

distnbution We pioneered this trend with our award winnming

Perishables Handling Centre at Heathrow, where we sort, pack,

tabel and price food and flowers from all over the world for i
rapid UK distnbution We've been building our presence at I
Manchester Airport, and in the future we expect to provide

port based logistics across Europe



Operating review contmucd

Revenues increased due to the launch of the national tyre
distribution contracts for Goodyear Dunlep and Conunental Tyre
Group and some success with rate reviews However, the unplanned
start up costs contributed sigmficantly to the overall increase m
losses It was a frustrating start for what has proved to be a very
exciung new development The efficiency and cost benefits of
sharing a single logisucs platform dedicated to their secror are

so compelling that rivals Goodvear Dunlop and Continental are
happy for us te manage their logistics on a confidenual basis for
the benefit of both

Our ability ro dehiver dedicated service standards from shared
user aperavions has also wnpressed cash and carrv operator Makro
~ see case study top night We expect this 1o be the first of many
new contracts of tlus nature as we mugrate from an mdustnal to

a consumer nerworh and reinvest in new facilines appropnate for
this strategy

Other new business wins mcluded contracts from Agfa, Marngold,
Remplov and Baumatic We also grew our business with existing
customers such as Daikin, where we now provide speciahist service
deliveries to their support engineers, and Caravel On an
annuahsed basis, business wins were well ahead of conrract losses,
but compared with 2 very good performance in the previous year
wins were down and losses increased The new business pipeline
also weakened over the year

We are conunumng the work on productuvity and overhead
efficiency We will also mamntain cur focus on new sectors including
the building, packaging, healthcare, high tech and non food reta:l
sectors that will, over time, provide a more balanced portfolio

‘The future approach to the business 1s under review as we consider
how best to respond to the market challenges and implement the
UK part of our wader Group strategy

Metro, the world's largest cash and carry
group, 1s investing heavily in its fast growing
UK arm, Makro — which has appointed us

to undertake it logichice cperaticn This
Iinks some 300 non food suppliers with

33 out of town superstores and includes
inbound, warehousing, full load collection,
deconsolidation, reconsolidation and fuli
load store delvery

We have achieved marker leadership positions in almost all our

kev business areas, and built a strong reputation thar 1s attracting

high quality people and customers Major new business wins

during the vear mcluded Total lubricants, Ford after sales and !
stgmftcant expansion m the teatile secror, and there were no major

contract losses While full load volumes stayed flat, our shared user

network mamntained 1s rapid growth, with overall volumes up

33% and the might dehvery network growing even faster Logistics

volumes grew 8%

Given this good progress, the near halving of operatng profir

before excepnional 1rems was disappointing Qur rapid volume

growth has required substannal infrastructure investment as we

grow the network and upgrade facilities and, during the vear,

we opened new facihines in Madrid, Valencia, Porto, Alicante and

Irun Further facihries are planned for Madrnd, Girona, Tarragona,

Seville and Santiago We also faced continuing cost mcreases due 1o .
a shortage of subcontractors, these proved difficult to pass on during |
much of the year, but as transport supply and demand has become

more balanced we have seen 1improving prices i recent months

Despite continuing nvestment this vear we are optumstic that

margms and profits will improve as we curb operating costs

and maintan strong volume growth i the shared user network '
and warehousing

France

Year to 31 March 2007 2008 Change

Revenue £1457m  £1310m 11%

Operating profit £6 4m £5 7m +£0 7m

Operating margin 4 4% 4 4% - i
Year end capital employed® £8 9m £15 6m £6 7m

Return on capital emploved® 71 9% 365% +35 4%

Iberta

Year to 31 March 2007 2006 Change
Revenue £1297m  £121 8m 6%
Operanng profit £09m £3 5m £2 6m
Underlving operaung profit” £1 9m £3 5m £1 6m
Operaung margin* 15% 29% 14%
Year end capital employed®  £11 4m £12 8m £1 4m
Return on capital employed** 16 7% 27 3% 10 6%

rbefore exceprional 1rems

*excluding goodwill
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*excluding goodwill

Darfeuille remams one of the most successful transport companies
i the French marker We aimn to mamtain our strong market
posinien through conrinuing imvestment 1n our nerwork
infrastructure and further productivity gains to offer customers
high quality at a competinive price

We maintamned strong growth across a broad range of sectors

New business wins included Ford and Visteon auto parts, Del Monte
canned goods, PV( Zibro air condinioning and heating, Poujoulat
chimney products, Yves Samnt Laurens packaging, Morend garden
products, Alhbert tailets, Schneider electrical parts and MDP pamt
There were no sigmificant contract losses
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Operaung review conumnued

The reported profit growth reflects a £1 2m refund of VAT on
road tolls from prior years, with underlying growth constraimned
by the need for substantial investment in facilities to handle the
contnuing mcrease m velumes During the vear we relocared

the Bourges and Aulnay (Pars North) depots to larger cross dock
facihmes, and Nancy followed in earlv 2007 The relocauon of
the Bordeaus depot and the Roye depot extension are neanng
complenion IT enhancemenss were alse completed at several
warchouses, and we acquired over 100 new vehicles

Over the next two years we expect to extend our services into
the adjacent markets of Belgium and Iralv, and to establish even
stronger links into the UK and Spamn

Prices were under pressure during the past vear, but we have
already agreed mcreases for this vear We are also now focusmg
on wnproving margins and have already seen signs that thus strategy
will improve the overall financial performance this year

People

One of the factors that consistently differentiate Christian Salvesen
16 the quality of our service We recogruse that we are essentially
a service business, and that we depend on hugh quality people,
commumnicanions and relationships to deliver a compentive service

We have ser ourselves demanding strategic goals, and one reason
we can do this with confidence 1s the calibre of people we have
been attractng into the management of the business In the past
year we have made a succession of appointments that indicate the
wav we see the future and will guide the successful implementation
of our strategy

During the year we made a number of importans senior
appointments for both business unit and central roles In addition
10 new managing directors for our UK Transport and conunental
Food and Consumer businesses, we also recruired a Corporate
Development Director Chief Information Officer and Head

of Talent

Leadership and communication are the heys 1o providing good
service Our One Team project 15 focused on rejuvenating the
leadership capabilities of the entire line management team, from
supervisors through to sice managers Launched i 2004, it aims
to improve productivity and customer service levels by engaging
all our employees
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In 10 years our Support Services business has
saved over 130,000 trees and 180m gallons
of water used in card production How?

By recycling waste cardboard packagng

for customers, and replacing cartons with
reusable plastic trays We also manage
returned products and equipment for our
customers — ranging from recycling 900,000
disposable cameras to repainng or recyciing
10,000 merchandising units each year

We want to be recognised as an employer of choice with a strong
service and quality culture, achieving high levels of productiviry
through fair treatment of all colleagues It will be particularly
important to be able to communicate and share this culture where
we are extending our reach through partnerships and strategic
alhances, and addressing any under performing operanions

We are making progress towards this goal Colleague briefings have
been remntroduced, we use Listening Groups ro promote dialegue,
and we are displaving KPI performance on standard format boards
to mcrease the focus on productnity To idenufv areas of concern
at company and local level we are using cmployee surveys,
followed up with an improvement action plan at each depot

We are proud to have been hsted as one of Britain's Top Employers
2007 by the Corporate Research Foundation In tts analysss,
Chnstian Salvesen appears as a sohd all round performer across

a wide range of scoring categories For further mformation,

see the www researchfoundation com website

Health and safety

We are strongly comnutted to bemng a safe and responsible

business Concern for the wellbeing of our staff 15 a key element

n our drive to be the emplover of choice 1n our sector — parncularly
for HGV dnivers, who remain in short supply To reflect the
importance we attach to health and safery, we have made 1t the
first item on the agenda at all board, Executive Commuttee and
business unir board meetings

For the first ime we have enrered the annual award scheme run

in the UK by the Roval Society for the Prevennion of Acaidents
{RoSPA) 1am delighted to report that we won one of 1ts prestigious
Gold Health and Safety Awards In addition, four sites were also
chosen for mndividual gold awards the Bracknell temperature
controlled depot. the British Awrways World Cargo Centre at
Heathrow, and our Support Services sites at Skelmersdale (Asda)
aind Middicton {Teseu)
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Growing our
continental
European
business

The boundanes that shaped Europe are widening Businesses
are trading more freely outside their own national markets - and
increasingly, they are themsetves international The expanding
EU 15 creating more natural trading lanes across an ever larger
nurmber of markets So transportation 15 a growth market The
new patterns of commerce are exposing the weaknesses ot other
transport modes we believe the future lies with efficient and
flexible shared user road transport networks We will adopt
other modes where we can justify doing so

We need to be where our customers want us to be That means
completing the pan European integrated network that we've
begun to build It also means reaching out to the lower wage
economies around Europe, to where so much manufactunng
investment 1s gravitating Central and Eastern Europe, Turkey,
Bulgaria, Romarnia

This wall involve some investment, but our strategy ts to be
asset hght The emphasis will be on partnerships — like the one
we recently announced with Ulustrans i Turkey — strategic
alliances and leased or subcontracied assets

Our strength in systems will be the key to bullding strong
national businesses that can be linked to create international
capability Progressively, we will extend our network, improve
our pan European service offering, grow the business into new
sectors and markets, and create opportunities to drive greater
volumes through our existing assets



Helping
to reduce
environmental

Impac

S

Lengtheming supply chains and spiralling road miles make
transportation a growth business But we recognise the impact
on the environment We also recognise that more and more

of our customers want to be seen to be reducing their carbon
footprints Our environmental credentials make us a natural
partner in this, and we are working with consuitants and leading
academics to ensure that Christian Salvesen remains a benchmark
for responsible road transport We will enable our customers

to manage and measure their impact on the environment

The heart of our approach 1s a determination to make fullest
possible use of every vehicte mile Shared user operations are
key, bringing multiple customers together to maximise vehicle
utihsation Shared user accounts for some 95% of our business
on the European mainland and about half in the UK Even

tn our dedicated operations we've been increasing vehicle
utilsation — as we've done for Marks & Spencer, by designing
unigue double deck trallers that sharply reduce the number

of vehicle miles we need to drive

Our Support Services business has made an important
contnibution with 1ts pioneering work in reverse logistics and
management of reusable transit packaging Since it began 10
years ago, it's recovered and recycled over 2 5m tonnes of
cardboard and plastic packaging Even better, it has enabled
our customers to avoid using over 2bn cardboard cartons

in the first place




Operanng review contnued

Environmental impact

We take our environmental responsibilines very seriously Asa
road transport busiriess we meet a mamfest social need bur recogrnse
a corresponding social responsibility to moderate the associated
environmental impacts We also beheve 1t makes commercial sense
1o do s0 our customers increasingly wish to mimmise their own
emvironmental 1mpacts and attach value to our conscientious and
innovatve approach Our aim 1s to achieve a balance that benefits
both the environment and our shareholders

We review our ensironmental performance conunuously, seek out
best practices and technologies, and share them with our customers

Qur principal envirommental impact 1s our carbon footprint

The trend to longer supply chains and increased road mules unposcs
constant upward pressure an carbon EImissi1aIls B\ mproying aur
carbon efficiency we help to offset this trend and reduce both our
own and our customers” carbon footprints

Qur UK Transport business has ordered

30 speciallv designed aerodynamic supercube
trarlers Compared with convennonal tratlers
each one will save an esumated 26 tonnes

of CO; emissions a year They’li be entering
service — with this label - from June onwards

L he most mefficient vehicle of all 1s an empty

one we are helping 10 reduce empty runmng

through the development of velucle

optimusation software Shared user operations

are mnherently carbon efficient as they increase

vehicle unhsation We have long been leading proponents of
shared user operanons, which account for a sigmificant propornon
of our business We further increase our efficiency by applying
technology — from better route planming sofrware to more
economical vehicles and engines We can also eluninate road miles
thuvugh bettar tialer desigle — as we did last year wath the double
deck remperature controlled trailers we designed for Marks &
Spencer Over the longer term, we believe our strategy of creanng
new distribution centres at porrs and airporrs will also help to
reduce empty vehicle miles
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Our Support Services sites are themselves
Increasingly green New controls and lower
water temperatures have made our traywash
machmes more erergy efficent On new
build sites including Peterborough, Falkirk
and Livingston we are installing rainwater
harvesting to reduce consumption of mains
water And at Livingston we will also recycle
heat from waste water to warm incoming
wash water

All our new vehicles meet the Euro 4 srandard, and 1n selectung our
preferred vehicle suppliers we take account of their manufacturing
processes We have developed fuel management and consumption
momtoring which focuses on both vehicle and driver and are moting
re automatic transmussions to gam better economy As a result, we
are mahing measurable progress on fuel efficiency

We are also conducting extensive trials on alternanve fuels such as
bio dicsel, compressed natural gas and hquefied natural gas These
include a joint project with the Royal Mail in which we are sharing
bio fuel tnal data

Reducing our carbon footprint 15 a journey and education will play
an important part in improving our performance We have retained
external advisers o improve our knowledge and give us leading
acaderc advice on environmental best pracuce n our fleer and
sites By developing sector leading technical competencies we can,
n turn, adivise our customers on best practice For example, we
have teamed up with a speaalist software consultancy to provide
customers with systems for measuring their carbon foorprines

Our reverse logistics business makes a major commbutnion 1o
customers’ own environmental and waste reduction programmes
by providing reusable transit packaging and associated reverse
logistics services In its 10 year life it has enabled customers to
recover and recycle over 2 5m tonnes of cardboard and plasec
packaging And 1ts reusable trays have elimmated over 2bn
cardboard cartons from the supply chawn alrogether

We now publish separate reports on both our health and safety
performance and environmental impacts The reperts for last vear
will be published on our website at www salvesen com shortly

Stewart Oades
Chief Executive



Financial review

Juhan Sreadman
Growp Finance Dnector

¢ Revenue up 10% to £899 Om

* Underlying earnings*
- profit before tax down 19% to £12 5m
— earnings per share up 8% to 4 49p

¢ Reported earnings
— profit before tax on continuing operations
up 183% to £44 1m
- profit after tax up 302% to £47 4m
- earnings per share up 301% to 17 90p

» Return on capital employed 11 9%
* Free cash flow £61 2m
» Net debt at year end £39 4m

*before exceptional items

Chnstian § wsesen PLC Annual Report 2007

Group overview

The results of the individual business units are described n detail
on pages 4 to 15 The Group’s market 1s the provision of third
party contract logistics in kurope The market 15 large and growth
estumazes range between 5% and 10% per annum No one company
serves more than 15% of the roral market

The Group 15 organused primanly by sector and secondanly

by geography The individual businesscs ate encouraged to be
entrepreneurtal within their own countnes, to co operate with their
sector colleagues for key account management and to share 1deas
and best practice

Approximately two thirds of Group revenue 1s covered by contracts,
with the average term appreoaching three years No one customer
represents more than 7% of Group revenue

Ihe customer base 15 diverse and trades in many different sectors
the two largest sectors are food retal with 43% of Group revenue
and automortiie with 16% of Group revenue

The Group's dedicated conrracts represent around 30% of revenue
and these services are mainly provided by assers that are either
owned or underwntten by a particular customer The remaming
70% of the business 15 shared user, with manv different customers
sharing assets that are funded independentlv by the Group

Key performance indicators

At Group level, the focus 1s on revenue growth, operatng profit
margin, earmngs per share, free cash flow and rerurn on capiral
employed These are all discussed 1n detail in this review In addition,
the mdividual businesses focus on economic profit, which 1s defined
as operating profit before exceptional items less a notional charge
for the capital emploved

Revenue
Group revenue increased by 10% to £899 Om (2006 £819 3m),

with wimal unpact from Jhanges e euro exchange tae

Food and Consumer revenue increased by 11%, Transport revenue
mcreased by 8%
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Operaung profit

Underlving operatng profit (before exceptional items) decreased by
£2 ém to £18 1m and resulted 1n a reduction s an overall operatg
margin from 2 3% to ? 0% The impact of the euro exchange rate
had mimmal effect on operanng profit

Food and Consumer underlying operatung profit increased by
£1 2m to £14 4m, primanly due to improved performance n our
UK businesses offset by weaher performance in continental Furope

Transport underlying operaung profit decreased by £3 8m to £3 7m
due to weaker performance in the UK and Iberian businesses
outwerghing the improvement in France

Exceptional items

Exceptional items had a positive impact on pre tax profirs of

£31 6m compared o £0 2m in the prior vear In addiuon a £2 Om
provision has been established for potential habilites relating o

a business sold 1 an earlier year, reducing the overall positive
impact to £29 6m

The current year included a gamn of £26 Om from the sale and
leaseback of some UK properties and a gamn of £14 7m from changes
in the UK pension plan offset bv £6 3m of charges for the continuing
restructuring programme and £? 8m relared to lease costs for two
underutihised UK properties The restructuring charges are expected
to deliver annualised savings of approvimately £2m n the future

The prior vear costs related to the gain on disposal of a UK property
and restructuring charges

Interest costs

The nert interest charge increased by £0 3m to £3 6m (2006 £5 3m),
with higher interest rates ourweighing the benefit of lower average
debt levels during the second half of the year The interest charge
1s covered 3 2 times by operaring profir before exceptional 1rems
(2006 3 9 times)

Profit before tax

Profit before tax and exceptional items (“underlying profit

before tax™) decreased by £2 9m to £12 Sm  After taking account
of the exceptional tems, reported profit before tax on connnuing
operations mcreased by £28 Sm to £44 1m
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Taxation

For the year, there 1s an overall tax credit of £5 3m (2006 £3 8m

charge) The exceptional profit on the sale of UK property did not

give rise to a tax charge due ro the availability of prior year capial

losses, and the retention of future capital allowances resulted 1n

a net credit The exceptional gan for past service cost in the UK .
pension scheme was a non taxable item The effective tax rate

on underlving profits of 3% (2006 29%) reflects the impact of
favourable settlements with various tax authoriues relating to earler
years We expect the effectuve tax rate for future vears to reflect the
mix of UK and overseas earnings and to increase over time

Earnings per share

Basic earnungs per share increased by 301% from 4 46p to 17 90p
based on 264 8m shares (2006 264 7m shares) Earnings per
share, before exceptional items {“underlying earmings per share *)
mcreased by 8% from 4 16p to 4 49p

Dividend

The board has recommended a final dividend of ? 45p per share
This brings the total for the year to 3 63p per share, unchanged
from the previous year The dividend 1s covered 4 9 times by net
earnungs (2006 1 2 nmes) and 1 2 nmes by earnings before
exceptional items (“underlying earnings”) {2006 1 1 times)

Cash flow

Free cash flow, defined as net cash generated from operating
activities plus cash generated from investing activinies, was £50 2m
higher than the previous year at £61 ?m (2006 £11 Om), and 15
boosted bv the £52 2m from asset sales (2006 £7 1m) Cash

spent on capital expenditure of £16 Tm was £2 3m lower than

the previous year (20806 £18 4m) The majority of the capital was
for replacement of existmg assets with a small amount supporting
new contracts There were no sigruficant mndiideal projects

Cash ourflow from working capital was £3 5m (2006 £4 im)

The year «nd working capital position of £5 6m s quute small and,
for most of the year, 1s considerably hugher than at the year end
The £3 Sm increase reflects the growth in revenue

The cash cost of dividends paid during the vear was unchanged
ar £9 6m

Return on capital employed

Return on capital employed 1s caleulated by dividing underlying
operating profit by the average ner assets during the year Net assets
exclude net debr, goodwnll, pension defirit and tay prowisions

The rerurn for the year was 11 9% (2006 11 8%} Average net
assets during the year were £152 2m (2006 £176 Om) ,
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Financial teview continued

Balance sheet

Group net assets mcreased by £46 3m, with the major changes
being a £29 Sm decrease i tangible fixed assets, a £54 9m
decrease 1n ner debt and £25 4m decrease in net pension habiites
We stil] hold freehold property worth sigmficantly more than irs
net book value of £43 Om

Pensions

The Group's main defined benefit scheme 1in the UK 15 closed 1o
new employees During the vear, the trustees agreed to reductions
in the benefits provided by the scheme and the companv agreed to
mamram 1ts cash contributions The total charge against operating
profit, before exceptional 1rtems, for the UK defined benefit scheme
reduced by £1 1m to £3 5m {2006 £6 ém), primanlv due to a lower
net interest cost In addition, carnmgs for the year were improved
by a £14 7m excepuional gam related to the benefit cost from past
service as a result of the changes made 1o the scheme

The year end deficit decreased by £23 7m 1o £4% 2m (7006

£72 9m) on a pre tax basis, with the major reductions coming
from the £14 /m exceptional gain related to past service and

£13 3m from the actuarial assumptions relared to future habilimes
Offsetting these was a £6 Sm increase due to actual investment
returns n the year being less than the assumed returns During the
yeat, the trustees mamtamed an asset allocatton with around 80%
mvested in equines

A discount rare of > 4% has been used to compute the net
present value of habihities (2006 5 05%) The scheme acruary
has cakculated that a discount rate of 6 2% would eliminate
the £4% ?m pre tax deficit

At the year end, there was a deferred tax asset of £14 8m (2006
£13 tm) related to the defiet After including this, the after tax
deficit decreased by £25 4m to £34 4m (2006 £39 8m)

Durnng the vear the Group contributed £7 7m 1n cash, equnalent
to 18% of pensionable payroll

Funding and caputal structure

At the year end, net debt was £3% 4m {2006 £94 3m) and
represented gearing of 39% (2006 175%) Excluding the pension
deficit and the related deferred tax asset, vear end gearing stood ar
29% {2006 83%) Net debt included £70 5m of euro denom:nated
debt (2006 £116 7m}, with the change m the year end exchange
rates reducing net debt by £3 3m

1reasury policies

The financial risks anising from changes 1n currency and nrerest
rates are managed centrally by the Group treasury department
with policies that are approved and monztored by the board
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Foreign currency risk

The Group 15 exposed to fluctuations in the value of the euro
Overseas trading results have been translated nsing a euro exchange
rate of 1 48 (2006 1 46) The Group s policy 1s to hedge euro
denomunated profits

Overseas balance sheets and foreign currency debt have been
transiated using a year end euro exchange rare of 1 47 (7006 1 43)
with the impact of the change 1in eachange rates being charged
directly to reserves The Group’s policy 15 to use euro denominared
debr as a natural hedge against the translation of euro denominated
assets At the vear end the value of unhedged net assets was
covered by forward exchange contracts

Liquidity and interest rates

The Group has a svndicated banking faciliev rotalling £130m,
which expires i September 2008 The mterest payable on this
facility 15 at floanng rates The board believes thar this faality 1s
adequate 10 finance the working capital demands of the Group

Accounnng standards and policies

The Group's accounting policies are set out on pages 39 1o 43
During the year a number of new Standards and Interprerations
were adopted by the Group The adopuon of IFRIC 4
‘Determuning whether an arrangement contams a lease” has led ro
a reclassification of certain plant and equipment into finance lease
recervables Revenue and cost of sales are also affected marginally
followmng the adoprion of the mterpretanon although earmings and
net assets were unaffected Prior year comparatives have been
restated accordingly

Share price

The closing m:d market price at the year end was 58 75p (2006
63 25p) During the vear, the price range was from 58 Op to 78 Op
per share

Julian Steadman
Group Fnance Director
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Summarv income statement

Summary cash flow

2006 2006

2007 {restated} 2007 {restared)

Year to »1 March £m fm Year o 31 March im £m

Revenue 8990 8193 EBITDA 398 44 0

Operatng protit before exceptional 1tems 181 207 Working capital (35) {4 5)

Exceptional items {including discontunued} 296 07 Interest and taxation paid (50) {12 9)

Interest (56) (3 3) Fxceptional costs and other (62) 43

Iaxauon 53 (38) Fixed asset receipts 322 71

Profit for the vear 47 4 118 Capital expenditure (16 1} (18 4)

Free cash flow 612 1190

Summary balance sheet Acquisinons and disposals {0 1)

90, (,egff,‘;ﬁ) Dividends (98) (96)

As e 31 Maceh f m Net cash flow 2la 13

Intang:ble fixed assers 750 76 Foreign cxchange 33 201

Tangible fixed assets and 1nvestments 1109 140 4 Decreasel(merease] im met debr 7Y 5
Working capial 56 26
Other wems (90) 16
Tax (16) 04
Net debt {39 4) (94 3)
Deferred tax {6 9} (13 9)
Pension habilities {net)* (34 4) (59 8)
Toral net assets 1002 539

* et of related deferred tax asser

Chastian Salvesen PLC Anaual Repart 2007
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Board of directors

Dr Dawd J Fish *#§

Chairman from October 2003 and a non execuuve director

from Qctober 2002 Chairman of the Nominaton Commuittee
Dawvid was a member of the Mars Inc Operaung Board from 1994
until 2001 and Jomt President of Masterfoods Europe Previous
posimons with Mars include President of Snackfoods Europe and
European Vice President roles in Marketing, Country Management
and Personnel He 15 Executive Chairman of United Biscuits Group
and a non execuuve director of Royal Mail Holdings Ple Age 59

Stewart Qades 1

Group Chief Executive Officer from Mav 2005 Stewart was

a member of the Exel plc Fxecutve Board untl Qcrober 2004

As Chief Execunve of Contract Logistics for the UK and Ireland,
tus responsibility at Exel covered retail, consumer and industrial
logistics in Europe, the Middle Last and Africa, and the retail
sector worldwide Other previous roles include Managing Direcror
of Christian Salvesen’s food logistics operations from 1993 to 1996
and semor positions at Heron Distibunon and Safeway Stewart 15
a non execunve director of GS1 UK Limuted, a not for profir
orgamsation which promotes the efficient use of electroruc and
communcation standards i the supply chain and a director

of the Freight Transport Association Age >4

Julian A Steadman FCCA

Group hinance Director trom November 2003 Juhan was Group
Finance Director at Biocompatibles International ple from 1997
until May 2001 and Eyecare Products PLC from 1995 to 1997
Previous roles were with The Clorox Company in the USA and
with Procter & Gamble in Europe Age 53

Company Secretary
Edward H D Peppranc

*  Member of the Remuneration Committee

T Member of the Audit Commuttee

# Member of the Nomunation Commuttee

T Member of the Charity and Communty Affairs Commirtee
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Lawrence R Christensen CBE DCL FILT FIMS *T#

Non execunive director from Julv 2004, chairman of the
Remuneration Commuttee and Semior Independent Director
Previouslv Group Operanons Director of Safeway plc with
responsibility for the supply cham, logistics and retail operations
Jomed the board of Safeway in 1987 and held a vanety of posts
connected with the supply chain More recently Lawrence has
been a member of the operanng board of ) Samsburv, where he
was Supply Chain Director unul April 2006 After a short period
n an advisary role, he was asked to become Managing Director of
Sainsbury’s Convemence Retail business, which he continues to do
He was awarded a CBE 1 1999 for services 1o the freight transport
and logistics industries President of the Freight Transport
Associanion for four years and a director for 13 years Age 63

Alain Poinssot * T#

Non executive director from September 2005 A French citizen,
Alain 15 a consultant with AXEP Consulung, which specialises

11 the transport and logistics aspects of major European projects
He was Chairman and Chief Executive of Geodss SA for four vears
unul 2001, having previously held a number of posinons within
SNCF He 15 a non executive director of the French GeoPost parcels
group, the French transport group MALHERBE and Societe
Chenfienne des Engrais et Produits Chaimiques SA, a Moroccan
company that manufactures and distribures chemicals and
fernlisers Age 61

Mark Morns FCA *H#

Non execunive director from Aprl 2006 and chairman of the
Audir Commurtee Mark was Managing Director of the Sytner
Group, a wholly owned subsidiary of United Auto Group, from
2003 to 2003, having previously been Finance Director of Sytner
Group PLC Previously with PricewaterhouseCoopers, where he
held vanious positions in corporate finance and andit Mark 15 also
a non executive director of LSL Property Services PLC Age 47
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Corporate governance

Introduction

The company 15 committed to high standards of corporate governance and supports the principles laid down 1 the 2003 Revised
Combmed Code on Corporate Governance (the “Code”) appended to the Financial Services Authonity Listing Rules Thas statement
describes how the principles identified in the Code are applied and reports on the company’s compliance with the Code’s provisions

Complance

Apart from the matters detailed below, the company has complied throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2007 with all the
provisions set out in the Code rurthermore, the company has decided to accelerate comphance with and take early advantage ot the
relaxanions mn the revised Code 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 for repornng years starung on or after 1 November
2006 Accordingly, Mr D ] Fish was re appointed a member of the Remunerat:on Commutree on T March 2007 having been considered
independent on his appointment as Chairman As a matter of best practice the company was alreadv comphant with the other provisions
mtroduced into the Code, having alreadv introduced last year a ‘vote withheld” option on proxy forms, to enable shareholders to indicate
if they have reservations on a resolution but do not wish to vote against, and having published for some years now on 1ts website

www salvesen com the details of proxies lodged at general meetings and whether votes are taken on 2 show of hands or on 2 poll

Although ennitled to do so, the company has opted not to rake advantage of the exempnions 1n the Code relieving smaller companies
from some of 1ts provisions

Board balance and independence

Az the beginming of the vear, the board consisted of two executive directors, four non execunive directors and the non executive
Chatrman, Mr DD ] Fish The appomntment of Mr M Morns as a non executive director on 12 Apiil 2006 broughe the toral numba

of non executne directors (including the Chairman) to six The renrement of Mr A Edelman and Mr P E B Cawdron at the last annual
general meenng (AGM) on 13 July 2006 reduced the number to four Both directors retired prior to completing mine years of service,
the board having had regard to the provisions i the Code relating to length of service Mr L R Christensen CBE was nominated by
the board as the senior independent direcror with effect from Mr Cawdron s returement The brographical details of all of the current
directors are set out on page 20 and demonstrate a diversity of backgrounds, skills and experience which the board considers necessary
to lead the company The non executive directors other than the Chairman are constdered by the board to be independent 1n character
and judgement, and more than half the board, excluding the Chairman, 1s therefore made up of non executive directors derermmed

bv the board ta be independent

Board effecuveness

I he board met on eleven scheduled occasions throughout the year and otherwise as necessarv ro consider urgent matters During a busy
vear the Remuneranon Committee mer on six occastons and the Audit Commuttee on five The Nominanon Committee met on a number
of occasions as necessary

The board sets the strategic aims and objectives of the company, ensuning that the company has sufficient financial and human resources
to meet its objectives The board sets the company’s values and standards and ensures thar its obligations to 1ts shareholders and others
are understood and met kxecutive management ts responsible for the application of the aims and objectives of the companv on a day to
day basis, momtoring the financial achievements of the business The board reviews the performance of managerment iz meeting agreed
objectives and goals, plans the succession of key executives and derermines appropriate remuneration levels

At least one board meeting 1s wholly devoted 1o strategy and to the development of a plan for the long term growth of the company
This 1s reviewed and discussed as appropriate at the other board meetings held during the year

In addition to the normal agenda ar board meetings, which s described below, the directors receive a number of presentanions from
managemenrt throughout the year on marters of special interest such as health, safety and environmental marrers (which forms the firste
iem on every board agenda), human resources updates and mformanon technology and buswmess development projects The board also
regularly invites the heads of the business units to attend board meetings to give updates on operatienal matters, strategic projects and
other major minatives

Board meeting agenda

The board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to 1t for decision, such as future straregy, acquisittons and disposals,
capital projects over a defined himut, trading and capiral budgets, Group borrowing facilities, health and safety and significant changes
to employee benefits The schedule of matters reserved was reviewed and updated by the board n February 2006 The board considers
monthly reports from key semor executives and munutes of board meetings are circulated to all board members

Board responsibilines

The board acknowledges the division of responsibilities for running the board and managing the companv’s business A clear statement
of the respective roles and responsibilizies of the non executive Chairman and the Chief Executive was adoepted by the board in 2004 and
a summary of this statement 1s available on the company’s website The board has delegated a degree of authonty to the Chief Executive
and Group Finance Director for them to exercise with the advice, where appropriate, of other seruor executives

The semor mdependent director 1s available to address any concerns that any shareholder may have which have not been resolved
through the normal communication channels of the Chairman or the executive directors

The chairman of the Audit Commuttee 158 Mr Meorns, who 1s a charrered accountant and 15 considered by the board to have recent
relevant financial experience He was appoimted charman of the Audit Commuttee with effect from 14 July 2006 as successor to
Mr Cawdron Mr Christensen chairs the Remuneranon Comnurttee and Mr Fish chairs the Nomination Commuttee
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Board attendance

The board met on eleven scheduled occasions duning the vear and at other fimes as appropriate The following table sets out the
attendance of the directors at board and various committee meetings during the vear ended 31 March 2007 During the year, everv
director attended all scheduled meetings during their term of office, except as disclosed in the table below

In the case of missed meenngs, the absent director 15 provided with all the relevant papers for the meening and :s given the opportunity
to discuss marters appearing on the agenda or ansing from the papers with the chairman of the meeting prior to the meenng and to make
representations to the meeting through the chairman or secretary ot the relevant meeting

Audit Remuneraben

Board meenings  Board meetings Committee Commuttee
scheduled un scheduled meetings meenngs
Total number held 11 4 5 6
Chairman
D ] Fish 11 4 b 1’
Execunive directors
$ Oades 11 4 N/A N/A
J A Steadman 11 4 5 N/A
Non execunive directors
P E B Cawdron® (ceased 13 07 2006) 2 NA ? 2
L R Christensen 11 4 5 6
A Edelman (ceased 13 07 2006) 3 N/A 1 3
™M Morris' (appointed 12 04 2006) 10 4 4 s
A Pomssot 11 4 b 6
Nores

1 Mr Steadiman and Mr hish arend meetings of the Audir Committee by imvitanon of the commuttee

? Dunng Mr Cawdron s and Mr kdelman s period as directors during the vear 4 scheduled meeungs of the board ? meetings of the Audir Committee and 4 meenngs of the Remuneranon
Cammitree took place During Mr bxch s perod as a member of the Remuneranion Commttee during the vear ome meeting of the Commicree 1aok place

3 Mr Maorns has actended all meetings called duning his period as a director

Board performance evaluation

During the last year, the board completed a nigorous evaluanion of 1ts own and indnnidual direcrors’ performance, involyving the completion
of assessment questionnaires by all directors covering the performance of the board, individual direcrors, board commuttees and certain
semuor managers Other topues included meetings, the provision of informaton, training and the overall effectivencss of the board This
was an wternal exercise led by the Chairman and co ordinated by the Companv Secretary who collared the informanon and presenred

ro the Chairman a summary report of the conclusions The sumimary report was used bv the Chairman as a basis for collective and
individeal discussions with the orther directors abour their personal performance and the effectiveness of the board As part of the process
the semor independent director has met with the other directors, without the Chawrman presens, to discuss the Chairman’s performance
and effecnveness in his role The sentor independent director has given feedback to the Chairman on behalf of the rest of the hoard

Traming 15 undertaken as required during the year and having regard to the specific tramning needs of individual direcrors The board
arranges for 1ts non execunve directors to visit cerrain of the Group’s principal locations at mtervals to discuss the operations with local
management In addition, some board meenngs are held each year at operational sites where the board recerves presentanions from local
management and a rour of the site

Information and advice
Informatnion 1s provided to the board on a timelv basis and reles ant papers are circulated prior to each board meeung, including monthly
manageement accounts and detailed papers relating to disposals and acquisitions and major capital and business development projects

Dnrectors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretarv and the board has established a procedure for any director,
if necessary, to take independent professional advice at che company’s expense

Audit Commurtee

The Audit Commuttee 15 non executive and met on § occasions during the year under the chairmanship of Mr Cawdron (unnl his
retirement at the AGM held on 13 July 2006) and then Mr Morns, its other members are Mr Pomnssot and Mr Christensen Mr Edelman
also served on the commuttee until his reirement at the AGM held on 13 July 2006 Although they are not members, the Group Finance
Director and the external auditors will normally be invited to attend these meetings The Group Internal Audit Manager and Group
Financtal Controller atrend as required

The commuttee has written terms of reference that outline its anthonty and dunes These comply with the Code and are displayed on
the company’s website 1n the Investor section The terms include a review of the arrangements by which staff may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporung or other areas

Both the internal and extornal audir functions have direcr access to the comnutiee chairman at all nmes The nature and scope of the
external audit are discussed with the external auditors 1n advance and any matters ansing from their work and the financial statements
are reviewed The commuttee also aims to ensure that the internal audit funcrion 15 adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Group, reflecting the determination of the board to ensure that internal consrol procedures are of a high standard Writren
and verbal reports from the Group Internal Audit Manager are received bv the commuittee on a regular basis

It 13 a regular fearure of Audit Comimrttee meenngs that executives absent themseives from part of the meeting in order to allow the
committee to have private discussions with the auditors

The commuttee has considered the independence and objectuvity of the external auditors with parnicular regard to the level of non audn
fers The spht between ~udit and non audit fees for the vear vnder »evierv appears on page 46 The nor ~udit fees ~ros= principally =
respect of compliance and assurance work (mcluding taxation and pensions advice) and are considered by the commuttee not to affect the
independence or objectivity of the external auditors The auditors have formally confirmed their independence ro the Audir Comnuttee
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Corporare governance contmued

Nomunation Commuttee, appountments to the board and nducuon

The Nomination Commuttee 1s chaired by Mr Fish and ts other members are Mr Christensen, Mr Poinssot and Mr Morns Mr Cawdron
and Mr Edelman also served as members of the commuttee until their renrement at the AGM held on 13 Julv 2006 Reporung to the
hoard, 1ts duty 1s to seek switably skilled and expenenced candidates with sufficient ume to desore to the role as non execunve directors
and to oversee all appointments to the board and senior management of the company

The commuttee has written terms of reference thar outline its authority and duties These comply with the Code and are displayed on the
company s website m the Investor section

The commuttee met during the year on a number of occasions w consider the four new appomnmments to the Executive Commuttee that
took place during the vear The commuttee considers the composition and balance of skills on the board and within the company’s semor
management at the ime and prepares a brief based on the requisite industry experience and skill sets 1t considers necessarv for the new
appomtments As and when necessary, the commuttee appoints external consultants to seck suitable candidates based on the briefs it

has agreed

Directors are required to retire by rotation at the third AGM after their last appowntment or reappomtment In addition one third of

the members of the board must renre by rotanon each year and may offer themselves for re election, if ehgible In accordance with these
provisions, Mr J A Steadman who was appointed on 20 November 2003 and Mr L R Christensen who was appomted on 1 july 2004
will retire at the forthcoming AGM and will be seehing re elecuon The board considers that both directors demonstrate commitment

to their respective roles and confinue to be effecnve and recommends that rhe resolution to re elect them be approved

On appomntment, directors take part i a comprehenstve inducrion programme tailored to theiwr individual needs, and recen e mformarion
about the company and 1ts subsidiaries, the role of the board and the marters reserved for 1ts decision, the terms of reference and
membership of the principal board commuttees, and the powers delegated ro those commuttees, the company’s corporate gevernance
practices and procedures, mcluding the powers reserved to the Group’s most semor executives, and the latest financial mformartion abour
the Group Tlus 1s supplemented by visits to key sites and presentatons from hey senior managers Directors are also advised on
appointment of their legal and other duties and obliganons as a director of a hsted company, both b briefing papers and o face 1o face
meetings with the Company Secretary

Remuneranon Commmnttee

The Remuneration Commuttee 1s also non executive and met on one scheduled occasion during the year and on five other occasions
The comnuttee was chaired during the year by Mr Christensen ks orher members were Mr Edelman and Mr Cawdron unt:! therr
retirement at the AGM held on 13 July 2006 and, currently, Mr Morns, Mr Fish and Mr Pomnssor Mr Fish was re apponted 1o the
commurree on 1 March 2007 following the company’s decision to take advantage of the relaxations of the Code permutted by the updated
version of the Code 1ssued by the Financsal Reporting Councail 1n June 2006 for reporting years starung on or after 1 November 2006
Mr Fish was considered independent on his appointment as Chairman The Commurtee’s pnimary fupction 15 to determine the company’s
policy on board remuneration and to apprave the specific terms and condinous of employment of the executive directors and sentor
managers, mcluding the basis on which performance refated awards are calculated The commttee also determines the terms on which
emplovee share schemes and invitations to participate are to be offered The fees payable to non execunve directors are established by
the full board The commuttee has written terms of reference which comply with the Code and which may be s1ewed on the compans’s
website in the Investor section

The committee met on a number of unscheduled occasions in order to discuss and agree the matters set out in the separate report
on remuneranion which 1s included on pages 27 to 31, and which forms part of the companv’s corporate governance statement

Executive Commuittee and semor management

The Executnn e Commuttee, chaired by the Chief Execunive and consisting of hey senior managers of the company, met on a number

of occasions throughout the vear to discuss and consider matters of Group policy and other matters of sigmificance 10 the Group and
to ensure the sharning and spread of best practice across all business umurs Separate meerings were also held duning the vear by the
heads of the business umits within the Food and Censumer and Transport strategic sectors, mn order to leverage expertise and customer
relationships across each sector

Relations with shareholders

The company 15 comrmutted to mamtamning good commumcations with shareholders Institutional shareholders, analysts and private
shareholders with large holdings are mvited to briefings by the company 1n the penod following the announcement of internim and full
vear results The same briefings are made to members of the press and selected matenal s displaved on the company’s websre so as
10 be available to all shareholders

The Chairman and senior independent director make themselves available to meet with leading sharcholders to discuss any concerns

or 1ssues they may have The board receives a report on anv discussions with shareholders and the wrirten feedback thar follows the half
yearly presentations 1s circulated to the board Brokers’ reports and analysts® briefings are peniodically mcluded 1n the board papers sent
to directors

Members of the board have met with institutional shareholders during the year to discuss a variety of 1ssues All the non execunve
diteclos are prepared 1o meet wath shareholders to understand more fuidy ther views

Annual general meeting

The board seeks 1o encourage shareholders to arcend the AGM, which presents an opportunity 1o meet and question the directors At
the forthcoming meeting there will be a statement by the Chawrman regarding the company’s performance w the vear and current trading
conditions and an operational review by the Chief Executive Shareholders will, as always, be mvited to raise questions Those attending
the AGM will be advised of the number of proxy votes lodged 1n respect of each resolunon {(including the number of votes withheld}
after each has been dealt with on a show of hands or a poll Dertails of proxies lodged at the AGM will also be published on the
company’s website
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Internal control

The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing 1ts effecuveness The board bas delegated

to executive management the responsibility for desigming, unplementing, operating and monitoring both the system and the maintenance
of effective internal controls 1 each of the businesses which compnise the Group

Through the Audit Commuttee and the Group Internal Audit deparunent, the board obtains ongomg assurance thar systems of risk
management and internal control are effectivelvy designed and operated to comply with the guidance of the Turnbull Committee This
takes place through a pre agreed programme of audit reviews, the results of which are presented to the Audit Cemmuttee tour times a
year The audit programme covers a wide range of potential risks mncluding operations, health and safety, quality, informaton technology
and sales as well as finance Where control weaknesses are 1dentfied, corrective actions are agreed with business unit management who
are then responsible for implementing change

Systems of risk management and mrernal control were in place throughout the financial vear ending 31 March 2007 and up to,
and including, the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements by the board The board 1s sansfied that the svstem
of mzernal control 1s effectrve and that appropriare action has been, or 15 being, taken as necessarv to rectify internal control failings

The board has not been advised of any material weaknesses i that part of the internal control system that relates to the annual report
and accounts

The Group’s risk management and mternal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the nsks associated with
achieving business abjecuves Whilst subject to ongoimg review and updates, the Group's svstems can provide onlv reasonable and not
absolute, assurance against misstatement or Joss

The board has an ongoing process for identufying, evaluating and managing sigmficant risks faced by the Group Each business unut

has dennified the key nisks it faces, taking account of the strategic objecrnves of the Group [hese have been recorded 1n a nisk framework
using a process coordinated by the Group Interral Audit department Risk and associated controls continue to be reviewed by business
unis and the executive directors on an ongoing basis and are adjusted in hghe of changes to strategy or the operanng envirommnent

The risks and controls cover a wide range of financial, operational and compliance matters

Key risks and internal controls are 1dennfied below

» The Group has clearly designiated lines of responsibility and limuts ot delegated authontv The Chief Executive and Group Finance
Director meet busmess unit managing directors on a regular basis to discuss particular ssues affecting each busmess untt, mncluding
major rishs The Chief Executive and, separately, the Group Finance Direcror attend each business unit’s board meeting at least onge
per vear

Strategic risk 15 covered bv an annual update of the three year strategic plan Each business umit prepares a strategic plan which 1s
presented to, and agreed bv, the board Busmness umit managing directors regularly report progress agamst strategic plan to the board

Key financial risks are addressed through a comprehensive budgeting and financaal reporting system Annua! budgets, which supporz
the straregic plans, are prepared and submitted ro the board for review and approval Monthly performance s reporred ro the board
and mcludes an assessment of achievements against the budget and prior year Business unit managing directors are mvited to board

meetings from time to tune to discuss the perfarmance of their business units Forecasts of future financial performance are updated

quarterly and compared to budget and strategic plan

The hiring, development and retention of key personnel has been addressed 1n several ways under the overall guidance of the Head of
Group Human Resources Director and executive management positions are the subject of succession plans and recriirment into these
roles 15 overseen by the Nomination Commuttee which s able to call on the support of the Head of Group Human Resources as
necessary The companv has developed a number of talent management tools and appraisal processes which momror the performance
and development needs of the whole management populanon

The Group trades with several customers who indmidually contribute significant turnover 1o the Group’s, or business units’, results
The nature of the logistics industry 15 such that contracts are won and lost throughout the year, some ot which will be farge 1n the
context of the company’s business The directors consider thar the diverse nature of the Group s operattons over six busmess unuts,
two imdustry sectors and seven countries, as well as close montoring of kev customer relationships by the Chief Executive, acts to
muitigate associated rish

Major projects are subject to a thorough evaluation process which includes the use of a well developed project isk model For the
most significant projects, the project sponsor or project team presents 1ts case to the board prior to the board approving the project
Such projects are also the subject of post implemenzation project reviews which are presented to the board

¢ The current policy on msurance risk 1s thar external msurers carry a preportion of the risk and that an clement 15 self insured
The directors assess the cost and associated risk of this pelicy on a regular basis
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Corporate governance contimued

Health and safety, environmental and social matters
I he company recognises the imporrance of protecting the health and safety of its emplovees and contributing te the community 1n which
1t operates, together with plaving 1ts part in safeguarding the environment

Health and safety

During the year there has been conunued focus on health and safety and, 1n order to reflect the importance and prommence afforded
the topie, 1t 15 the first agenda em for all board, Execunve Commuirtee and business unit board meetings Considerable ume 15 devoted
at these meenings to discussing historical health and safety performance indicarors within each business umit and formulating action
ponts with a view to promoting continual improvement

The board has overall responsibihity for health and safety and Mr Oades 1s the director responsible directly to the board for health

and safety matrers The Executive Committee, which sits quarterly and 1s made up of the heads of all business uruts and key functions,

15 responsible for recommending health and safety strategy to the board and reviewing petformance Emphasis 1s placed on the
accountabilitv of operational management for day to day health and safety performance Sites or business units tdentified as not achieving
the highest levels of performance are reviewed to 1dentfy the underlying causes and to facilitate correcnive action

The board 1s delighted to confirm that this emphasis on health and safety has resulted n the company as a whole and four individual
operating sites having recerved presngious RoSPA Gold Health and Safery Awards

The company produces a health and safety report which can be viewed on the companv’s websize

Environment

It 15 the pelicy of the company at all imes to consider the smplications of 1ts acuvities on rhe surrounding environment Given the nature
of the company’s operations particular emphasis 1s placed on the safe and secare handhing of potentially hazardous goods transported

or stored on behalf of customers and . manimusing efficient use of marerials, supphes and energy, weluding fuel

The company produces an environmental report which can be viewed on the company’s website and further informauon on some of the
environmental minatves being pursued by the company 1s contamed 1n the Operating Review on page 135

Communstry
The company 1s commutted to supporting projects that nvolve the communiey through both financal aid and bv in kind support such
as emplovee tvolvement Some of the projects wr which the company 1s involved are derailed below

* The company 1s a founder member of TransAid, the leading chanty speciahising m effective transport solutions n the developing world,
and continues to have an active involvement in this chariry

* The company supported SPARKS (SPort Aiding medical Research for KidS) durning the year by sponsoring a celebrity golf challenge

¢ The company has been working closely with Remploy 1n premoting economuc independence for disabled people through helping
them back or into work and has won awards 1n the past from Remploy for the work that it has done 1n this area ar its Mortherweil
depot in Scotland As a result of this partnership, the company has succeeded 1n emploving over fiftv registered disabled people in
a variety of roles

* An MSc student 1s sponsored each year on the Logistics and Supplv Chain Management course at the Heriot Watt University School
of Management

A wide range of events and activities 1s orgamsed and takes place at individual sites to support local and national charities and
communiry based projects In some instances the company will match funds raised focally

The fund raising actnaties of colleague circles across all business units have this year benefited a number of charitable causes The board
congratulates and thanks colleagues for their efforts and will continue to support these mmanves

Pensions

ke assers of the UK pension funds are held by trustees separatelv from the assets of the company, and are 1mmiested by independent
fund managers None of the assets of the funds can be mnvested directly in the company The boards of trustees are constituted such
that two thirds of therr number are nominated by the company and one third are member nominated

Gomg concern
The directors confirm that they are satisfied that the company and the Group have adequate resources to continue 1 business
for the foreseeable future and therefore continue to adopr the going concern basis 1n preparing financial statements
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Remuneration report

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and also meets the relevant
requirements of the Financial Services Authonity Listing Rules !t sets out the company’s executive remuneration policy and structure and
details of the remuneranon received by the directors 1n respecr of the year ended 31 March 2007 Section 6 {Directors’ remuneranion for the
vear ended 31 March 2007) and informanion on share options in section 7 are required to be audited Other sections are not required to
be audited Shareholders will be mvited to approve this report at the annual general meeting {AGM) to be held on Thursday 12 July 2007

1 Remuneration Commuttee composition, responsibihties and operation
The membership of the Reuncranion Commuttee 15 entirely non ex<ecutive and the membe.s are listed on pages 20 and 24

The terms of reference for the commuttee (which were adopted by the board 1 2004 and comply with the 2003 Revised Combined Code
on Corporate Governance {the “Code”)) are displayed on the company’s website in the Investor section

During the vear, the company took advantage of the relaxanion n the updated version of the Code 1ssued by the Financial Reporting
Council m June 2006 for reporting years startung on or after 1 November 2006 permitting chairmen to sit as members of remuneration
committees Accordinglv, Mr [ ] Fish was re appounted to the Remuneration Commirtee with effect from 1 March 2007 Mr Fish was
considered independent on hus appointment as Chairman The Committee 15 chaired by Mr L R Christensen CBE

No member has any personal financial interest other than as a shareholder 1n the marrers to be decided, or any potential confhcrts of
mterest ansing from cross directorshups, nor has anv member any day to day responsibility for runming individual businesses of the Group
The commuttee’s principal funciion 1s to determine the company’s policy on remuneration for 1ts most senior executives and to approve
the specific remuneration of the executive directors and the Company Secretary, including their service contracts Irs remut therefore
includes, but 18 not restricted to, basic salarv, benefits i kind, nerformance related awards, share notions and share awards, long term
meenave schemes, pension nghts and any other compensation or termination payments In exercising its responsibilities, the committee
has had access to professional advice from the Head of Group Human Resources, Mr R C Fitch, and the Company Secretary, who also
co ordinated and collated exrernal advice on remuneration The commuttee received exrernal advice duning the year from Mercer Human
Resource Consulting and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (1n relation to pensions) and Watsor Wyart (in relation to salary reviews and the
long rerm incentive plan (“LTIP”) approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 13 July 2006, further details of which are set out below)

2 Remuneration policy

The company’s policy 1s to attract, retain and mouvate high quality senior managers with a compentive package of salary, retrement
benefits and share and performance related awards Market rates will determme the range of remuneraton levels for a parncular job,
and an individual s posinon 1n that range will reflect their averall contribution to business performance

The principal components of evisting remuneration packages are

Salary

In arriving at the basic salarv element, the evaluation of an executive’s responsibilities 1s based on a well established external assessment
system which draws on comparatve data from a number of sources and takes mto account the complexaty of and know how required to
do the job, the problem solving and decision making involved and the overall impact on the business This assessment enahles comparison
to be made with salary levels 1n a large number of companies in the industrial and service sector in the UK (including agamnst a transport
sector camparater grouping) When last benchmarked agamnst the market, the Chief Executive’s level of annual basic salarv was positioned
just below the median of comparator data for Chief Fxecutive roles of similar size in broadly comparable companies on the basis of
Watson Wvatt s proprietary remuneration survey data and the Finance Director’s level of annual basic salary was positzoned below the
median of comparator data for Finance Directors, on the same basis When setting salary levels, accounrt 15 taken of other benefirs and
the impact of salary on other elements of remuneration, particularly pensions

The Remuneration Commuttee has decided that for the year ending 31 March 2008, the basic salary entitlement of executive directors
and members of the company’s Executive Commuttee will be frozen at 31 March 2007 levels However a one off, non pensionable salary
supplement will be payable in addition to normal bonus arrangements subjecr to the achievement of certain mimimum financial targets
during the financial vear

Deferred Share Bonus Plan

At the AGM held on 14 Julv 2004 shareholders approved a new deferred share bonus plan (the “DSB Plan™) to reflect and support the
company’s key busimess object:ves The Remuneration Comnuttee believes that the DSB Plan continues to motivate 1ts existing management
team and helps the company to attract and incennvise high calibre new senior managers, which the board has :denufied as a key element
in meeting demanding financial targets over the coming years

The DSB Plan is designed speaifically to link the interests of participants wath those of shareholders and to deliver gains to participants
which are directly linked o those which shareholders are able to reabse The scheme 15 administered by the Remuneratton Commuttee
which mvites, at 15 discretion, SENIOT eXeCulIves (0 participate

The company has largely ceased to offer share options to executive direcrors and senior execurives under 1ts execunive share oprion
scheme (details of which are set out below) The DSB Plan has therefore been designed to deliver both short term var:able cash bonus
meentves and an element of longer rerm deferred and marching share based incentives for those who have earned the requisite annual
cash bonus Its principal elements are as follows

Short term cash bonus incentives
The scheme allows for annual cash bonus awards (based principally on financial growth targets) of up to 37 5% of salary if certam
pre determuned targets ( larget”) are achieved, with a maximum of up to 0% ot salary it superior performance over larget 15 achieved

Deferred share bonus

At Target level the parucipanr also receives a share based bonus of up to 12 5% of salary in deferred shares and would receive a bonus
of up 10 50% of salary in deferred shares for supenior performance In normal circumstances deferred shares will vesr after a period of
three years but will lapse 1f during the three year period the participant chooses to leave the company

Long term matchng share mcentve

In addimion, individuals will be entitled to a matching award based on their deferred share award ar the end of a three year performance
period depending on the achievement of stretching performance targets based on total shareholder return (calculated by reference to the
mcrease m the company’s share price assuming remvestiment of dividends paid} {TSR) with an earmings per share (EPS) underpin  For

one to one matching, TSR performance must currently be 1n the upper quarnle agamst a peer group of comparator companies (comprising
the FTSE Mud 250 Index (excluding investment trusts)) This reduces to a 25% match at the median with straight Line nterpolation 1n
berween In addmon, ar EPS growth target of a1 least RP1 plus 3% per anmum compound must be sanshied for any marching award to vest
For full vesting of a matchng award in relanon to the year ended 31 March 2007, the EPS growth must equal at least RPI plus 5% per
annum conpound
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Remuneration teport continued

Executive Share Qption Schene

Executive directors and semior executives have 1n the past been able to participate, at the discretion of the Remuneranon Commuttee,

mn the Executive Share Option Scheme approved by sharcholders at the extraordinary general meenng of the company on 26 September
1997 This scheme was engnally designed to encourage the matching of mterests between employees and shazreholders but has now been
largely replaced for semor executives by the DSB Plan outhined above and the LFIP which 1s outhned below However, a number of senior
executives, 1ncluding Mr ] A Steadman, conunue to parucipate bv virtue of past awards The Remuneration Committee retans a discrerion
ro make funire awards to seruor execunives under this scheme n exceprional circumstances but does not have arv current intention of
doing so nor 15 it aware of any exceptional circumstances which would make this hikelv

UK paruncipants i the Executive Share Option Scheme will have recerved part of their entitlement under a scheme which has received
Inland Revenue approval The Treasury limit for outstanding options under the approved scheme 1s £30,000 for each participant, with
the balance of any award being held under an unapproved scheme The schemes are subject ro limats relating to the total number of
shares under option at anv one time and the price payable on exercise

Executive options are subject to performance conditions based on both I'SR and growth m normalised EPS (calculated on an IIMR basis)

At the ume when the individval wishes to enercise the oprion (which can onls normally occur after three years have elapsed since grant),
the company’s TSR since the date of grant of the option 1s compared to that of the FTSE Mid 250 Index (excluding mvestment trusts)

1f the company’s TSR matches or exceeds that index and rthe company’s EPS growth, over a period of three consecutive years, matches

or exceeds the growth 1n the Retai Prices Index by 9%, the option 1s capable of exercise The performance condimons are Lhept under
review by the Remuneration Commuttee which decided in June 2004, in 1esponse to best practice guidebnes relatnng w retestng, that all
options granted under the scheme after that date would have a fined performance period of chree years following the date of grant during
which the performance criteria must hate been mer for an oprion to be exercisable If performance conditions have not been mer within
this period, the options will lapse 1t 1s currently felt that the performance conditions are challenging, appropriate and ahgned to
shareholder mnterests

Long Termt Incentie Plan (“LTIP ')

In 2006, the board undertook a review of the long term incentive element of remuneration for the executive directors and other key

semor executives with the aim of ensuring that the company’s reward policy supports the company’s long term strategic objectives and I
reflects current best practuce Following extensive consultanion with principal shareholders and its remuneration consultants, Watson

Wyatt, the LTIP was approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 13 July 2006

The LTIP has been designed specificallv to hnk rewards to participants with the attamment of demanding financial performance rargets '
The Remuneranion Commuttee currently considers that EPS (as defined below) 1s the most appropriate measure for the LTIP — because '
1t 15 a key indicator of increased profit which should result in enhanced shareholder value

The defimtion of EPS for LTIP purposes 1s post tax earmings including excepnional items (however, goodwill impairment w:il be
exciuded} The basis used for calculating EPS ma+ be changed for any adjustment the Remuneration Committee mav determine and

the company’s auditors confirm 1s fan and reasonable to ensure the performance condition achieves 1ts oniginal purpose and consistency
and fairness, including 1n the event of any matenal acquisition or disposal of operating assets that was not envisaged 1n the company’s
business plan

Targets are based on rhe attasnment of average annual growth 1n EPS over a performance peniod of three years of not less than 4% per
annum mn excess of inflanon (measured agamst the Rerail Prices Index), at which level 25% of an award will vest 10% growth on the
same basis would trigger 100% vesting with awards vesung on a prorated basis for growth between 4% and 10%

There 15 also a discretionary underpinning performance condition In addition to attainment against the EPS measure, awards wall onlv
vest to the extent that the Remuneranon Commutzee at 1ts discretion constders appropriate bearing i mund the overall resuits of the Group
over the performance period, including irs business and shareholder value performance Discrenion may not be exercised to mcrease awards

The LTIP 1s admimstered bv the Remuneration Commuttee which invires semor executives to parucipate at its discrenon The maximum
annual aggregate face value of L1IP awards 1s 100% of basic salary (but a maximum on recruitment ot 150% ot basic salarv,
exceptional circumstances) However, no annual awards currently exceed 80% of any individual’s salary

Awards were made under the LTIP to Mr Qades and Mr Steadman during the year

Other share schemes

The company also operates an all employee share ownership plan and a savings related share option scheme {“SAYE”), both of which

are open to all UK employees with a quahfying period of employment Mr Steadman parncipated durng the vear in the SAYE scheme !
Executnve directors participate on the same terms as all other UK employees

Retirement benefits

UK execunve directors are ehigible for the execunve scale of benehits of the Christian Salvesen Pension Scheme (the “Scheme™),
which 15 a funded final salary scheme approved by the Inland Revenue The Scheme 1s now closed to new entrants Subject to Inland
Revenue regulations and lumits, s kev elements are currently

* a normal retirement age of 60,

* a maxumum benefics accrual rate of 1/30th for each year’s service up to a masimum of two thirds of final pensionable salary,
 an employee contriburion rate of 12% of pensionable salary,

* a lump sum death 1n service benefit of four nmes salary,

« spouse’s pension on death, and

* carly retirement pension based on a 3% sumple reduction factor (6% compound pa from 2010)
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Prior to 6 April 2006, directors were subject to the Inland Revenue Earnings Cap and 1t was the company s policy to pay over to such
members, by way of compensation, the equivalent of what it would have cost the company during the year to fund the benefits for that
vear of service, based on basic salary, beyond the cap

As a result of new pensions legislauon which came into force on 6 April 2006, the directors are no longer subject ro an Inland Revenue
annual earmings cap However, the company has retained a cap on earnings for the purpose of benefits acerued under the Scheme, in hine
with the limit previously applied by the Inland Revenue and which, Like that imit, will be mcreased by an inflanonaty amount each year
in this wav the company continues to manage the habilines atraching to the Scheme The Remuneration Commuittee recogmses the
limiting effect on pension benefits of applying an earnings cap and accordingly has decided 10 contnue s policy of paying those affected
a cash supplement

Although certain lifetime himits on accrued pension benefics have been introduced by the new legislation, these do not currently affect
those directors partcipanng mn the Scheme

Non executive directors’ remmuneration
The basic fee for non executive directors 1s £33,000 per annum and this was last changed in July 2004 Addinonal fees of £3.000
are paid for chairing the Audit Commuttee and the Remuneration Commuttee respectinvely

The maximum aggregate fees payable to directors (as distiner from executive salanes) 1s set out in the company’s articles of associanon
and currently stands at £350,000 per annum

Other pavments

As disclosed previously, Mr § QOades recerved £60,000 1n add:tion to his salary in July 2006 and will receive a further payment of
£60,000 subject to bum still being tn employment in July 2007 These are contractual payments agreed art the ume of recrustment and are
to compensate him for lost benefits under his previous employment as a result of joming the company The pavments are non pensionable

3 Performance graph

The first graph below illustrates the performance of the company over the five vears to 31 March 2007 measured bv TSR, compared with
the return achieved by the FTSE Mid 250 Index {excluding mmvestment trusts) {the “Index”} over the same period The Index 15 considered
the most appropriate benchmark because it is used as the comparator group for the performance condtions attached to the matching
element of the DSB Plan and the exercise of Fxecutive Share Options outlined above The second graph illustrates the performance of the
company on the same basis against the FISE Transport Index, of which the company has been a consutuent throughout the five year penod
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4 Service contracts and notice periods

Executive directors have service agreements that do not have fixed expiry dates but mstead require one year’s notice from erther the
individual or the company which may be served at any tume Mr Qades’ service agreement 1s dated ¢ November 7004 and Mr Steadman’s
1s dated 19 November 2003

Under the service agreements the company has the right to terminate employment on paving basic salary m lieu of the contractnal notce
peried In the event of early terminanion, the Remuneration Commuittee will give careful consideranon to what compensation should be
paid taking nto account the circumstances of the particular casc and the responsibility and abilinv of the individual to mingate

Non executive directors do not have service agreements and, 1 accordance with the company’s articles of association, their appointments
may be terminated without compensaton at any ume on one month’s notice, although the mimal appointment would ordimanly be expected
to run for three vears All non executive directors have signed letters of appointment 1 terms substantially the same as those set out in
the Higgs Suggestions for Good Practice appended to the Code A sample lerter of appomntment 1s displayed on the company’s website

m the Investor section
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Remuneranen report continugd

5 External appomntmients

The company recognises that executive directors mav be invited to become non executive directors of other companies and that such
appomtments may broaden their knowledge and experuse to the benefit of the company Therefore, execunive directors are permtted,
with the agreement of the board, to take up an appomntment as a non executive director of another organisation, subject to there bemng
no conflict of mrerest and to the tume spent being reasonable The director may, subject to the agreemenc of the board, retain the fees
from such appomntment Durning the year, Mr Qades was appointed as a director of G51 UK Limited, a not for profit orgamsation which
pramates the efficient use of electrom 2nd communicanion standards i the supply cham, and of the Freight Transport Assomanan Limred
In the board’s view, these bodies are important industry forums and representation on them 1s both consistent with the duties of a
responsible logistics provider and 1in the best interests of the companv Mr Qades 1s not remunerated for these appomtments

6 Directors’ remmuneration for the year ended 31 March 2007
Directors’ emoluments excluding penston related benefits

Basic salary Taxable Cash Other taxable Pavmeats in 200, 2006
and fees benefits bonus payfheniefits  heu of pension Total Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
Chatrman
D ] Fish 150 - - - - 150 150
Executive directors
S Oades 386 27 18 60 108 599 623
i A Sieadman 264 16 2? 2 73 377 34>
Non—-executive dlfeC{Ol'S
P E B Cawdron (ceased 13 07 7006) 12 - - - - 12 36
L R Christensen 36 - - - - 36 36
A Fdelman lceased 13 07 2006) 11 - - - - 11 33
M Mortis (appomted 12 04 2006) 35 - - - - 35 -
A Poinssor 33 - - - - 33 i9
Total 927 43 40 6? 181 1,253 1,242

Nores
Taxable benetits nclude the provision of a company cir fuel and medical msurance

Cash bonus  relates 1o the cash element of bonus pavments to Mr Cades and Mr Steadman or the achiesement of financial targets in the vear under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan and
in the case of Mr Steadman 2 discretionan payment of £9 945 fer the achiesement of certain personal performance targets

Other taxable pav and benefits  relates o the folloving Mr Ovades received £60,000 as contractual compensation agreed at the nme of recranment ind s disclnsed tn previnus reparts
m respect of benetits lost under s previous employment as 1 result of joimng the company Mr Steadman recenved a crading down allowance ot £1 980 1n respect of s company car
None of these pavments was pensionable

Tavments in heu of pension  are more fulls explamed 1n the section on pensions below
The hgures for Mr Morrs Mr Fdelman and Mr Cawdron cover the peaied durnng which they were directors

Derails relaung to pension enntlements and life insurance for the executve directors are summarised on pages 28 and 29 and are
shown below

Pensions
Benefits provided through the Scheme during the vear for the executive directors were as follows

Gross Increase in Total Value of Value of Value of Total Nonwonal

ncrease m accrued pension acerued net mcrease acerued acerued change cost of

accrued pension  net of nflation pension at n accrual pension at pension at 1 value dexth

during period benefits 317012007 over pentod 1 1/03/700. 310,006 during period benetit

£000pa £000pa £000pa £ 000 £000 £ 000 £000 £000

Column/™~ote {1 {2) 3 (4 (3) 6] {s) (8)
S Oades 4 4 7 37 91 40 39 4
J A Steadman 4 4 12 36 161 109 40 4

Notes

(1} Penswon accruals shown are the amounts which would be paid annualiv on renrement hased on service ro the end of the vear or carlrer date of enit The benefus for both execurne directors
are accraing at a rate of 1/30th for each year of service

tiu) Transfer salues have been calculared m accordance with version 9 2 of guidznce note GN11 1ssued by the actuanial prefession

() The svalue ot net incretse (4} represents the mcremental value to rhe director of his service dunng the vear For directors snli in service this 1s calculared on the assumprion service termimated
at the vear end It 1s based on the accrued pension merease (7} and 15 ner ot director contributions for the period and therefore represents the noucmal company  cost

(v} The change in transfer value (7) includes the effect of fluctuanons in the transfer value due to factors bevond the conrrol of the compim and directors, such as stock market movements
It 15 calculated net of director comnbunons

(+) Voluntarv contributions paid by directors and resulting benefits are not shown
(v1) The cost of death in service benefits (8} 15 based on individual assessments of the notienal cost of cover pravided over the period

As mdicated above the pension arrangements of the executive directors were based upon membership of the Scheme However, also as
shown above, benefits under the Scheme accrue on a propornon of salary only, currently up ro £108,600 (£112,800 for the year 2007/8)
To reflect the restricted nature of benefits accruing under the Scheme executive directors therefore receive a supplement to invest in
pension provision as they see fit and ar their risk, as disclosed in the rable of directors’ emeoluments above Death in service benefit cover
was also provided, curside the Scheme arrangements, on salary above the restricted amount In addinon to the emoluments shown above
as directors of the company throughout the year they received the following benefits

Cost of death i sermce cover

2007 2%

£600 £000
S QOades 1 3
] A Steadman 1 2
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7 Share interests
The interests of persons who were directors during the year m the share capital of the company were as follows

Share options

Nuniber of options during year

Exercise Number at Number at Earhest
Date of grant price {pence) 1 Apnl 2006 Granted Exeroised Lapsed a1 March 200, exercise dite Expiry date
5 Oades
Deferred
Bonus 18 07 2006 Nil - 10,366 - - 10,366 06 2009 062010
Marching 18 07 2006 Nil - 10,366 - - 10,366 06 2009 06 2010
LTip 11 08 2006 Nl - 429,752 - - 429,752 072009 10082016
Total - 450,484 - - 430,484
] A Steadman
Executive 10 12 2003 580 362,068 - - - 362,068 10122006 09122013
Savings related 17 02 2005 4590 15,744 - - - 15,244 01047008 01102008
Deferred
Bonus 18 07 2006 Nl 6,039 7,841 - - 13,880 06 2008 06 2010
Marching 18 07 2006 Nil 6,039 7,841 - - 13,880 06 2008 06 2010
LTIP 11 08 2006 Nil - 292231 - - 292,231 072009 1008 2016
Toral 389,390 307,913 - - 697,303
Naotes

The options under the Execurne Share Opuion Sehemme and LTIP are normally only exercisable providing performance condibions are met after a penod of three vears has elapsed from dare
of grant

Opuons pursuant fo the Deferred Share Bonus Plin were awarded 1o Mr Oades and Mr Steadman tor the achievement of Group sales targets n the tnancial vear ending 21 March 2006

These compnised options over deferred shares 1o a value of £6 445 1a Mr Oades case and £4 873 in Mr Steadman s, exeraiszble if the participant remains in emploviment for three vears from the
date of grant with options over the same number ot matching shares subject to performance conditions Awards were made on the basis of 2 share price of 6 17 pence being the average of the
mid marhet price of the company s shares 10 the three dealing davs \mmediately tollowing announcement of the compans s results for the vear in respect of which the awards were made

During the sear opnons pursuant to the LTIP were anarded to Mr Qades and Mr Sreadman to the value of £312 000 1in Mr Qades case and £712 160 m Mr Stendman s such values
represennng 80% of their respective salaries These apuons become exercisable on the achievement of Group earmings per share targers measured over the hinancial years ending 7007 9 inclusive
Awards were made on the basis of a share price of #2 60 pence being the average of the mid market price of the company s shares in the five dealing davs wnmedaarely follow ing appros al of the
LTIP at the AGM held on 13 July 1006

Apart from that noted above, no other directors have been granted share options in the shares of the company or other Group entities
None of the terms or condinions of the share oprions was vaned during the year

The options were granted at mul cost and the performance criteria for all the above share options were consistent with the remuneration
policy and the summary of the relevant schemes outlined on pages 27 and 28

The closing mid marker price of the shares ar 31 March 2007 was >8 75p and the range during the year ended 31 March 2007 was
38 00p to 78 Q0p

Sharcholdings
at 31 NMarch 200/ at 1 Apnil Y006

Chairman

D ] Fish 494,600 494,600
Execunive directors

S Qades 100,600 -
Non execunve directors

M Morris (appoiwnted 12 04 2006) 30,000 -

A Poinssot 10,000 10,000

No director was mterested in any shares of subsidiary companies at anv time during the vear
Between the end of the financial year and the date of this report there has been no change in the beneficial holding of anv director
On behalf of the board

E H D Peppiatt, Secretary
5 june 2007
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Directors’ report

Profit and dividends
The profit for the financial year after taxation was £47 4m {006 £11 8m)

An ntenim dividend of 1 2 pence per erdinary share was paid on 29 January 2007 and the directors now recommend a final dividend
of 2 45 pence per ordinary share payable on 31 August 2007, making a toral in relation to the year of 3 65 pence per ordinary share
(2006 365 pence) The total cost of these dividends amounts to £9 6m

Chare capital
Details of any changes 1n the share capital are featured on page 60

Principal acuvities and business review

A review of the principal acuvities and business of the Group, together with changes to them during the year, and an indicanion of
likely future developments are described m the Chairman’s statement on pages 2 and 3 and in the operaung review on pages 4 1o 1§
The principal nisks and uncertainues facing the company and certain financial key performance indicators are mcluded within the
financial review on pages 16 to 19

Principal subsidiary and associated underrakings are listed on pages 33 and 54

Post balance sheet events
Post balance sheet events are disclosed 1n note 14 to the accounts on page 54 and 1n note 32 on page 69

Directors
The present directors of the company and their hiographical details are hsted on page 20

Mr A Poinssot and Mr M Morns, who were appomted on 16 September 2005 and 12 April 2006 respectively, renred and were
subsequently elecred at the annual general meeting (AGM) held on 13 July 2006

Mr ] A Steadman and Mr L R Chrstensen CBE who were appointed as directors on 20 November 2003 and 1 July 2004 respecnvely,
will retire and offer themselves for election at the forthcoming AGM ro be held on 12 July 2007

Mr P E B Cawdron and Mr A Edelman reured at the last AGM and did not seek re election

Mr Steadman and Mr Oades have service agreements which require twelve months” notce from either the director or the companv

The non executive directors do not have service coneracts with the company 1t 1s the policv of the company to appomt non executive
directors for an minal period of three years, renewable as determined by the board No other contract with the company or anv subsidiary
undertahing of the company 1n which any director was matentally interested subsisted during or at the end of the firancial year

A statement of directors’ interests (n the share capital of the company at the end of the financial year 1s given on page 31

Donations
During the year the Group donated £26,796 (2006 £30,551) to a vanety of registered UK chanties Donations of over £2,000 were
made to TransAid (£12,500), SPARKS (SPort Aiding medical Research for KidS) (£7,000) and rhe road safetv chanty BRAKE (£6,000)

No political donations were made dunng the vear (2006 ml)

Health, safety and environmental pohcy

The board sets policv 1n the area of health and safety and each business unit 15 required to follow best relevant industnial practice

The Group policy statement, which 1s formulated with the active mvolvement of the directors, and 1s formally approved by the board,
provides a framewoik setting out cthe objectives for management Individual businesses monstor cheir procedures and safetv records
regularly, and submut reports to both the board and the Execurive Commuttee on a regular basis Business umit heads present 1o the board
1 person m relation to health and safety wiathin their businesses and this forms the first agenda wtem of each board meeting A report 1s
published annually on the company s website www salvesen com

The company as 2 whole and four individual operating sites have received prestigious RoSPA Gold Awards for Health and Safeny
The Group recogruses 1ts responsibility to mummtse the environmental impact of its operanons
These areas are addressed further 1n the operating review on pages 12 to 15 and in the corporate governance report on page 26

Employees

Local newsletters are published within the business uruts The company intranet posts all external press releases and business units are
encouraged to display internal news and other information on the site Individual depots are encouraged to have their own intranet sires
to display information of purely local interest

Team briefings take place throughout the business to heep employees informed of developments and plans borh m their own operations
and 1n the Group includmg the annual and intenim financial results which are extensively publicised throughout the business Employee
surveys are carried out from time to tme and every two vears a Group wide employee opimion survev 1s cirried out across all busimess
units 1n all countries The most recent such survey tock place in November 2006, the results of which were presented to the Executive
Commuittee Appropriate acrions are bemng taken across the business in response o 115 findings

The European Works Council 15 a consultative and communicanon body and employees are encouraged to raise ssues through their
elected representanves who meet twice a year with the Chief Executive and Group Head of Human Resources :n attendance

A substantial number of employees have shareholding interests in the shares of the company, built up through SAYE and other share
related schemes At the end of the financial year 834 employees (2006 261) held share options through the SAYE share option scheme

The company’s policies for recruitment, trammng, career development and promotion of employees are based on the switability of the
mdvidual and give those who are disabled equal treatment with the able bodied Employees disabled after joimng the company are given
smtable traiming for contimued employment with the company wherever possible The company has partnered with Remploy durtng the
yed: 1 promotig economu independence for disabled people through work and furcher details of this are set out in the corporace
governance report on page 26

The company montors key performance mdicators m relation to certain important employee related matrers Further information
on employees 15 contaned in the operating review on page 12
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Supplier payment pohcy

it 15 the company’s policy to settle the terms and condirions of payment with suppliers when agreeing each transaction, to ensure that
supphers are made aware of these rerms and mn pracuce, providing the suppher meets 1ts contractual obligations, to abide by them At the
balance sheet date £0 4m (2006 £0 4m) was due by the company to trade creditors which represented 38 days (2006 42 days) In overall
terms, the amount due by the Group to trade suppliers represented approxamately 40 creditor days outstanding at the balance sheet date
(2006 38 crediror days)

Acqustion ot the companv s own shares

At the end of the year, the directors had authority, under the shareholders’ resolution of 13 July 2006, to purchase through the market
26,527,000 of the company’s ordimary shares at prices ranging between the nominal 1 alue and an amount equal to 105% of the average
of the middle market quotanons of the company’s ordinary shares for the five business davs immediately preceding the dav on which
such shares are contracied to be purchased 1his authonty will expire at the conclusion of the AGM 1o be held on 12 July 2007

No such purchases have been made during the year

Annual general meenng
The AGM will be held at the Sheraton Grand Hotel, T Festnal Square, Edinburgh on Thursdav 1? July 2007 at 11 am

Special business
In additon ro the rovnne business of the meeung the following resolunons will be proposed for approval

Resolution 7 proposes, as an ordimary resolution, to authorise the directors to exercise the nowers ot the company to allot relevant
securinies This resolution 15 a 1enewal of a resolution passed at the AGM 10 2002 and 1s limated o £15,050,000 which 1s approximately
20% of the 1ssued share capital of the company The authornty passed under this reselution would expire on the earher of 11 July 2012
and the conclusion of the AGM 1n that year

Subject to Resolunion 7 bemng passed, Resolunion 8 proposes as a special resolunion, on the same basis as last year, to disapply the
statutory pre emption rights of shareholders on allotment of equity securties for cash up to a hmit equal to Y% of the 1ssued ordinary
share capital of the company The resolution also disapplies these rights to the extent necessary to facihrate nights issues The authority
under this resolution would expire at the conclusion of the AGM m 2008 or on 11 july 2008, whichever 15 the earher

A further item of special business 1s the directors’ recommendation that shareholders renew the authonty of the company to purchase
its own ordinary shares as permutted under its arnicies of associanon Accordingly, Resolution 9 will be proposed as a special resolurion
seehing authority to make such purchases in the marker The directors have no immediate intennion of using such authority and would
do so only when thev consider 1t 1o be 1n the best interests of shareholders generally and when an 1mprovement n earmings per share
would result Any ordinary shares purchased under this authority would either be cancelled or held in treasury with the number of
ordmary shares 1n 1ssue being reduced accordmngly

Resolution 9 specifies the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be purchased (representing approaumately 10% of the
company’s existung 1ssued o1dimnarv share capital) and the mummum and maximum prices at which they may be boughr, reflecung the
requirements of the Compames Act 1985 and the UKLA The directors mntend 1o seek renewal of this power at subsequent AGMs

The directors believe that the proposals set out for approval at the AGM are in the interests of the company Accordingly, they
unammously recommend that members vote in favour of each resolution Members who are m any doubt as to what action to take
are adwised to consulr appropriate independent advisers

Noufiable micrests
As at 11 May 2007 the company has been advised of the following interests in its issued ordinary share capital

Name of shareholder Number ot shares kS
Northern Finance 24,000,000 905
UBS Global Asset Management 22 638,324 8353
A E H Saivesen® 16,513,333 622
Global Asset Management 15,588,500 588
Fidelity Internanional Limited 13,040,902 492
Legal & General 11,036,346 416

*Including wamedhate family and trustee interests

Audit and auditors

Each director has confirmed that, so far as he 15 aware, (1) there 15 no informaton relevant to the audit of the company’s fmaneial

statements of which the auditors are unaware, and {u) he has taken all steps which he ought to have taken, as a director, 1n order to

mahe humself aware of any information relevant to the audst of the company’s financial statements and to establish that the company’s
, auditors are aware of any such mformation

A resolution to reappomt PricewarerhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the company will be nroposed ar the AGM
-~
o
(el () /

By order of the Board

E H D Peppatt, Secretary
k June 2007
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Directors' responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements The directors are required to prepare
financial statements for the Group 1n accordance with International Mnancial Reporting Standards {1FRS) and have also elected to
prepare financial statements for the company in accordance with IFRS Company law requires the directors to prepare such financal
statements 1n accordance with IFRS, the Comparmes Act 1985 and Arucle 4 of the IAS Regulanon

Internarional Accounting Standard 1 requires that fimancial statements present fairly for each financial year the Group's financial
position, financial performance and cash flows This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events
ana condimions 1n accordance with che aetimitions and recogninion criteria for assets, lapilities, income ana expenses set out in the
International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentanion of Financial Statements” In virtuallv
all circumstances, a fair presentanon will be achieved by comphance with IFRS, where applicable Directors are also required to

* Properly select and apply accounting pohcies,

* Present information, including accounting policies, 1in a manner that provides relevanr, rehable, comparable and understandable
information, and

» Provide addinional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS 15 msufficient ro enable users to understand
the impact of particular rransactions, other events and conditions on the enury’s financial position and financial performance

The direcrors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any nnme the financial
position of the compary, for safeguarding the assets, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detect:on of fraud and other
aregularities and for (e pieparation of a directors report and directors temuneranion report which comply wedi the tequuements
of the Companies Act 198>

A copy of the financial statements of the Group 1s placed on the Christian Salvesen PEC website The mawmtenance and ntegrity of the
Christian Salvesen PLC website 15 the responsibiiry of the directors, work carried out by the auditors does nor involve consideranon of
these martters and, accordingly, the aunditors accept no responssbibity for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements
since they were minalls presented on the website

Legislation wn the Umired Kingdom goserning the preparation and dissemination of financial statements differs from legislation n other
Jurisd:ctrons
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Independent auditors' report to the members
of Christian Salvesen PLC

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements™) of Chnistian Salvesen PLC for the

yvear ended 31 March 2007 which comprise the consohidated income statemenr, the consohdated and parent company balance sheets,

the consolidated and parent company cash flow statements, the Group and parent company statement of recogmsed income and expenses
and the related notes These financial statements have been prepared under the accounnng policies set our therein We have also audited
the information 1n the directors’ remuneration report that 1s desuribed as having been audited

Respecuve responsibilities of direcrors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report, the directors’ remuneration report and the tinancial staternents 1n
accordance with applicable law and Internanional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Umion are set out
in the statement of directors’ responstbilities

Qur responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneranon report to be audited 1n accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) This report, including the opinion,
has been prepared for and onlv for the company s members as a body in accordance with Sectionn 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and
for no other purpose We do not, in giving this opimon, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person

to whom this report 15 shown or mto whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 1n writing

We also report to you our opimon as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial starements
and the part of the directors’ remuneraton report to be audited have been properlv prepared in accordance with the Companes Act 1983
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We report to vou whether, 1n our opinion, the information
grven mn the directors’ report 15 consistent wich the financial statements The information given 1n the directors’ report includes that
information presented i the charrman's statement, the operating review and financial review that 1s cross referred trom the busmess
review section of the directors” report

In addition we report to you if, 1n cur opimion, the companv has not hept proper accounting records, if we have not recerved all the
mformanon and explanations we require for our audir, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneranon and other
transactions 1s not disclosed

We review whether the corporate governance starement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined
Code (2003) speaified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we reporr if it does not We are not
required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal contral cover all nsks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corpoiate governance procedures or 1ts nish and control procedures

We read other mformation contamned 1 the annual report and consider whether it 15 consisrent with the audited financial statements
The other nformation comprises only the directors’ report, the directors’ responsibilities statement, the unaudited part of the directors’
remuneration report the chairman’s statement, the operating review, the financial review and the corporate governance statement We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements Cur responsibilities do not extend to any other informanon

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internanonal Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland} 1ssued by the Auditing Practices

Board An audit includes exammation, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited Ir also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the directors in the preparanion of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate 1o the Group's
and company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the informanon and explanations which we considered necessary 1n order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration
report to be audited are free from material musstatement, whether caused bv fraud or other 1rregularty or error In formemg our opinion
we also evaluared the overall adequacy of the presentation of informanen 1n the financial statements and the parr of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited

Opimion
In our opimon

¢ the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, i accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2007 and of 1ts prafit and cash flows for the vear then ended,

 the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, 1 accordance with 1IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
as applied 1n accordance with the provisions of the Compames Act 1983, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as
ar 31 March 2007 and 1ts cash flows for the vear then ended,

* the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been property prepared n accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and Articie 4 of the IAS Regulations, and

.t forma gnn gnven n the directors’ report 1s consistent wath the finaneial starements

WA LA s, w2
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
Birmingham
5 June 2007
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Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 March 2007

7006
2007 {restared}
Notes £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 1 8§99 0 8193
Cost of sales (838 1) (754 6}
Gross protit 6U Y 647
Other operating income 424 24
Admimstranive expenses 153 6) {46 2)
Operating profit 1 497 209
Interest recervable 5 37 16
Interest payable and sumular charges 5 (93} (69)
Profit before mcome tax 441 156
Analysed as
Underlying profit befere exceptional 1tems 1 12§ 154
Exceptional operating income 4 407 22
Exceptional admimstrative expenses 4 (91) (20}
Profit before income rax 441 16
Income tax 6 >3 (38
Profu for the year from continumg operanions 49 4 118
Discontinued operations 4 (70 -
Profut for the year 47 4 118
All profits are artributable to equiry shareholders of the company '
200, 2006
IvOLes Ly £
Dividends per share paid 1n the year at 3 65 pence per share (2006 3 65 pence per share) 7 96 96
2607 006
Nows pence price
Earnings per share 8
From continuing operations
- basic 18 66 4 46
- diluted 18 36 443
From continuing and discontinued operanions
- basic 17 90 4 46
- diluted 17 62 443
Earnings per share before exceptional items 1s disclosed m note 8
Statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 March 2007
Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2008
Netes £fm £m £m £m
Exchange translanon effect on foreign currency net investments {04) 01 - -
Taxation on foreign currency exchange differences (02) 01 - -
Actuarial gain/(loss) recogmised 1n the pension scheme 29 68 (107) - -
Deferred tax relating ro pension liabiity 17 - - -
Net income/(expense) recognised directly 1n equity 79 (10 5) - -
Profit for the year 47 4 118 70 41
Total recogmsed mecome and expense for the year 553 13 70 41

There were no changes recogmised directly mn associares’ equity in 2007 or 7006
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Balance sheets

as at 31 March 2007

Group
Group 2006 Company Company
2007 (restared) 00/ 2008
Notes Im m £ £fm
Non current assets
Goodwill 10 66 8 687 - -
Other intangible assers 11 82 82 01 -
Property, plant and equipment 17 1102 1397 01 U2
Investment 1n subsidiaries 15 - - 1514 150 4
Investment 1n assoclates 14 07 07 - -
Deferred tax assets » 156 139 - -
Trade and other receivables 17 32 32 3189 292 3
Finance lease receivables 15 131 130 - -
217 8 247 4 4705 442 9
Current assets
Inventones 16 207 169 - -
Trade and other receivables 17 164 0 1490 44 58
Current tax recervables 12 27 - 30
Cash and cash «quivalents 18 1390 561 189 41
Finance lease receivables 15 25 22 - -
327 4 27269 233 129
Current habihities
Trade and other payables 19 (178 %) {161 9} (6 /) {59)
Current rax hahhtes (28) (2 3) (18) -
Financial liablities - short term borrowings 20 (79 8) (9 4} (75 8) (02)
Short term provisions 2 (18 6) {14 4) (8 9} {7 5)
2807y (188 0) (93 2) (13 6)
Short rerm provision 1n respect of business disposed of in an earlier year 4 (20 - 20 -
(2827) (188 0) (95 2) (13 6)
Net current asscts/({Liabihties) 447 389 (719 {07
Total assets less current habilities 2625 786 3 3986 4422
Non current habilities
Long rerm payables 19 (2 8) (11) (1232) {125 2)
Financial habilinies - long term borrowings 20 (98 6) {141 0} (91 4) (131 %)
Retirement benefit obliganons 29 (49 2) (72 9} - -
Deferred tax habihines 2 (7 7} {14 7} - -
Long term provisions 22 (4 0) 27) - (0 1)
(162 3) (232 43 (214 6) (256 8)
Net assets 1400 2 539 1840 1§54
Equity
Called up share capial 3 25 746 74 6 746 74 6
Share premium account 5 43 8 438 438 438
Capital redemption reserve 25 38 38 38 38
Retammed earnings and translation reserve 25 (22 0) (68 3) 618 632
Total shareholders’ equuty 10602 539 1840 1854

Approved by the board of directors on 5 June 2007 and signed on 1its behalf by

Directors

Stewart Qades
Juhan Steadman

A Jadaen
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Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 March 2007

Group
Group 2006 Company Company
1007 (restated) 2007 2006
Notes im £m £m £m
Net cash from operating acuvitics
Operaung profit 497 209 {02) {(06)
Adtustments for
Exceptional operating costs 21 20 08 04
Exceptional profit on disposal of non current assets (26 0) (22) - -
Exceptional past service pension credit (14 7) - - -
Profit on disposal of non current assets o (14 - -
Depreciarion and amortisation of non current assets 217 233 01 -
Emplovee share based payment schemes charge 06 035 02 -
402 431 09 {02)
Movements i workmg capital and provisions (33 (4 2) (26 8) {13
Difference between pension charge and cash contriburions 22) (03 - -
Cash outflow from exceptional items excluding
proceeds on exceptionel disposal of non current assets 44 31 05} {04
Net cash generated from/{used 1) operations 301! 352 (26 4) (19
Interest paid (79 (7 0) (75 (5 6)
Interest reccived 27 16 194 120
Income tax repard/(paid) 02 (7 3) 23 (37)
Net cash generated from/{used in) operating activities 751 223 (172) 18
Cash flows from mvesting activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (16 1) {18 4) 01 -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment* 5212 71 - -
Overdraft acqured with subsidiary undertakings - on - -
Dividends recerved from subsidiary underrakings - - 12 -
Ner cash generated from/{used 1n) investing acavities 361 (114) 11 -
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from new borrowings 01 1377 - 137 2
Repay ments of horrowings (37 0) (137 9) {39 9) {139 6)
Capital element of finance lease rentals (22) (18 - -
Dividends paid (9 6) (9 6) (98) (9 6)
Nert cash used m financng acnvites {48 7) (12 1) (49 3) (12 0)
Increase/(decrease) in net cash and cash equivalents 125 17 {60 8) {107
Net cash and cash equivalents ar 1 Apnl 308 215 31 133
Exchange gamns on cash and cash equivalents (0 7) 03 - -
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 626 208 (57 3) 31

“Includes £49 5m (2006 mnil} in respect of exceptional disposal of non current assets
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and IFRIC interpretations
and with those parts of the Companies Act 198> applicable to companies reporting under IFRS The financial statements have been
prepared under the histonical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and habilities held for trading The Group
has made use of the exemption available under IFRS 1 to only applv IAS 32 and IAS 39 from 1 April 2005 A sumumary of the more
important Group accounting policies 1s set out below

rrior period comparative nigures have been restated ro retlect a re analysis ot £0 4m berween adminustrarive expenses ana cost ot sales
m order to give a more meammngful and consistent comparnison

The preparation of financial statements m conformutv with generally accepred accounung principles requires the use of esumates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabihties and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilizies at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Although these estimates

and assumptions are based on management s best knowledge of the amount, actuzl results ulumately may differ from those estunates
Estimates are principallv used when accounting for pension costs, the useful econemic lives of fixed and intangible assets provisions

and, mn certam mstances, 1 revenue recognition

First nme adopuon of [FRS
The exempuons from full retrospective applicanon available under IFRS 1 that were taken when the companvy adepted IFRS were

* Business combinations
* Cumulatve translavon differences
* Share based paymenr transactions

Changes n accounting policies

1 he accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the annual report and accounts for the year ended 31 March 2006, as
described n those accounts, excepr for the adopnion of the following Standards and Interpretations mandatory for accounnng penods
beginning on or after 1 Apnil 2006

IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluaneon of mineral resources

[FRIC 4 Determunmng whether an arrangement contaimns a lease

IFRIC 5 Rughts to interests anising from decommissioning, restoration and environmental rehabilitatron funds
IFRIC & Liabshities arising from participating 1n a specific market — Wasre electrical and electronic equipment
IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under 1AS 29 ‘Financial reporting in hypennflationary economaes’

The adoption of these Standards and Interpretations did not have a significant cffect on the Group’s resuirs and financial positon for

the period ended 31 March 2007, with the exception of IFRIC 4 which led to the reclassification of certain property, plant and equipment
nto finance tease receivables Revenue, depreciation and cost of sales figures also changed 2006 comparanves have been restated
accordingly with a reducuion 1n revenue and depreciation within cost of sales of £1 4m, property, plant and equipment redeced by £3 3m,
intangibles by £0 1m, and finance lease receivables within current assets increased by £0 8m and within non current assess by £2 6m
respectively Cash flows have been reclassified between working capiral, depreciation and purchase of property, ptant and equipment
There 1s no profit impact or net asset impact

Conschdation

{a) Subsidiaries

Subsidianies are all enuties (including special purpose entitics) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanyng a shareholding of more than 50% of the voring rights The exstence and effect of potental voumng nights
thar are currentlv exercisabl. or convertible are considered when assessing w hether the Group controls another entitv

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group Thev are de consohdated from the date
that control ceases

The purchase method of accounung 1s used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group The cost of an acqusition 15 measured
as the fair value of the assets given, equity mstruments 1ssued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the dare of exchange, plus costs directlv
artributable to the acquisinon  Identfiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent habilities assumed 1n a business combinanon are
measured mmtiaily at their fair values at the acquisition date, wrrespective of the extent of any mmornity mterest The excess of the cost of
acquisiien over the farr value of the Group’s share of the 1dentifiable net assets acquired 1s recorded as goodwill If the cost of acqusition
1s Jess than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 15 recogmised directly i the income starement

Inter company transactions, balances and unreahised gains on transactions between Group companies are eluminared Unrealised losses
are also eliminared unless the transaction provides evidence of an impaiurment of the asset transferred Accounting policies of subsidiarzes
have been changed where necessary o ensure conaictency with +he policies adopted by the Group

(b) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant mfluence but not control, generally accompanying a sharcholding
of berween 20% and 50% of the voung rights

Investments 1 associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are inally recognised at cost The Group’s
mvestment 1 associates includes goodwill {net of any accumulated impairment loss) 1dentified on acquisition

The Group’s share of its associates’ post acquisition profits or losses 1s recogrsed n the income statement, and 1ts share of post acquisition
movements 1n reserves 1s recognsed 1 reserves The cumulative post acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the mvestimine Whes the Gxuup s share of lusses i b assULIALL L,L]lelb ©l BALERUs Lia ullelest w (he ddathidlg, u]dudmg any vilier wisetuled
recervables, the Group does not recogruse further losses, unless 1t has mcurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate

Untealised gatns on transactions between the Group and its associares are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest m the
assoclates Unrealised losses are also ehminared unless the transaction provides evidence of an umpairment of the asset cransferred
Accounnng policies of associates have been changed where possible to ensure consistency wirth the policies adopted by the Group
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Accounung pelicies contnued

{c) Joint ventuies

The Group’s interests 1n jointly controlled entities (1 e those m which decisions are made on a jont basis with no power of veto)

are accounted for by proportionate consolidanon The Group combimes s share of the yome venrure’s mdividual income and expense,
assets and habilities and cash flows on a line by hne bhasis with simular items 1n the Group's financial statements The Group recognises
the portion of gains and losses on the sale of assets by the Group to the joint vencure that s atnburable to the other ventures T'he
Group docs not recognise 1ts share of profits and losses from the joins venture that result from the Group’s purchase of assets from the
ramt venture until it resells the assers op to an mdependent narty However, 1 loss on the transaction 15 recognised mmmediately of the Inge
provides evidence of a reduction 1n the net realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss

Segment reporting

A business segment 1s a group of assets and operations engaged m providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business segments A geographical segment 15 engaged m providing products or services wichin
a particular economic environment that are subject to nisks and returns that are different from those of segments operating 1n other
ECONOMIC eNVLEONMents

Centrally incurred costs are allocated to business sectors based primanlv on the effort applied by the central funcnions where this can
be specifically measured with any balance being allocated pro rata on the basis of segment revenues and capial emploved

Foreign currency translation

{a) Functional and presentation currency

Itemns included 1 the financial starements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the functional currency, which s the local
currency in which the entity operares Lhe consolidated financial statements are presented i sterhng which 1s the company s functional
and presentarion currency

{b) Transactions and balances
The results and financial posinon of all the Group ennties (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationarv economy ) that have
a functional currency different from sterling are translated inte sterling as follows

(1} Assers and habilines for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate ar the date of that halance sheet,
{1} Income and expenses for each imcome statement are translated at average exchange rates, and
(i) All resulting exchange differences are recogmsed as a separate component of eguiry

On consolidanon, exchange differences anising from the translation of the net investment m foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency pstruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholder’s equity When a foreign operation 1s sold, such
exchange differences are recogmised m the income statement as part of the gan or loss on sale

Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and habilities of the foreign entity
and translared at the closing rate

The exchange rates used for the translatuon of euro nto sterling were

€uro £Uro
2007 2006
Average rate 148 146
Year end rate 147 143

Property, plant and equupment

Land and busldings comprise mainly logistics depots, warehouses and offices Land and buildings are shown at hisroric cost, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings All other property, plant and equipment 1s stated at histonical cost less depreciation Historical
cost mcludes expenditure that 1s directlv astributable 1o the acquisinion of the items

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recogrised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 1t 1s probable
that future econenuc benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the 1tem can be measured reliably All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the mncome statement dunng the finanaial period 1 which they are incurred

Depreciation 1s charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land, over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight line method, as follows

*

Commercial vehicles 15
Trailers 10
Other plant and machinery 6 67 20

Freehold and long leaschold buildings (with 50 years or more to run) are depreciated at 2% or 4% per annum straight hne Certain
speciahised buildings are depreciated at 4% per annum straight lme for 15 vears, and thereafter ar 2% per annum straight line for 20 vears

Assets 1n the course of construction are not depreciated
Short leaseholds are depreciated n equal annual instalments over the term of cach lease
The assets” restdual values and useful hives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date

An asset’s carrying amount 1§ written down immediarely to 1ts recoverable amount if the asset’s carrving amount 1s greater than its
esumarea recoverabie amount

The gain or loss anising on the disposal or retirement of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and 1s recognised in the income statement
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Intangible assets

fa) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of an acquisinon over the fair value of the Group’s share of the

net 1dentifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acqusinon Geodwill on acquisitions of subsidianes and joint
ventures 15 mcluded n intangible assets Goodwill on acquisitions of associates 1s included in investments 1n assoctates Goodwall 1s tested
ar least annually for impairment, or whenever there 1s an mdicanon of impairment, and 1s carried at cost less accumulared imparment
losses Gains and losses on the disposal of an ennty include the rarrving amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

(b} Computter software
Acquired computer software licences are capicalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring ro use the speafic sofrware
These costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives {3 to 6 67 years)

Costs assoctated with developing or maintaiming computer seftware programmes are recognised as an expense as mcurred Costs that
are directly associated with the producnion of ident:fiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably
generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as mtangible assers Durect costs include the software
development emplosee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads Computer software des elopment costs recogrused as assets
are amortised on a straight line basis over their esnmated useful hives (3 to 6 67 years)

Impairment of asscts

Assers that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amornsation and are tested annually for impairment Assets that are subject
10 amortisation are reviewed foi impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not

be recoverable An umpairment loss 1s recognised for the amount by which the asser’s carrying amount exceeds 1ts recoverable amount
The recoverable amount 15 the higher of an asser’s fair value less costs to sell and value 1n use For the purposes of assessing unpairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separatelv idenufiable cash flows (cash generaung umts)

Capitalisation of interest
The cost of financing major capital projects prior to generating revenues is included m the cost of the project and capitalised The interest
rate 15 specific to the actual rate payable in the country where rthe investment 1s made

Investments

The Group classthies 1ts myvestments 1n the following categories loans and recenvables, held to marunity investments, available for sale
financial assets and financial assets The classificanon depends on the purpose for which the 1mvestments were acquired Management
determines the classification of its investments at mitial recogmnion and re evaluates this designation at every reportng date

Inventones
Inventories are stated at weighted average cost for manufacrured goods for resale and on a first 1n, farst out basis for other stocks at the
lower of cost and net realisable value Cost includes an appropriate propornoen of overheads

Trade recenables
Trade recenables do not carry anv interest and are stated at thewr norminal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for esnmated
irrecoverable amounts

Financing arrangements
Amounts loaned to third parties n relanion to hnancing arrangements are treated as finance lease recen ables and are shown net
of interest receny able and any provision tor doubtfu] debts

The nrerest recervable on amounts due 1s credited to the mcome statement over the period of the loan and 1s caleulated based on the
average amount owing In the year and the rate implied 1 each finaneing arrangement

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call wath banks, other short term highly liquid investments wirh
ongmal maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings i current liabilines
on the balance sheet

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised imtially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently stated ar amornsed cost,
any difference berween the proceeds (net of transacnion costs) and the redemption value 1s recognised m the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest merhod

Barrowmngs are classified as current habilitzes unless the Group has an unconditional night to defer sertlement of the habilirs for ar least
12 months after the balance sheer dare

Taxation
The tax charge for the year comprises tax currently payable and deferred tax

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on taxable profit for the year, using tax rates thar have been enacred or substannally enacred
at the balance sheer date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect or prior vears

Deferred income tax 15 provided in full, using the liabihty method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets

and habilities and their carrying amounts in the consohidated financial statements However, if the deferred mcome rax arnses from imtial
recogmition of an asset or hiabiity 1n a rransaction other than a business combination that at the nme of the transaction affects nesther
accounting nor taxable profit or loss, 1t 15 not accounted for Deferred mcome tax 15 determuined using tax rates (and [aws) that have been
enacted or substannally enacted by the balance sheet date and are expecred to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 15 realised
or the deferred income tax liability 15 settled

Deferred income tax assets are recogmsed to rhe extent that it 1s probable that furure taxable profit will be avastable against which the
temporary differences can be utihised

Deferred income tax 1s provided on temporary differences arnising on mvestments i subsidianes and associates, except where the nming
of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlled by the Group and it 15 probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
m the foreseeable future
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Accounting pohicies conomued

Employee benehts

{a) Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates various pension schemes of both the defined benefit and defined contribution type which are established 1n accordance
with local conditions and practices in the countnes concerned

Payments to defined contribution schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due

For the defined benefit schemes, the coor of providing benefits 1s determined using the Projected Unut Method wrh actuanial valuations
being carried out every three years with an update for IAS 19 purposes at each balance sheet date Actuarml gans and losses are recognised
in full in the period 1n which they occur They are recognised outside profit or loss and presented in the Statement of Recogrused Income
and Expense

Past service cost 18 recogmised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise 1s amortised on a straight line
basis over the average period unnl the benefits become vested

The retirement benefir obligation recognised in the balance sheer represents the present value of the defined benefir obligation as adjusted
for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets Anv asset resulting from thus calculation 1s houted
to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reducnons in future contributions to the plan

(b) Share based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share Based Payments In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has
been applied to all grants of equity mstruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 Aprii 2605

The Group 1ssues equity settled share based payments to certain employees Equiry settled share based pavments are measured at fair
value at the date of grant The fair value deternuned at the grant date of the equuty settled, share based payments 1s expensed over the
vesting period, based on annually updated estimates of awards thar are expected to vest

Fair value 15 measured by use of the Monte Carlo simulation merthod

The Group also provides employees with the abiliv to purchase the Group’s ordinary shares at 80 per cent of the marker value ar
the nme of grant

(c} Termunation bencfits

lermination benefits are pavable when employment 15 terminated before the normal rerirement date, or whenever an emplovee accepts
volunrtarv redundancy 1n exchange for these benefits The Group recogmses termmation benefits when 1t 15 demonstrablv commutted
to either termmating the employment of current emplovees accordmng ro a detailed formal plan without possibality of withdrawal,

or providing termmation benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy Benefits falling due more than

12 months after balance sheer date are discounted to present value

{d) Profit sharing and bonus plans

the Group recogmises a liabilitv and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attnibutable
to the company’s shareholders after certain adjustments The Group recognises a provision where contractually obhiged or where there
15 a past pracrice that has created a constructive obhganon

(e} Holiday pay
A provision 15 made at each balance sheet date tor the amount the Group expects to pay 1n respect of any unused ent:tlement

Exceptional items

Items that are both material and non recurring and whose significance 15 sufficient to warrant separate disclosure and idenuficanon within
the financial statements are referred 1o as exceptional items and disclosed within thetr relevant 1ncome statement category Irems that may
give rise to classification as exceptional itemns mclude, but are not luruted 1o, sigmficant and matenal restructuring and reorgamsanon
programmes, asset impairments, profits or losses arising on disposals of businesses or propernes and hitigation settlements

Provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recogmsed when the Group has a present legal or constructive obhigation as a
result of past events, 1s more hhely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to sertle the oblhigation, and the amount has
been reliably esumated Restructuring provisions comprise lease terrmnation penalties and employee termination payments Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses

Where there are a number of similar obhgations, the hikelihood that an outflow will be required 1n sertlement 1s determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole A provision 1s recogmsed even if the likehihood of an ourflow with respect to any one item included

in the same class of obligations may be small Provisions are recorded for the estimated ulumate habiiiry thar 1s expected to anse,

taking into account the me value of money where matertal

Revenue recognition
Revenue s measured ar the fair value of the consideration receirved or recervable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services
provided 1 the normal course of hnsiness, net of value added tax, rehatec and discounts and after eiminaning sales within the Group

Certain distribution contracts obhge the Group ro purchase goods from third parties and sell them to the customer at cost The Group

15 rewarded for the physical distribution service provided but as the sale and purchase of the goods have no impact on the operatng profit
they are excluded from revenue and cost of sales Stocks, debtors less provisions for doubtful debts and creditors relating to such
transacnions are included in the consolidated balance sheet

Sales of goods are recogmised when goods are delivered and ttle bas passed

Sales of services are recogmsed 1n the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to completion of the speaific
transaction assessed on the basis of the acrual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided

Interest income 15 accrued on a time basis using the effective interest method When a recervable 1s impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at oniginal effective interest rate of the
mstrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income

Dividend mmcome from mvestments 1s recogmised when the shareholders right to receive payment have been established
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Leases

Leases in which a significant pornion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retamed by the lessor are classified as operating leases
Payments made under operaung leases (net of any incentives recetved from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on 2 strraight
line basis ever the pertod of the lease

Dhvidend distmbunion
Dividend distnbution to the company’s shareholders 1s recogmsed as a hability mn the Group’s financial statements in the period m which
the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders

Accounting for dervative financial 1nstruments and hedgmmg activinies

Dervatives are ininiallv recognised at fair value on the date a dernvative contract 15 entered mto and are subsequently re measured at their
fair value The method of recognising the resuling gain or loss depends on whether the derrvatve 1s designated as a hedging instrument,
and if so, the nature of the tem being hedged The Group designates certain dertvanives as eicher (a) hedges of the fair value of recogmsed
assets or hahihities or a firm commutment (fair value hedge), {b) hedges of highly probable forecast transactions {cash flow hedges),

or (c) hedges of net investments n foreign operations

The Group documents at the inceprion of the transaction the relanonship between hedging instruments and hedged wems, as well as us
nsk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions The Group also documents 1ts assessment, both at
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivanives that are used m hedging transactions are highlv effective 1n offsetting
changes mn fair values or cash flows of hedged 1ems

{a) Fair value bedge
Changes n the fair value of dernvatnves that are designated and qualbfy as fair value hedges are recorded 1n the mcome statement, rogether
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or habiliry thart are attributable to the hedged risk

{b) Cash flow hedge
The etfectuve pornon of changes 1 the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualifv as cash flow hedges are recogrised
in equity The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 15 recognised immediately in the income statement

Amounts accumulated 1n equuity are recyveled 1n the income statement m the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss (for
instance when the forecast sale that 1s hedged takes place) However, when the forecast transaction that 1s hedged results in the recognition
of a non financial asser (for example, inventory} or a habihiny, the gains and losses previoush deferred in equity are transferred from
equity and mcluded in the mnal measurement of the cost of the asset or labiliy

When a hedging instrument expires or 15 sold, or when a hedge no longer meers the criteria for hedge sccounung, any cumulatne

gain or loss existing 1o equiry at that time remain m equity and 1s recogmised when the forecast transaction 1s ulaumately recognised in
the income statement When a forecast transaction 1 no longer expected 10 ocvur, the cumulative gam or loss that was reported wn equiry
1s immediately transferred to the mcome statement

At 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006 the Group had no cash flow hedges in place

f¢) Net mnvestment bedge

Hedges of net myestments tn foreign operations are accounted for simifarly ro cash flow hedges Any gam or loss on the hedging
mstrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge 1s recognised 1 equits, the gain or loss relating to the meffective portion
15 recogmised immediately m the 1ncome statement

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included 1n the income statement when the foreign operation 15 disposed of

{d} Derwatives that do not qualify for bedge acconntmg
Certain derivative wnsrruments do not qualify for hedge accounting Changes in the fair value of any dernivatne instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediatels in the mcome statement

Insurance
Claims under the Group's self msured policies 1n the UK are accrued on the basis of claims recened at the balance sheet date together
with an allowance for claims mcurred but not received
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Notes to the accounts

1 Segmental analysis

The Group’s primary reporting format 15 business segments and 1ts secondary 15 geographical segments The operanng businesses are
organised and managed separately according to the markets they serve

Revenue Segment result
Sales to Operating
Inter segment external protit betore bxceptional Operating
Gross sales sales customers excepuionaks 1tems. profic
Year ended 51 March 200/ fm im im m fm fm
Food and Consumer
UK 2567 31) 2336 10 4 2313 357
Salvesen Foods 44 6 - 44 6 Q3 04 07
Mainland Europe 1588 - 158 8 37 i13) 24
Total Food and Consumer 460 1 31 457 0 14 4 24 4 388
Transport
UK 168 1 (15) 166 6 (4 6) 91 45
Iberia 1306 09N 1797 19 10) 09
France 146 3 (06) 14> 7 6 4 - 64
Total Transport 4450 {30) 4420 37 81 113
Toral segment 9051 (6 1) 8990 181 323 506
Unallocared
Exceptional items — central - (@ 9) (0 9)
Operatng profit 181 316 497
Finance costs — net {56 - (56)
Profit before tax 12 5 316 44 1
Tax {0 6) >9 53
Profit for the vear from continuing operations 119 375 49 4
Loss from discontinued operations - {20} (20)
Profit for the year 119 53 4,4
Revenue Sepment resulkt
Sales tor
external Operatng
Cross sales Inter segment customers profic before Exceptional Operating
(restated) sales {restated) exceprionals ems prafnt
Year ended 51 March 7066 £m £m £fm £m £m im
Food and Consumer
UK 7201 (2 5) 217 6 86 77 10 8
Salvesen Foods 391 - 391 (¢ 2) - (0 2)
Mainland Europe 154 2 - 154 2 48 - 48
Total Foed and Consumer 4134 23) 4109 132 22 154
Transport
UK 1556 - 1556 (17) - (17
iberia 1221 03) 121 8 35 - 35
France 1311 01y 1319 57 - 57
Total Transport 408 8 (0 4) 408 4 75 - 75
Total segment 8§22 2 29 8§19 3 207 22 279
Unallocated
Exceputional items - central - 2m (20
Operaung profit 207 02 209
Finance costs — net (5 3) - (53
Profit before tax 154 02 136
Tax (4 4) 06 (38
Profit for the year 110 08 118

Revenue excludes sales of £33 Sm (2006 £66 5m) where the Group 1s obliged under certan logistics contracts to purchase goods on

customers’ behalf and sell them on at cost

Inter segment sales are priced at cost
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1 Segmental analysis continued

00/ 2006
Assets Goodwill Liabihoes Ner assets Assets Goadwill Liablivies Ner assets
Balance sheet £m £m £m £m £m £m m m
Food and Consumer
Uk 74 3 - (a2 ¥) 346 317 - (287) 5390
Salvesen Foods 795 - {55) 24 0 247 - (47) 200
Mainland Europe 657 - (37 2) 285 659 - {36 8) 291
Total Food and Consumer 169 7 - {82 6} 871 172 3 - (702) 1021
Transport
UK 546 - (24 6) 300 572 - {18 8) 384
Iberia 43 6 47 4 (322} 38 8 42 6 48 8§ {29 8) 616
France 413 194 (32 4) 283 48 5 199 (329) 355
Toral Transport 1395 66 8 {89 2) 117 1 148 3 687 (81 5) 1355
Total segment 3092 66 8 {171 8) 204 2 36 687 {151 7) 2376
Unallo.ated
Central 13 4 - (33 1) (19 7) 123 - (28 4) {16 1)
Discontinued operations - - 20) (20 - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 1390 - - 1390 561 - - 561
Tax and deferred tax halances 16 8 - {10 5) 63 16 6 - (17 0) {04
Rettrement benefit obligation - - (49 2) (49 2) - - (72 9) (72 9)
Financial habilities - - (178 4) {1,/84) - - {150 4) {150 4)
Total 478 4 66 8 (44> 0) 1002 405 6 a8 7 (420 4) 539
2006 7006
100, Capical 2007 Depreciatian/
Capuital expenditure Depreciation/ amortisanan
expenditure {restated} amornsaeon {restated)
£m fm m £m
Food and Consumer
UK 39 34 42 46
Salvesen Foods 09 06 12 13
Mainland Furope 24 35 50 52
lotal Food and Consumer 77 75 104 111
Transport
UK 30 31 51 55
Iberia 20 37 20 22
France 14 17 17 18
Total Transport 64 85 88 95
Totzal segment 136 160 192 206
Central 17 24 25 27
Total 153 18 4 217 233
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Nores ro the accounts continued

1 Segmental analysis continued

Geographical analysis
The sales analysis in the table below 15 based on the location of the geographical market which 1s not matenally different from the
geographical ongin

Revenue o _Se:gmc_nt assets _C:lpEI expendimre_
2006 2006
2007 trestated) 2007 2006 200, {restated)
£m im £m £m £m £m
UK 464 5 4122 172 0 1759 96 93
France 1940 177 9 842 919 24 35
Benelux 692 690 344 333 12 16
Ibera 1713 160 2 98 8 100 5 21 40
Total segment 8990 819 3 3894 401 6 153 18 4
Unallocated assets
~ Cash and cash equnalents 1320 561
— Tax and deferred tax balances 16 8 16 6
5452 474 3
Analysis of revenue by category
2007 2006
im fm
Sales of goods 439 367
Revenue from services 8551 782 6
8990 8193
2 Operating profit
Operating profit 15 stated atrer charging or {crediang)
Group Grroup Company Company
2007 006 2007 2006
£ “m £m fm
Employee costs {note 3} 3175 3082 33 38
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment
— owned assers 17 5 19 4 01 -
— under finance lease 10 10 - -
Doubtful debrs - 02 - -
Amortisation of intangibles 29 - -
Profit on sale of non-current assets (02) (14} - -
Exceptional operating income {note 4) (40 7) (22) - -
Exceptional operating cost {note 4} 91 20 08 -
Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£ £m £Lm £m
Operating lease rentals pavable
- Mimmum lease pavments 567 480 03 03
- Subleases (0 3) (07 - -
559 47 8 03 03

During the vear the Group {including 1ts overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group s auditors at costs as
detailed below

Group Group
2007 2006
£m £m

Auditors remuneration

Audit fees

— parent company and consohidation 02 02
— associates 03 03
Taxatton 02 02
Actuarial services 01 01
Corporate tmance transactions g1 Ul
11 09
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3 Directors and employees

Group Group Company Company
200+ 2006 2007 2006
Number Number Number MNumber
Average number of employees
United Kingdom 8,970 8,540 64 79
Conunental Europe 5,120 4,/05 - -
14,050 13,245 64 79
2007 2006
£|ﬂ £m
Employment costs during the year
Wages and salaries 2810 2595
Share based payments 06 035
Social security costs 378 360
Orther pension costs 12 8 122
3327 308 2
Past service pension credit (notes 4 and 29) (14 7) -
3175 3082
200 7006
£m £in
Key management compensation
Salaries and short term emplovee benefits 41 3¢
Termunacton benefirs 04 04
Post employment benefits 0s 04
Share based payments 04 02
34 46
The key management figures given aboye inciude direcrors, together with business unir heads and kev funcuonal heads
200, 2006
Lm im
Direcrors’ remuneration
Executive directors 10 09
Non executive directors 03 03
13 2

Disclosures on directors’ remuneration, pension entitlements and long term share tncentives required bv the Companies Act 1985,
those specified for audit by the UK Lisung Authority and the additional disciosures required under Directors” Remuneration Report
Regulanons 2002 are included 1n the remuneranon report on pages 27 to 31 which forms part of these financial statements

4 Exceptional operating income and cost

200+

2006

£m £m
Continuiag operations
Profit on sale of nen current assets 260 27
Past service pension credit (note 29) 147 -
407 22
Restructuring and site closure costs (21 {20)
316 02
Discontinued operations
Additional provision in respect of business sold in an earlier vear {2 0 -
296 02
Attributable rax 59 06
355 08

Restructuring costs in the vear include £7 8Bm (2004 ru]) m respecr af anerons leace cners
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Notes to the accounts continued

5 Interest receivable, interest payable and similar charges

1007 006
£m fm
Interest expense
Bank leans and overdrafes (79 (57)
Literest payable on finance leases 7 ©7;
Amorusation of 1ssue costs of bank loan {07) 035
Interest payable and similar charges (93 (69)
Interest recervable 37 16
Nert nterest payable (56) (53)
6 Income tax
100/ 2006
£m £in
Analysis of tax {credit)/charge 1n the year
Current tax
UK corporation tax (2 3) N
Oherseas tax 40 24
7 79
Deferred tax
UK i68) 9
Ohverseas (02) 18
(70) 09
Tax (credit)/charge 53 38
Analysed as
Tax on profit 27 38
Tax credit on exceptional admunistrative expenses (28) (0 6)
Tax credit on excepniona} profit on sale of non current assers 31) -
Prior year tax adjustments 21) 0s
Taxation 53 38
Tax on uems charged/{credited) 10 equity
200, 2006
£m fm
Current rax charge/(credit) on exchange movements offset in reserves 02 01
Deferred tax on penston deficit (17) -
Net tax credited to equity (15) 01)
The rax for the year 1s lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%) The differences are explaned below
2007 2006
fm fm
Profit before income tax on conunung operations 44 1 156
Muluphed by standard rate of corporatien tax 1n the UK of 30% (2006 30%) 132 47
Effects of
Adjustments ro tax 1n respect of prior period (21} 0s
Adjusument 1n respect of overseas rax rares 04 01
UK capital gains covered by relief / non taxable pension past service credit (1> 3) (10)
Other uming/disallowable 1tems (135) 26
Actual tax on profit (53) 38
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7 Dwvidends on ordinary shares

007 2006

£m m

Prior year final paid 2 45p per share (2006 2 45p) 64 64
Current year mtenm paid 1 20p per share (2006 1 20p) 32 32
Total 3 65p per share {2006 3 63p) (note 25) 96 96

The directors are proposing a final dividend 1n respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2007 of 2 45p per share which will absorb
£6 4m of shareholders’ funds If approved, the final dividend will be paid on 31 August 2007 to shareholders who are on the register
of members on 3 August 2007

8 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 15 calculated bv dividing the earnings attributable to ordmary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held 1n the employee share trust, which are treated as cancelled

The directors consider that the basic earnings per share from conttnumng operations before exceptional items provides a more meanngful
measure of underlying performance of the Group

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares m 1ssue 1s adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares The Group has four classes of dilutive potenual ordinary shares those share oprions granted to employees
where the exercise price 1s less than the average marker price of the company’s ordinary shares during the vear and the conungensly
1ssuable shares under the Group’s executive share option schemes, Long Term Incentive Plan and Deferred Share Bonus Plan

2007 2006
p{l‘s(_‘? pence
Contimung operations
Basic 18 66 4 46
Basic before exceptional items 449 416
Diluted 18 36 443
Discontinued operanions
Basic {0 76) -
Diluted {0 74) -
Continuing and discontinued opcrations
Basic 17 90 4 46
Diluted 17 67 443
200/ 2006
000 000
Average number of shares
Weighred average ordinary shares in 1ssue during che year 765,292 263,264
Shares owned by the Christian Salvesen Employee Share Trust (>25) {438)
Werghted average ordinarv shares used wn basic earnuings per share calculanon 264,/67 264,726
Dilutive potential ordmary shares 4,266 1,917
Dilured weighted average number of shares mn year 269,033 266,638
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Notes to the acounts continued

9 Profit of parent company

700/ 2006
£m £m
The amount of the consolidated profit for the financial year dealt wath 1n the accounts of the parent company 15 70 41
As permitred by section 230 of the Companies Act 1983, no income statement 1s presented for Chrisnan Salvesen PLC
10 Goodwill
00/ 2006
£m £fm
Cost
At 1 April 687 675
Exchange adjustments (19} 1?
Net book amount ar 31 March 668 687
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to cash generatng unuts 15 as follows
200+ 7006
£m m
Transport lberia 47 4 48 8
Transport France 194 199
Total 668 687

The Transport lberia goodwnll of £47 4m relates to the acquisition of Gerposa m 1999 The Transport France goodwill of £19 4m relates
to the acqusition of Darfemlle in 2001 The cost of Gerpesa {including acquisition costs) was £69 4m and the cost of Darfeulle
{(including acquisinion costs) was £19 Om

All of the recoverable amounts were measured based upeon value 1n use calculations The calculations were based upon cash flow
projections for the next 5 years for each cash generaung umt using approved budget figures for the vear to 31 March 2008 and the
strategic plan for the years ended 31 March 2009 and 7010 Subsequent cash flows have been mcicased at a rate of 3% The cash flows
were discounted using a post tax risk adjusted discount rate of 7 1%

In the case of Gerposa, if the discount rate were to mncrease to 8 9% or the operating profit forecasts were reduced to 70% of those
projected, then the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount With Darfeuille, the discount rate would need to increase to
22 8% or operating profit forecasts reduced to 40% of those projected for the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount

There are no parent company related goodwill balances
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11 intangible fixed assets

Group Company
Internally
generated Other Other
software software Total sofrware
Lm £m £m m
Cost
At 1 April 2006 (restated) 107 158 260 -
Exchange differences - (02) 02z -
Additions — internally generated 24 - 24 01
Addinons ~ separately acquired - 09 09 -
Disposals - {0 1) (01) -
Transfer 2 {2 6) _ _
At 31 March 7007 152 138 290 01
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 2006 (restated) 80 28 178 -
Exchange differences - (01} (61) -
Charge tor the year 16 16 32 -
Disposals - (01) 1 -
Transfer 26 (? 6) - _
At 31 March 2007 122 86 208 -
Net book value at 31 March 2007 30 52 g2 01
Group Compinv
Internally
generated Other
software sottware Tota} Other
{restated) (restated) (restared) sofrware
£m fm £m £m
Cost {restated)
At Apnil 7003 88 14 8 236 -
Exchange differences - 02 02 -
Addinions — internally generated 20 - 29 -
Additions — separately acquired - 08 08 -
Disposals (06) - (0 6) -
At 31 March 2006 102 158 260 -
Amortisation (restated)
At 1 Apnl 2005 66 86 152 -
Exchange differences - 01 01 -
Charge for the year 20 09 79 -
Disposals (06) 02 (O 4) -
At 31 March 2006 80 98 178 -
Nert book value at 31 March 7006 22 60 82 -
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Notes to the accounts contimued

12 Property, plant and equipment

Group Company
Land and Mant and Plant and
buildings Vehicles machinery Total machtnery
£m fm £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnil 2006 (restated) 149 2 66 3 160 5 3762 13
Exchange differences (1 6} {0 9} (12) (37)
Addimons 10 15 92 120 -
sposals (27 8) {92} (11 5) {48 5) -
Transfer {0 2) 01 03 - -
At 31 March 2007 120 6 578 157 3 3360 13
Depreciation
At 1 April 2006 (restated) 64 4 47 2 124 9 2365 11
Exchange differences (07} {06} (09 (22) -
Charge for the vear 41 54 90 18 » 01
Lispasals 91) {7 8) (10 1) (27 0) -
At 31 March 2607 587 44 2 1729 2258 12
Net book value ar 31 March 2007 619 136 344 1102 01
Group Company
Land and Plant and Plant and
burldings Vehicles machiners Total machmery
£m im fm m fm
Cost (restated)
At 1 Apnl 2005 149 2 750 172 8 397 9 13
Exchange differences 09 06 07 22 -
Acquisitinns - 03 [t 04 -
Addmons 31 38 87 1> 6 -
Disposals (40) (13 5} (72 4) (399 -
Transfer - 01 06 - -
At 31 March 2006 1492 663 160 > 3762 13
Depreciation (restated}
At 1 Apnl 2005 630 505 136 5 00 11
Exchange differences 04 04 04 12 -
Acquisitions - 01 01 02 -
Charge for the vear 46 63 95 204 -
Disposals 36) (101) (21 6) (35 3) -
At 31 March 2006 64 4 47 2 124 9 236> 11
Net book value at 31 March 2006 84 § 191 356 1397 02
Group Company
Land and Plant and Flant and
buildings Vehicles machiner Tortal machiery
£m Im £m £m m
Net book value of assets held under finance leases
At 31 March 20067 140 02 09 151 -
At 31 March 2006 150 05 11 16 6 -
Net book value ot capitalised interest
At 31 March 2007 04 - - 04 -
At 31 March 2006 07 - - 07 -
No interest was capitalised during the vear (2006 ml)
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12 Property, plant and equipment continued

2007 006
£m £m
Group
Analysis of the net book value of land and buldings
Frechold propernes 428 641
Leaschold properties with 50 years or more to run 16 18
Leasehold properties with less than 50 years to run 175 189
619 848
13 Investment in subsidiaries
200/ 2008
£m m
Company
Ac 1 April 1504 1504
Share based payments grants w respect of subsidiary company employees 10 -
Ar 31 March 1514 1504

Principal subsidiary underrakangs

The subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial position, 1 the opuuon of the direcrors, principally affected the figures shown
in these accounts and the maim countries in which they operate are shown below The directors consider that to give full paruculars

of all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length

All companues are wholly owned and corporated in the UK or in the principal country of operation (where this 1s outside the UK)

All subsidiartes are included i the consolidation

Salvesen Logistics Linmuted UK Chrisnian Salvesen Gerposa SA Spam
Christian Salvesen SA France Inverlerth Insurance Co Limuted*® Isle of Man
Chrisnian Salyesen (Belgiam) NV Belgium Inveralmond Insurance Limited* Ireland
Christian Salvesen Nederland bv Netherlands Darfeuille Associes SA France
* Direct subsidianies of the parent compam.
All shareholdings in the above are of ardinary shares or other equity capital
14 Investment in associates and jomnt ventures
Associates
The Group's mvestment 1 1ts sole 1ssociate, which 15 unlisred was as follows

1007 2006

im {m

Group
At 1 April a7 06
Share of profir after income tax - -
Exchange differences - 01
At 31 March 07 07

The Groups' investment 1n associated undertakings 1s accounted for using the equuty method and comprises a 25% holdmg in the 1ssued

share capital of Centro Logistico del Automovil SA, a Spanish logistics management company

Country of Assets Liabihines Revenues Profic interest held
Name INCOTPLTAtIoN £m Lm m £m %
2007
Centro Logistico del Automovil SA Spamn 65 (36) 49 02 25
2006
Centro Logistico del Automovil SA Spam 67 (3 ) 47 01 25

See note 33 for transactions between the Group and 1ts associates and joint ventures

The parent company holds no direct investment 1n associates
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Notus to the accounts continued

14 Investment in associates and joint ventures continued

Jomnt ventures
The Groups” joint venture holdings during the year were as follows

1) Salvesen Boxtel by, incorporated in the Netherlands - 2 50% joint venture with Dumeco by,
1) Salvesen T ongistica SA, incorporated i Spain — a 50% 1oint venture with Danone SA,

m} Salvesen Logisfashion SL mcorporated in Spain — a 50% jomnt venture with Logisfashion 5S4,
None of the above imvestments are held directly by the parent

1) On 30 November 2005, the parent mnvested £50,000 1n a 50% investment 1n the ordinary share capital of Holistica Solunions Limured,
a UK joint venture company with APL Logisttcs Limuted

The Group disposed of 1ts investment 1n Salvesen Boxzel by, ar the carrving value of its net assers, to uts jont venture partner, Dumeco
bv on 20 April 2007

In refanon to the Group’s inferest i jomnt ventures, the assets, habiliues, income and expenses are shown below

200+ 1004

£m fm

Non current assets 06 06
Current assets 114 108
Current habilines {(96) (8 6)
24 18

Income 49 8 46 4
Expenses {47 9) (44 3)
19 21

Tax {07} {07)
Share of post tax reselts from jomnt ventures 12 14

The Group’s share of Salvesen Logistica SA have been consolidated based on that company’s audited results to its statutory year end of
31 December 7006 and 1ts unaudited management accounts through ro 31 March 2007

The associates and joint ventures have no signsficant contngent habilines to which the Group 1s exposed

15 Finance leases (lessor)

The Group has a finance lease facility in place with a major customer for the long terin leasmg of loose equipment The lease carries

a vanable interest rate based on EURIBOR During the year the Group has adopted IFRIC4 ‘Determuning whether an arrangement
contans # lease” and this has led to further sumular assers being reclasstfied as finance lease receivables Prior year comparanves have been
restated accordingly

Present value of minimum lease payments

006
200 {restated)
Im ‘m
Amounts falhng due within one year 73 12
Amounts falling due beyond one vear
L ater than one year and no lazer than five years 93 80
Later than five years 38 50
131 130
The parent company holds no finance lease receivables
16 Inventories
2007 006
im £m
Raw matenal and consumables 43 4 4
Work in progress 62 46
Goods for resale and fimshed goods 100 79
207 169

The cost of inventories recogmised as an expense and included 1n ‘cost of sales’ amounted ro £42 5m (2006 £35 5m)

The parent companv holds ne mvencorv balances
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17 Trade and other recewvables

Groap Group Company Company
200/ 7606 007 2006
£m im £m {m
Amounts failing due within one year

Irade debtors 1472 1360 - -
Less provision for doubtful debts (4 0) (40) - -
Trade debtors — net 1432 1320 -
Amounts owing from subsidiary underrakings - - 01 23
Other debtors 98 105 43 34
Prepayments and accrued income 1190 65 - 01
164 ¢ 1490 44 58

Amounts falling due beyond one vear
Amounts owing from subsidiary undertakings - - 3189 2923
Other debtors 32 32 - -
32 32 3189 2923

Amounts falling due within one year include £0 7m (2006 £4 1m) of capital debtors and £1 Om (7006 £0 1m) of interest receivable

18 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Group Company Company
100, 006 200/ 7006
im fm im fm
Cash at bank and 1n hand 1120 418 - 23
Short term bank deposits 270 143 189 16
Cash and cash equivalents (for the purpose of the balance sheer) 1390 561 189 41
Bank overdrafts (76 4) >3 (76 4) (10}
Cash and cash equivalents (for the purpose of the cash flow) 626 508 (57 3) 31
The effective interest rate on short term deposits was 5 4% (7006 4 1%)
19 Trade and other payabies
Group Group Companv Company
200+ 1006 700/ 2006
im £m im £m
Amounes falling due within one vear
Trade payables 686 580 04 04
Bulls of exchange pavable 9 v 154 - -
Amounts owing to subsidiary undertakings - - 23 24
Other taxanon and social security pavable 301 275 - -
Other pavables 21¢ 207 - 01
Accruals and deferred income 201 403 40 30
179 8 1619 67 59
Amounss falling due beyond one year
Amounts owing to subsidiary undertakings - - 1232 1252
Other taxanion and social security payable i3 09 -
Other pavables 13 02 - -
28 11 1232 1252

Amounts falling due withm one vear include £0 9m (2006 £1 8m) of capital creditors, £1 4m (2006 £0.2m) of interest payable and

£1 1m (2006 ml) of outstanding costs wn respect of asset disposals

Chnstizn Salvesen PLC Annual Repert 2007

55




Nores 1o the accounts contimucd

20 Financal habilities — borrowings

Graup Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 7006
£m £fm £m £m
Non current

Bank borrowmgs (91 4) (1311 9 (91 4) 131 5)
Finance leases (72) (8 35) - -
{98 6) (141 0) (91 4) (131 5)

Current
Bank borrowings 11) (20) 06 08
Bank overdrafts (76 4) (53) (76 4) (16)
Finance leases (2 3) zn - -
{79 8) {94 175 8) omn
Borrowings (178 4) (150 4) {16/ 2} {1317)

Deduct
Cash at bank and 1n hand 1120 418 - 25
Short term deposits 270 143 189 16
1390 561 189 41
Net debt (39 4) (94 3) {148 3} (127 6)

On I September 2005 the Group put 1n place a commutted 3 year unsecured £157m loan facility During the year and following the cash
receipt from the UK property sale and leaseback, the facihity was reduced to £130m Interest on the facility 15 based on a margm above

LIBOR or EURIBOR dependent on the currency of any drawings

The Group discloses 1ts gross bank and overdraft balances despite any legal right of set off which may exist

Included 1n the Group’s borrowings set out above 15 £9 5m (2006 £11 6m} which 1s repayable under finance lease instalments

as shown below

2007 7006
Mimimum Mmimum
Jease pavments Inrerest Principal  letse pavments Interest Principal
Lm im £m £m m £m
Fixed rate leases
Less than one vear 20 04 16 20 05 13
Between one and five vears 38 03 55 77 07 70
78 07 97 12
Varnable rate leases
Less than one sear (v 0a
Between one and five years 16 24
More than five years 01 01
24 31
95 116
The :nterest on the vanable rate leases of £0 2m (2006 £0 1m) 15 based on a margin above EURIBOR
The currency of the financial habilities was as follows
Group Company
Totil sterling curo Tonal sterling euro
£m £m £m m im £m
At 31 March 2007
Finance leases %5 02 93 - - -
Other long term borrowmngs 914 {02) 91 & 91 4 (02) 91 6
Ovurdrafts and short term borrowings 7: 5 /38 17 s> B 758 -
178 4 758 102 6 167 2 7546 916
Group Company
Total sterling euro Tozal sterhng euro
£m £m £m m £fm £m
At 31 March 2006
Finance leases 116 - 116 - - -
Ozher long term borrowings 1315 {11) 1326 1315 (11) 137 6
Overdrafts and short term borrowings 73 45 28 02 02 -
1504 34 147 0 1317 {0 9) 1326

Christian Safvesen PLC Annual Report 2007 56



21 Financial instruments

Financial habilities - derivative financial instruments

In accordance with JAS 39 (Financial Inssruments Recognition and Measurement) the Group has reviewed all contracts for embedded
derivatives that are required to be separatelv accounted for if they do not meet certain requrements The Group did not 1dentify any
such derivatives

The Group elected 1o 1ake auvantage of the exemnpuon under IFRs 1 onty 1o apply EA> 32 (Financial instruments Disclosure and
Presentation} and 1AS 39 (Financial Instruments Recogmnion and Measurement} from 1 April 200>

The effective interest rates at the balance sheer dare and the periods it which interest bearing financial assers/(liabilities) are repayable
are as follows

Lffectne Total Within 1 year 1 2 years ? 5 years Oner 5 yesrs
Group nterest rate im £in {m £m £m
At 31 March 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 54% 1390 1390 - - -
Finance leases 6 4% {93) 23 {19) {5 2) on
Other long term borrowings 49% {91 4) - (91 43 - -
Overdrafts and short term borrowings 6 2% (77 3) {77 5) - - -
(39 4) 592 {93 3} {57 {01
Effective Total Whthin 1 year 1 7 vears 2 3 years Over > vears
G]’OUP Interest rate £m £m £m fm £m
At 31 March 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 4 1% 561 561 - - -
Finance leases 57% (11 &) 21 21) {(73) {01}
Other long term borrowings 4 2% (131 5) - 08 (132 3) -
Overdrafts and short term borrowings 4 3% {7 3) (#3) - - -
(94 3) 46 7 (13} (139 &) 01
Lifectnne Totas Within 1 vea 17 years 2 5 years Ower > veais
Cornpany nrerest rate m {m £m £m £m
Ar 31 March 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 4 9% 189 189 - - -
Other fong term borrowings 4 9% (91 4 - (91 4) - -
Overdrafts and short term borrowings 6 3% (75 8} (75 8) - - -
(148 3) (56 9} (91 4) - -
Eifecene Total Within 1 vear 17 vears 1 5 years Ouer 5 years
COITIPEI'IY nterest rate £m im £m fm im
At 31 March 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 20% 41 41 - - -
Other fong term borrowings 4 2% (131 5) - 08 {137 3) -
Overdrafts and short term borrowings 55% (02} (02) - - -
(127 6) 39 08 (132 3) -

All financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of finance leases, are subject to repricing within one year
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Nates to the accounts contmnued

21 Fimanaal instruments continued

Fair values of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments together with the book value shown in the balance sheer are as follows

200, 2006
Gross contract
amount Baok value Farvalue Book value Fair value
m £m £m £m £m

Assets/(habilities)

Derivatves — forward foreign exchange contracts 373 - 01 - -
Trade and other receivables - 164 9 164 0 149 O 1490

Cash and cash equivalents - 1390 1390 561 561

Trade and other pavables - {179 5) (179 3) (161 9} {161 9)
Orerdrafr and short term borrowimngs - (/9 8) {79 8) {9 4) (9 4)
Long term borrowings - (98 6) (98 6) (141 0) (141 0}

Estimanon of fair values
For all items, where the book value approximares to the fair value this 1s because of the short term matunity of the mstruments

Borrowing facthues
The Group has the following undrawn commutted bank facilicies available ar 31 March 2007

2007 006

£m £m

Expirtng between one and two vears 384 -
Expiring m more than two vears - 244

All of the undrawn cominuited bank tacilies are at variable rates
Al condinions precedent at the balance sheet date have been mert in respect of the available undrawn facilinies shown above

Credit and hgmdiry risk

The main credit nisk hes with the Group’s trade recervables Management have estimated the prowvision for doubtful debts based on prior
expersence and their assessment of the current economic environment Concentrations of credit nsk with respect to rrade recervables are
limited due to the Group’s customer base being large and unrelated Cred:t risk on bank balances and short term deposits 15 lunited as
they are held with authorised banks or short term investment funds with credir ratings approved by the board

Pricing nisk

The Group manages the price risk exposure on certamn of its large commodity purchases, such as fuel and energv, by applving wherever
practical, surcharge mechanisms mto 1ts customer contracts For other items, most customer contracts are subject to annual price review
in order to take account of general mflation and specific commodity pricing 1ssues

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk

The Group uses borrowings in euro ro hedge assets denominated in the same currency n order to manage the vmpact on the Group
balance sheet of exchange movements The foreign exchange gain of £3 3m (2006 £2 Om loss) on translation of the net borrowings into
sterking has been recogmsed directly in reserves On floating rate faciines, the Group 15 exposed to interest movements The board has
assessed this risk and does not see the exposure as significant On fixed rate facilities, the Group 1s exposed to fair values of cash flows
grven movement 1 exchange rates which the board has determined not o represent sigmficant exposure

The nterest rate and currency risk profile of the Group’s financial assets and habiliues ac 31 March were

200, 006
Total Hoaung rate Fred rate Totai Hoanng rate Fixed rate
£m fm £m ‘m £m fm

Sterling
Cash 106 9 106 9 - 258 258 -
Unsecured borrowings {75 &) {75 6) - 34 (3 4} -
Finance leases (07) - (02) - - -
311 313 {02) 22 4 22 4 -

Furo

Cash 321 321 - 303 303 -
Unsecured borrowings (93 3) {93 3) - (13> 4) (135 4) -
Finance leases 23 {24) 69 (11 6) {31} (8 5)
(70 5) (63 6) (69) (116 7} (108 2) (8 5)
(39 4) (323 {71} (94 3) (85 8) {8 5)

Short term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the information above
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22 Provisions

Released/unused

At 1 Apnl Charged n amoeunts At 31 March
006 Utihised the year reversed 00
im £m £m £m £m
Group
Reurement indemnity 11 - 01 - 12
Ununsured losses 90 31 33 - 94
Dilapidations 16 01) 06 03 18
Restructuring o7 {0 5) 26 (0 2) 26
Onerous leases - - 27 - 27
Holiday pay 40 {(31) 314 - 45
Other 07 (04) 01 -~ 04
171 {7 2) 132 (05 226
Analysis of total provisions
2007 2006
£m fm
Current 186 14 4
Non current 490 27
276 171
Releasedfunused
Ar 1 Apnl Charged m amounts At 21 March
004 Utilised the vear reversed 007
‘m £m £m £m fm
Company
Uninsured losses 7> (2 6) 33 - 84
Dilapidations 01 - 01 - 02
Restructuring - - 03 - 03
76 (2 6} - 89
Analysis of total provisions
200, 006
£m £m
Current 89 75
Non current - 01
89 76

Renirement indemnity

This represents the obligation to pay retirement compensanon to employees in France art the end of their working lives and 1s generally

due to be paid after more than one vear

Uninsured losses

The umnsured losses provision Is in respect of the cost of claims (principally for commercial vehicles and employer’s hability) which
are not msured exrernally, and fall below the excess of the Group’s insurance polictes Claims are strictly pasable within one vear but
the directors anticipare that payments will generally be made over the course of the next five years although some clauns can take

longer to settle

Dilapidations

Provisions are established over the hife of the lease for properties leased by the Group to cover remedial work necessary ar lease
terminanon under the terms of the leases Uulisation of this provision will be generally within the next 10 vears as the leases expire

Restructuring costs

As part of the exceprignal reargamisation of various Group activities, costs wee incurted, predomunaitly i the UK, m cestructuiing
both within the UK operations and the Group functions At 31 March 2007 some of this cost remained unspent although the costs

had been incurred and were expected to be settled shortly after the end of the period

Onerous leases

This represents an exceptional provision for residual lease commrtments on disused properties which management do not expect

1o be either unbised or sub let in the foresecable future

Hohday pay

This represents holiday davs accrued but not taken and 15 due to be paid within one year

Other

This primarily represents provision for contractual long service awards
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Notes to the accounts contnued

23 Called up share capital

2007 2005
£fm £m

Group and company
Authonised
320,000,000 ordinary shares of 25y SG G 900
Allotted, called up and fully paid
265,267,511 ordinary shares of 28'p each at 1 Apnl 2006 74 6 746
52,746 ordinary shares 1ssued during the year - -
265,320,257 ordinary shares of 28'sp each at 31 March 2007 74 6 746

During the vear 32,746 ordinary shares of 28'Ap were 1ssued and allotted for cash under the terms of the Christian Salvesen Savings
Related Share Option Scheme 1997 The aggregate nommnal value of the shares 1s £14,835 and the cash consideration received was
£23,736

Potential 1ssues of ordinary shares

Crrram semor execunives hold oprions ro subscribe for shares i the company at prices *anging from 3>3p 1o 146 >p under the executive
share option scheme approved by shareholders in 1997 No options were granted 1in 2007 The number of shares subject to oprions,
the periods n which they were granted and the peniods in which they may be exercised are given below

Exercise price Employees 00, 1006
lear of grant pence number Exercise perind Aumber numher
199, 108p 6 Apni 2007 to October 2007 01,473 1,058,435
1998 118 5p 1 Aprii 2007 1o June 2008 60 759 60,759
1999 175 5p 1 April 2007 to June 2009 71,713 137,450
1999 121p 8 Apnl 2007 to November 2009 347,481 411,695
2600 146 3p 6 Apnl 007 to June 2010 77.782 120,307
2000 132 5p 3 April 7007 to November 2010 67,923 67,923
2001 132p 3 April 2007 o June 2011 128,787 184,468
2001 91p 38 Apnil 2007 1o December 2011 1,620,468 1,987,228
2002 92 Hp 4 April 2007 to Julv 2012 114,594 303,783
2003 75p 7 April 2007 to January 2013 782,999 982,999
2003 ap 4 Aprtl 2007 to July 2013 99,543 154,086
2003 58p 19 April 2007 to December 2013 1,448,268 1,534,474
2004 60p 13 July 2007 10 2014 299992 316,658
2004 37p - December 2007 1o 2014 - 87,719

5,821,782 1,407,984

Christian Satvesen PLC Annual Report 2007 &0



23 Called up share caprtal continued

The option movements over the year are as follows

200,

006

Weighted average
exercise price

Veighted average
EXErCIse price

Nurnbker L ence p shoac “w'ropa pesshore
Qurstanding at 1 Aprnil 7,407,984 86 9p 7,667,789 86 8p
Granted - - - _
Lapsed (1,586,202) 933p  (259.805) 84 7y
Exercised - - - -
Qutstanding at 31 March 5,821,782 8y 1p 7,407,984 86 9p
Exercisable at 31 March Nil Nil

All UK employees with the appropriate qualifying service are ehigible to parucipate from time to nme n the Savings Related Share Opuon
Scheme 1997 No options were granted under the scheme during the year At 31 March 2007 options granted under the scheme were

held over a total of 4,429,345 (2006 5,078,680} ordinary shares of 28%p as follows

Exercise pnice Fmplorees 200/, 7006
Year of grant pence number Exeruse pertod number vurmher
200 45p 834 April 2008 to October 2008 4,459,34>  5,0/8,680

The oprion movements over the year are as follows

2007

2006

Weighted average
exercise price
“umber pence per share

W eighred average
EXErONE price
Number  pence per share

Outstanding at 1 April 5,078,680 43p 7,727,380 24p
Granted - - - -
Lapsed (566,589) 45p (",644,633) +3p
Exercised (52,746) 45p (4,267) 45p
Qutstanding at 31 March 4,459,345 4>p 5,078,680 45p
Exercisable at 31 March Nil Nil
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Notes to the accounts connnued

24 Employee share schemes

Share based payments

The Group has applied IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’ from 1 Apnl 2004 to those options which were 1ssued after 7 November 2002
and which had not vested by 1 Apni 2005 The Group 1s not required to apply the requirements of IFRS ? 1o epuions issued prior to
7 November 2002 and which had not vested by 1 Apnil 2005 as the fair value had not been publicly disclosed

Tor all schemes the expected volanlity 1s based on historical volanlity aata uver the previous 10 years The expecred ute 1s the average
expected period ro exercise The risk free rate value 15 the continuously compounding vield on Government Bonds as at the grant date

{a) Executive Share Option Scheme

The Executive Share Opuon Scheme (ESOS) was mtroduced in 1997 Under the ESOS the remuneranon committee can grant options
over shares 1n the company to Group employees Options are generally granred with a fixed exercise price equal to the market price of
the shares under oprion at the date of grant The contractual hfe of an option 15 10 years Awards under the ESOS are generally reserved
for emplovees at seruor management level and above There are no reload features The company has made regular grants since 1997 but
none since 2004 Options granted under the ESOS will become exercisable on the third anmiversary of the date of the grant, subject to
the growth in earnmgs per share over that pertod exceeding an average of inflation plus 3% and if the company’s TSR matches or exceeds
thar of the FTSE Mid 250 index (excluding mvestment trusts) Exercise of an option 15 subject to continued emplovment Opuions were
valued using the Monte Carlo simulation model Performance conditions were included 1n the fair value calculations on the basis that
those conditions will be met The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used 1n the calculation are as follows

10 January 2 juh 10 December 5 Julv 9 December
Grant date 2003 700, 2003 2004 2004
Share price at grant dare 26 5p 53p 58p 60p 57p
Exercise price 75p 55p >8p 60p 57p
Number of employees 9 11 25 16 1
Shares under oprion 1,169,666 340,448 1,594,818 333,323 87,719
Vesting period {years) 3 3 3 3 3
Expected volaulits 30 0% 34 2% 342% 34 1% 342%
Oprtion Life (years} 10 10 10 10 10
Expected life (years) 5 5 3 5 5
Rush [ree rate 4 4% 4 4% 4 8% 49% 4 4%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 6 0% 6 0% 6 0% 6 0% 6 0%
Fair value per opuon 5 04p 10 14p 11 38p 11 67p 9 90p

(b) Saings Related Share Option Schere

The Savings Related Share Oprnion Scheme 1997 (SAYE} was mrroduced in 1997 and 1s open to all UK emplovees with a qualifying
period of employment at the time options are made available Option prices are based on a 20% discount oser the mud price of the
company’s shares around the ume of offer and become exercisable on the third annnversary of the grant date Lhe life of an option
15 3 years and 6 months

The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used 1n the calculations are as follows

1, Februan

Grant date 05
MNumber 1ssued 5,481,373
Number of employees 1,056
Share price at grant date 65 25p
Option price 45p
Vestng period (vears) 3
Expected volatihry 40%
Option lfe (vears) 35
Rusk free rate 4 58%
Expected forfeirure (% pa) 50%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 6 0%
Fair value per option 2173p
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24 Employee share schemes continued

{c) Deferred share bonus plan

The deferred share bonus plan was intreduced following its approval at the 2004 AGM At target performance level, partucipants
recewve a share based bonus which in normal circumstances will vest after a 3 year period but will lapse if during that 3 vear period

the indiidual chooses to leave the company In addition, these individuals are also entitled to a matching award ar the end of the 3 year
peniod depending on the achievement of stretching performance targers based on total sharcholder return (TSRY with an earmings per
share (EPS} underpin For one to one matching, TSR performance must be in the upper quartile against a peer group of comparator
companies (being the FTSE Mid 250 index excluding investment trusts) This reduces to a 25% match at the median level

The fair value of the deferred shares has been calculated using the binomial model For calculating the matching shares with the attaching
TSR performance condition the Monte Carlo medel has been used The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used 1n the
calculations are as follows

Deferred shares Martching shares  Deferred shares Marching shares  Deferred shares  Marching shares

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 5 July 8 Juh
Grant date 200 00 Y006 2006 005 004
Number issued 313,638 323,638 332,016 332,016 157,206 157,206
Number of employees 9 9 22 22 14 14
Share price at grant date 62 5p 62 5p 63 25p €3 7ap 6> op 6> 15p
Vesting period (years) 4 4 4 4 3 3
Expected volanliy % 35% 40% 40% 40% 40%
Opuon Life {years) 4 4 4 4 3 3
Expected hife {vears) 4 4 4 4 3 3
Risk free rate 512% 512% 4 4% 44% 4 58% 458%
Expected forferture {% pa} 50% 50% 50% 2 0% 50% 50%
Expected dividends expressed as 2 dividend yield 55% 55% 6 0% 6 0% 60% 6 0%
Fair value per option 5299 3220p 52 83p 3311p 54 50p 34 74p

{d) Long Term Incentive Plan

The Long Term Incentive Plan 2006 (LTIP) was introduced following 1ts approval at the 2006 AGM If rargets are achieved, based on the
attainment of average annua! growth m EPS, over a performance period of 3 years, of not less than 4% per annum in excess of inflation
{measured against the Retail Prices Index) then 25% of awards will vest 10% growth on the same basis would trigger 100% vesting
with awards vesting on a prorated basis for growth between 4% and 10%

Optiens are valued using the Monte Carlo simulation model [he fair value per opuon granted and the assumpuons used m the
calculations are as follows

10 January 11 August
Grant date 200 006
Number :ssued 109,569 2,355,756
Number of employees 1 17
Share price at grant date 67 Op 71 35p
Vesting period (years) 3 3
Expecred volatilizy 33% 40%
Option life (years) 3 3
Expected life (years) 3 3
Rish free rate 512% 6 0%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 55% 6%
Fair value per option )6 81p 597p

The total charge for the year relating to employee share based payment plans was £0 6m (2006 £0 5m)}, all of which related to equuty
share based payment transactions
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Notes to the accounts continued

25 Consohdated statement of changes in equity

Capizal

Share  Share premum redempnion Translanon Retamed Total

capnal aceount resenve reserve earnings equity

GrOI.lp im fm im fm £m £m
Balance at 1 Apnl 2003 746 43 8 38 07 (612) 617
Currency translation adjustments net of taxation - - - 02 - 02
Pension deficit movement net of taxation - - - - (10 7) {10 7}
Profit for the year - - - - 118 118
Total recognised income for the year - - - 02 11 13
Cost of share based payment - - - - 05 05
Dividend (note 7) - - - - {9 6) (9 6)
Balance at 31 March 2006 746 43 8 38 09 {69 2) 239
Balance at 1 Apnil 2006 746 43 8 38 a9 (69 2) 239
Currency translation adjustments net of taxation - - {06} - (0 8)
Pensinn deficit movement net of raxation - - - - 8 g
Profit for the vear - - - - 47 4 47 4
Total recognised mcome for the year - - - (0 6) 59 556
Cost of share based payment - - - - 06 06
Dividend (note 7) - - - - (9 6) (9 6)
Balance at 31 March 2007 74 6 43 8 38 03 (223) 160 2

Capntal

Share  Share premium redemption Reruned Total

apieal account resene earnings equiry

Company £m £m £m ‘m £m
Balance at 1 Apnl 2005 746 438 38 687 1909
Profit for the year (note 9) - - - 41 41
Total recogmsed income for the year - - - 41 41
Dhvidend {note 7) - - - (5 6} (%6}
Balance at 31 March 2006 74 6 43 8 38 632 185 4
Balance at 1 Apnl 2006 74 6 43 8 38 632 1854
Profit for the vear (note ) - - /0 70
Total recogmsed income for the year - - - 70 70
Cost of share based payment - - - 12 17
Duridend (note 7) - - - (96) (9 6)
Balance at 31 March 2007 74 6 43 8 38 618 184 0

Trans]ation reserve

Translation reserve 1s the cumulatve exchange adjustment on restating overseas net assets net of eachange gams/losses on hedging ner

OVErseas assets
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26 Analysis of Group net debt

Ar 31 March Exchan e Ar 31 March
006 Cash flow adjustment 2007
£m £m £m £m
Cash
Cash at bank and 1 hand 41 § 709 0w 1120
Overdrafts (53} (711) - (76 4)
365 02) {07) 356
Liqund resources
Short term deposits 14 3 127 - 270
Total net cash and cash equivalents 508 125 {07) 626
Fimancing
Debt due within one year (20) 09 - (11)
Finance leases due within one year 21} {02) - (23)
Debt due after one vear {131 5} 361 40 {91 4}
Fimance leases due after more than one year (95 23 - (72)
(145 1) 3921 40 (107 0}
Total net debt {94 3) 516 33 (39 4)
27 Analysis of balance sheet net debt position
200 06 Change m vear
£m £m tm
Cash and cash equivalents 1320 261 829
Overdrafts (76 4) (2 3) (71 1)
Net cash and cash equivalents 626 208 118
Short term loans 1 (20) 09
Long term loans {91 4) (131 5) 401
Finance leases 95 {11 6) 21
{39 4) {94 3) 34 9
28 Group summary cash flow
2006
2007 (restared}
£m im
Operaung profit 497 209
Depreciation and amortisanion of non current assets 21 ¢ 233
Exceprional operating costs 91 20
Exceptional profit on disposal of non-current assets (26 0) (22)
Exceptional past service pension credit (14 7} -
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and excepuional items (FBITDA) 398 440
Employee share based payment schemes charge 06 0>
Profit on dispesal of non current assets (0 2) (14)
40 2 431
Changes in working capital
— {Increase}/decrease mn inventories (39) 07
— Increase 1n recevables {21 9) 89)
— Increase in payables and provisions 223 37
Increase 1n working capital (35) (4 3)
Difference berween pension charge and cash contributions {22) (0 3)
Interest & tax paid/received 150) (12 %)
Excepuonal costs {4 4) {(31)
Fixed asset receipts 522 71
Capital expenditure (16 1) {18 4)
Free cash flow 612 110
Acquisiions and disposals - 101)
Dividends paid (2 6) {9 6}
Net cash flow alé 13
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Notes to the accounts LOﬂt]ﬂuEd

29 Pension commitments

The Group operates & number of pension schemes invelving defined benefir and defined contribunon schemes The total pension cost was
£12 8m (2006 £12 2m) before taling account of the £14 7m exceptional past service credit in respect of the UK defined benefit scheme
Of this £5 5m (2006 £6 6m) relates to the UK defined benefit scheme The assets of the schemes are held in separate trustee admimistered
funds The UK defined benefit scheme was restrucrured during the year with a cap put in place over future salary mcreases This led to a
one off past service credir of £14 7m bemng credited to the tncome statement

In the UK, the ma:n scheme 1s of the defined benefit type and pension costs are assessed with the advice of qualified actuaries, using the
projected unit method

An actuanal gain of £6.8m (2006 loss £10 7m) has been credited 1n the consohdated statement of changes in equity This principally
anses due to an increase 0 the discount rate used for the measurement of scheme habilities

The amounts recognised 1n the income statement 1 the vear are as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

Current service cost 65 63
Past service credit (14 7) -
Interest cost 150 135
Expected return on plan assets (16 0} (13 3)
Defined benefir pension (credit)/cost (92} 66
Defmed contribution pension cost 73 56
lotal pension {credit)/cost mmcluded within employee costs {note 3} (19} 122

Of the toral charge £10 8m {2006 £10 6m) and £7 Om (2006 £1 6m) were included in cost of sates and admmistrative expenses
respectivelv The £14 7m exceptional past service credit 15 ncluded n other operating income

I he amounts recogmised n the balance sheet, along with the expected rate of return on scheme assets, are as follows

200, 2067 2006 2006 2005 2005

% pa £m Y% pa £m % pa £m
Equaties 8 0% 1917 7 7% 180 5 8 0% 1430
Corporate bonds 51% 29 475% 221 53% 186
Government bonds 4 5% 232 4 1% 721 4 4% 188
Other 4 7% 17 37% 20 3 7% 17
Total fair value of plan assets 7 4% 2390 71% 226 7 7 3% 1821
Present value of funded obhgations (*88 2) {299 6) (244 6)
Net retirement benefit ebligations - before tax {49 7) (72 9) {62 5)

The parent company holds no retirement benefit obhgations directly

The expected rate of return 1s based on market expectations at the beginning of the period for returns over the life of the benefit
obhgation The overall expecred rate of return is the weighted average of the expected return on each asset category

The major categories of plan assets as a percenrage of total plan assets are as follows

2007 2006 2005
Equines 80 2% 79 7% 78 5%
Corporate bonds 96% 98% 10 2%
Government bonds 9 7% 9 8% 10 3%
Other 05% 0 7% 10%

The last full actuarial valuation for the main defined benefit scheme, the UK scheme, on which the IAS 19 figures have been based was
at 31 December 2004 and has been updated to 31 March 2007 by an independent qualified actuary The principal assumptions used for
TAS 19 were

200 ¢ 2006 2005

Rate of increase 1n salanes 295% 36% 36%
Rate of increase in pensions ~ RPI up to 5% 29% 26% 26%
-RPlupto2 §% 225% 25% 25%

Discount rate 54% > 05% 5355%
Inflanon assumption 295% 26% 26%

The changes made to the scheme during the year mcluded a cap on pensionable salary increases {excluding promotional increases) and
furure increases will reflect price inflation up to a maxamum of 5% each year
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29 Pension commitments continued

Average hife expectancy (in years) used to determine benefit obhigations was

007 006
Male Female Male Fernale
Member agud 65 {current hic expectancy} 18 2. 18 21
Member aged 45 {hife expectancy at age 65) 20 23 20 23
Analysis of the movement in the balance sheet deficut
200, 1006
£m m
At 1 Apnl (72 9) (62 5)
Credit/(charge) to income statement 92 (6 6)
Actuarial gainf({loss) 68 (10 7)
Contributions pasd 77 69
At 31 March (49 2) {72.9)
Cumulative actuanial gains and losses recognised in equiey smce 1 April 2004
2007 2006
£m £m
At 1 Apnl (9 5) 12
Nert actuarial gams/(losses) recogmsed i the year 68 (107}
At 31 March (27) (95)
Analysis of the movement 1n the fair value of scheme assets
200 2006
£m £im
At 1 Apnl 2267 1821
Fxpected return on plan assets 16 ¢ 133
Benefits paid (84) {72)
Member contnibutions 3 26
Emplover contributions 7 69
Actuarial (loss)/gain (6 35) 290
At 31 March 239 ¢ 2267
The actual return on assets in the year was £9 5m (2006 £42 3m)
Analysis of the movement 1n the present value of obhgations
2007 2006
£m fm
At 1 Apnil (299 6) (244 6)
Current service cost (6 35) (6 3)
Past service credit 147 -
Interest cost (150 (13 6}
Benefits paid 84 77
Member contributions {33 (26)
Actuanal gan/(loss) 133 {397)
At 31 March (2882)  (2996)
Amounts recogmsed in the statement of recognised income and expense
00, 2006
£m fm
Difference berween actual and expected return on pension scheme assets (63) 290
Experience gains and losses anising on schemne lrabilities 1> {23)
Impact of changes m assumptions on scheme llabilhines 11 8 (37 4)
Actuanal gam/(loss) 68 {10 7)

The estimated employer defimed benefit conttibutions for the year ended 31 March 2008 are £7 2m
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Notes to the accounts contnued

29 Pension commitments continued

2007 2006 2005 2004 7003
fm £m tm £m £fm
Fair value of scheme assets 2390 2267 1821 1637 1295
Present value of defined benefir obligations (288 2) (299 6) (244 6} (226 6) (2159
Deficit i the scheme (49 2) (72 9) (62 5) (62 9) (86 4)
Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amount (£m) (6 5) 290 53 207 49 7)
Percentage of scheme assers (2 7%) 12 8% 29% 12 7% (38 4%)
Experience adjustments on scheme habilities
Amount (£m) 15 (23) 11 (13) 31
Percentage of scheme liabilittes 05% (0 8%) {0 4%) {0 6%) 15%
Impact of changes 1n assumptions of scheme liabilines
Amount (£m) 118 (37 4) (30) 262 (74 2)
Percentage of scheme habilines 41% (12 5%} (12%) 11 6% (34 4%)
30 Future commitments
Caprtal expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred 15 as follows
Group Company
200/ 2006 2007 2006
£m m Lin £m
Property, plant and equipment 39 49 - -
Intangible assets — computer sofrware - 05 - -
39 34 - -
31 Operating lease commitments
200/ 7006
Velucles plant ‘ehicles plant
Properny

Properts  and equipment
£ fm

£m

and equipment
£

m 1l

Commitments under non cancellable operating leases due
Within one vear 223 191 119 173
Later than one year and less than five years 64 3 389 423 378
After five years 693 10 513 19
1559 520 105 5 568

The Group sublets vanious leased properues that are no longer required for 1ts current operations The mimmum amounts recetvable

under non-cancellable subleases 1s as follows

1006

im £m

Within one year 03 03
Later than one vear and less than five years 10 13
After five years 83 74
26 90
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32 Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s calculated 1n full on temporary differences under the Lability method using the relevant tax rate for each junsdiction
The gross movement an the deferred rax account 1s as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

At 1 Aprnl {0 8) 01
Credited directly to equuty 17 -
Credited/(charged) to income statement 70 (09)
At 31 March 79 {0 8)

The movements 1n deferred tax assets and [1abihinies during the year, without taking nto consideration the offserting of balances 1n the
same 1ax jurisdiction {as permiutred by IAS 12) are shown below

Accelerared tax

depreciation Other Toral
i £m fm

Deferred tax habthities
At 1 Aprii 2006 {14 4) {03) (14 7)
Credited to income statement 68 02 70
At 31 March 2007 (7 6} (01} (77

Reorement benefit
obhganens Tax losses Other Total
fm “m £m £m
Deferred tax assets

At1l Apn} 2006 131 06 02 139
Credited directly to equity 17 - - 17
At 31 March 2007 148 06 02 156

Deferred tax assets have been recogmsed 1n respect of tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets only
where the directors are of the opimion that it 1s probable thart these assets will be recovered In the case of the UK defined benehit pension
scheme defiair, the full amount (2006 £13 1m) of a potenual deferred tax asset of £14 8m (2006 £21 9m) has been recogrised, being the
directors best estunate of the asset recoverable 1n the foreseeable future

The parent company holds no deferred tax balances

In his budget of 21 March 2007 the UK Chancellor proposed a number of changes to UK tax legislation that would impact the Group s
balance sheet The most significant of these changes for the Group would be the proposed reduction i the mamstream rate of UK
corporation tax from 30% ro 28% from April 2008 and withdrawal of allowances on industrial buildings These proposed changes have
not been reflected i Group’s balance sheet at 31 March 2007 since they were not enacted or substantisely enacted at thar dare

The legislation ro enact these proposed changes has not currently been published, however the expected 1impact of these changes on the
Group’s ner deferred tax asser are as follows

A reduction n the net deferred tax asser of £0 7m 10 respect of those temporary differences forecast to reverse after 1 April 2008,
when the change 1n rate ts expected to become effective

An increase 1n the deferred tax hab:hrv 1n respect of accelerated capiral allowances of £2 9m as a result of the reduced tax base for
mndustnal buildings

The proposed legislative changes are not expected ro have any effect on the Group’s current tax assets and liabilities at 31 March 2007
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Nortes to the accounts continued

33 Related party transactions

Control
The ulumate parent of the Group 15 Chrisnan Salvesen PLC (incorporared in Scotland}

Group trading transactions
During the year the following transactions were carried out with related parnies

Sales of goods and services Purchase of goods and services
200, 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m m

Jomt ventures
Holistica Solutions Linuted (UK) - - 02 -
Salvesen Boxtel bv {Netherlands) 77 77 - -
Salvesen Logistica SL (Spam) - - - -
Salvesen Logisfashion SL (Spaimn) 08 06 - -
85 83 02 -

Assocates

Centio Logistico Automovil SA (Spain} - - - -

Outstanding related parts balances at 31 March 2007 and 2006 were not marer:al

Two properues are leased from Didier Darfewiile, a sentor manager within the business The leases have been negoniated on an arms
length basis with rent payable of £0 7m per annum (2006 £0 7m)

Companv trading transactuons and balances
During the year the following transactions were carried out with related parnes

Sales of goods and services Purchase of goods and services

2007 5006 2007 1006

£m £m im £fm

Christian Salvesen SA 02 0o - -
Christian Salvesen (Belgium) NV 02 02 - -
Christian Salvesen MNederland bv 01 03 - -
Salvesen Logistics Limited 119 36 - -
Inveralmond Insurance Limited - - 22 24
Chrisnan Salvesen Gerposa SA 03 03 - -
118 49 22 74
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33 Related party transactions continued

At 31 March 2007 the following outstanding balances were due (to)/from related partes

Recenables due  Recervables due Pavables due Pasables due

within 1 year after 1 vear within 1 year after 1 year

£m £m £m fm

Christian balvesen SA - 10 - {40}
Salvesen Logistics Lunsted - 287 - {0 3)
Inveralmond Insurance Limited - - (22) -
Darfeuille Associes SA - - ©1) (4 5)
Chrisnian Salvesen Gerposa SA - - - (7 2)
Salvesen Logistics Holdings Limited - 112 8 - -
Christian Salvesen Investments Limited - 176 1 - (69
CS3 [imuted - - - (34)
Christian Salvesen Packaging & Markeung Inc 01 - - -
Ferryfield Investments Limited - - - (37 2)
Christian Salvesen Central Limired - - - (53 7)
Christian Salvesen Ireland Limited - 03 - -
Imverleith Insurance Co Limited - - - {6 0)
01 3189 {2 3) (123 2)

At 31 March 2006 the following outstanding balances were due ro/from related parnes

Recevables due  Recen ables due Pavables due P ables due

within 1 year after 1 year within 1 vear atter 1 vear

£m fm m £m

Christian Salvesen SA - - - (28
Salvesen Logistics Limited - 139 - {30)
Inveralmond Insurance Limired - - {2 4) -
Darfeuille Associes SA - - - {4 6)
Christian Salvesen Gerposa SA - - - 44
Salvesen Logstics International by - 02 - -
Salvesen Logistics Holdings Limuted ~ 111 ¢ - -
Christian Salvesen Investments Limited - 167 2 - -
CS3 Limuced - - - (34)
Christian Salvesen Packaging 8 Marketing Inc 02 - - -
Ferrvfield Investments Limited - - - (37 2}
Christian Salvesen Central Limited - - - (33 7
Chrisnian Salvesen Ireland Limited 21 - - -
Swift Distribution Limited - - - {16 1)
23 2923 (24 (125 %)

34 Conbingent asset

As a resulr of the sale and leaseback of certain UK properties in the year, the Group may be enntitled to recenve a further £1 0m of
proceeds in the next financial vear The receipt of this sum 1s by no means certain and hence no asset has been recogmised 1n respect

of this amount
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Five-year review

2006
200+ IFRS 00, 2004 2003
IFRS (restated) IFRS Uk GAAP UK GAAP
fm L £m £m {m
Income statement
Revenue
— Continuing operations 89% 0 8193 8355 792 4 7880
- Share ot joint venture turnover - - - 507 47 8
— Discontinued operations - - - 28 41 6
Total Group revenue 899 0 8193 80> 5 8459 877 4
Operating profit before exceptional 1tems and goodwill amortisation
- Continung operanons 181 207 21> 277 308
~ Disconnnued operarions - - - (@ 5) (31)
181 207 21> 272 257
Goodwill amortisation - - - (4 3) (42)
Exceptional items
- Conuinuing operanons 316 02 (3 4) 19 {10 6)
— Dhscontinued operanans (7 0) - - {(10m 110 &)
Operating profit 47 7 709 181 14 6 01
Net interest payable {s 6} {>3) {49} (10 1) (56}
Profit/(loss) betore income tax 421 156 13? 45 o5
Income tax expense 53 {38 {25) (09} 27)
Profit/({loss) for the perod 47 4 118 107 36 {82}
Operanng profit before goodwill amortisation and exceptional iwems 181 207 2135 272 237
Net interest expense (56) {3 3) {49) (6 8) (6 7)
Net pension scheme mterest {FRS 17) - - (33 11
17 5 154 166 171 201
Balance sheet
Intangible assets 730 76 9 76 0 653 720
Property, plant and equpment 1102 1397 1536 16,9 705§
Investments 07 07 06 52 47
Working capital and provisions {3 4) 42 84 (60) {16 5)
Current tax and dinidends {16) 04 41) {(79) {61)
Deferred tax {6 9) {13 9} (13 0) (13 0) (17 9)
174 ¢ 2080 2047 2115 2417
Shareholders’ funds and muority interests 100 2 539 617 530 439
Net debr 394 943 936 108 > 1333
Net pension habilities (net of related deferred tax asser) 34 4 598 49 4 500 645
174 0 2080 2047 2115 2417
Operaung rauos (excluding exceptional rems and goodwill amorusaton)
Return on capital employed 10 4% 10 0% 101% 125% 10 6%
Operating profit on revenue® 20% 25% 27% 3 3% 37%
Interest covered by operating profit (times) 32 39 44 40 38
Share informauon
Dividends per ordinarv share 365p 365p 3 65p 3 65p 365p
Basic earmings per share on published earmings 17 9p 45p 4Qp 14p {3 1p)

*Operatng profit on revenue ratio 1s based on pre exceptional contmuing operanons

Return on capital employed 1s operatung profit before exceptional items and goodwill amortuisanon, compared to shareholders funds plus

ot pensic  lubiluies and borrowings

2004 figures have been restated following the adoprion of IFRIC 4

Chrstian Salvesen PLC Annual Report 2007 72




Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice 15 hereby given thar the annual general meeting of Chnsnan Salvesen PLC (the “company”} will be held at the Sheraton Grand
Hotel, 1 Festival Square, Edinburgh on Thursday 12 July 2007 at 11 am to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions,
with Resolutions 1 to 7 bemg proposed as ordinary resolutions and Resolutions § and 9 as special resolutions

Agenda
Routne busmess
1 To receive the reporrs of the directors and auditors and the company’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 2007

2 To approve the Directors’ Remuneration report for the vear ended 31 March 2007

3 To declare a final dnvidend on the ordinary shares

4 To re elect as a director of the company Mr ] A Steadman, who retires in accordance with the company’s articles of association

3 To re elect as a director of the company Mr L R Christensen, who retires i accordance with the company’s artcles of association

6 To reappomt PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as aud:tors of the company to hold office unul conclusion of the next general meering
at which accounts are laid before the company and thar their remuneration be fixed bv the directors

Special business

7 That the directors be and they are herebv generally and uncondmonally authorised 1n substitution for any existing authority ro exercise
all powers of the company to allot relevant secunities {within the meaning of Section 80 of the Companies Act 19835 (the “Act”)) up to
an aggregate nominal amount of £15,850,000, provided thac this authornty shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting
of the company 1n 2012 or on 11 Julv 2012, whichever 1s the earlier, save that the compamy may before such expiry make an ofter or
agreement which would or mught require reievant securinies to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot relevant securines
in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authonty conferred hereby had not expired

% That, subject to the passing of Resolunion 7 above, the directors be and they are hereby empowered pursuant to section 95 of the Act o
allot equity securities {withm the meaning of Section 94 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 7 and/or
where such allorment constitutes an allotment of equity securities by virtue of section 94 (3A) of the Act, as 1f Section 89 (1) of the Aet
did not apply to any such allotment, save that this power 1s lmited to

(1) the allotment of equity securities 1n connection with a nghts 1ssue, open offer, or any other pre emptine offer in favour of ordinary
shareholders where the equity securities respecuively attributable to the interests of all ordinary shareholders are proporuonare
{as nearly as mav be} to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them (excluding anv person holding ordimary shares as
treasury shares) subject only to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation
to fractional ennclements or legal, regulatory or pracucal problems arising 1n relat:on to any overseas terntorv or the requirements
of any regulatorv bodv or stock exchange or any other matter whatsoever, and

{u) the aflotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub paragraph (1) above} for cash to any person or persons of equuty securities up te an
aggregate nominal amount of £3,730,000,

and shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the company in 2008 or on 11 July 2008, whichever 1s the earler,
save that the company mav, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require equiry securities to be allotted
after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securitics n pursuance of such an offer or agreement as 1f the power conferred hereby
had not expired

9 That, 1n accordance with the arucles of association of the company and Section 166 of the Act, the company be and 15 hereby generally
and uncondmenally authorised 1o make one or more marker purchases {within the meaning of Secnion 163 (3) of that Act) of ordinary
shares of 78'sp each 1n the company, provided that

{1} the maxumum aggregate number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased 1s 26,533,000 (represenung approximateh
10% of the company s 1ssued share capital),

{u) the mimmum price which may be paid for each ordinary share 15 28%p per share, and

(w1} the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary share shall be an amount equal to 105% of rthe average of the middle
market quotations for an ordinary share, as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, for the five business days
unmediately preceding the dav on whzch the ordinary share 1s contracred 1o be purchased, in each case exclustve of expenses, and

{1v) the authonity herebv conferred shall expire, unless renewed, varied or revoked prior to such time, at the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the company m 2008 or on 12 Qcrober 2008, whicheyver 1s the earlier, save thar the companv may, before such
expiry, make anv contract to purchase ordinary shares under such authonry which will or may be executed wholly or partly after
the expiry of such authority and may make a purchase of ordinary shares pursuant to any such contract

By order of the board

E H D Peppiatt, Secretary
5 June 2007
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Nonce of Annual General Meetimg contnued

Notes

Any member enntled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote on his behaif
A proxy need not be a shareholder of the companv To be effective, the enclosed form of proxy, together with any power of attorney
or other authority under which 1t 1s signed or a notanally cert:ficated copy thereof, should be sent to the Proxv Processing Centre,
Telford Road, Bicester OX26 4LD (as derailed on the Proxy form) or delivered by hand duning normal business hours to the office of
the companv’s Registrars Capia IRG ple, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent, BR3 4TU and wn either event the Proxy form should
arrive not larer than 11am nn Tuesday 10 July 2007 Appointment of a provv will nor prevent a member from attending the meeting
and votng 1n person Alternatively, if you hold shares i unceruficated form {1 e in CREST) you may vote using the CREST svstemn
(please see notes below}

In erder to attend and vote at the meeting, a member must be entered on the company's register of members at 11 am on Tuesday 10 July
2007 A member will only be entitled to vote n respect of those shares registered 1 hus or her name at that ime This tune has been
specified pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 Changes to entries on the company s register of
members after that ume will be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting

Where all the securities have been sold or transferred by the addressee, this notice and any other relesant documents should be passed
to the person through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee

The following documents will be available for mspection at the registered office of the company, 16 Charlotte Square, Edinburgh,
FH2 4DF duning business hours on each business day from the dare of rhis notice unnl the date of the annual general meenng (“AGM”)
and on that day at the Sheraton Grand Hotel, 1 Festival Square, Edinburgh from 10 45 am until the conclusion of the meeting

1 copies of the company’s memorandum and articles of associauon, and
2 copes of all contracrs of sersice under which non execunve directors are employed by the companv or any of us subsidiary undertakings

Notes on proxy votng through CREST

H you are a user of the CRFST system (tncluding a CREST personal member), you may appoint one or more proxies or give an
nstruction to a proxv by having an appropriate CREST message transrmtted To appoint a proxy or to give an instruction to a proxy
(whether previously appomted or otherwise) via the CREST system, the CREST message must be recerved by the registrars of the
company, Capira Registrars (ID number RA10), not later than 11am on Tuesdav 10 July 2007 For this purpose, the ume of receipt
will be taken to be the tine (as determined by the umestamp generated by the CRFST system) from which the registrar of the company
1s able to retrteve the message CRFST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members and those CREST members who have
appomted a voting service provider should contact their CREST sponsor or voting service provider for assistance with appointing
proxies via CREST For further mformation on CREST procedures, imitations and systetn tumings please refer to the CREST Manual
The company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instructton in the circumstances set out 1n Regulanon 35{3)(a) of the Uncernficared
Secunities Regulanons 2001

Explanatory notes on the resolutions

Resolution 1 '
The directors must lay the company's accounts, the directors’ report and the auditors’ report before the members ar a general meening '
of the companv This 15 a legal requirement afrer the direcrors have approved the accounts and the directors’ report and the auditors

have prepared their report The reports and accounts are available on the compam’s website at www salvesen com

Resolution 2

The Directors’ Remuneranion Report Regulations 7002 require companies quoted on the London Stock Exchange to put an ordinary
resolurion 1o shareholders at the AGM seeking approval of the Remuneration Report The Remuneranon Report 1s set out on pages
27 ro 31 of the annual report and accounrs of the company

Resolution 3
Ths resolution 1s to declare a final dividend of 2 45 pence per ardinary share, which will be paid on 31 August 2007 to shareholders
on the regster at the close of business on 3 August 2007

Resolutions 4 and 5

Under the arricles, any director who has held office at the time of the two preceding annual general meenings of the company shall
retire and be eligible for re election and at least one third of the directors shall retire by roration at each AGM and shall be ehigible
for re election

MTr Steadman was appoimnted on 20 November 2003 and, having held office at the ume of the two preceding annual general meetings,
will retire at the AGM and, being ehigible, will offer himself for re election

Mr Christensen was appointed on 1 Julv 2004 and will have held office at the time of the two preceding annual general meenngs
at the tume of the next AGM to be held on 12 July 2007 Mr Christensen will therefore retre and, being eligible, will offer himself
for re election

Formal performance evaluations of both Mr Christensen and Mr Steadman have demonstrated thew ongomng commtment to and
continued effectiveness i their roles as directors, and accordingly the Chairman recommends that shareholders vote in favour of
these resolunions

For further details of all directors, please see their profiles on page 20 of the annual report
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Resolution 6
In accordance with the Act, the auditors of the company may not continue i office unless re appoimnzed at the meeting at which the
accounts are presented This resolution re appoints PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the company

Resolution 7

Resolution 7, which will be proposed as an ordinary resolution, seeks to grant to the directors authority 1o allot, pursuant to Artcle 10
of the company’s articles of association and Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985, relevant securities with a maximum nominal amount
of £15,050,000 This represents approximately 53 > million ordmary shares ot 28's pence each 1n the capital ot the company, which 15
approximately 20% of the company’s 1ssued share capital as at the date of this nouce The companv does not currentlv hold any shares
as treasury shares This authonty would, unless previously renewed by sharcholders, remain 1n force up to the conclusion of the AGM
of the company to be held in 2812 or 11 Julv 2012 if earher This 1s a renewal of the authonty granted to the directors at the AGM

mn 2002, which 15 due to expire on 12 July 2007

Whilst the directors have no current plans to utilise this authority they consider 1ts renewal appropriate in order to retamn maximum
flexabiliey

Resolution 8

Resolunion 7 above, 1f passed as a special resolucion at the forthcoming AGM, will renew the power given to directors m 2002 to allot
equity securities up to an aggregate nommal amount of £15,050,000 Resolunion 8 authonises the directors to effect a rights 1ssue, open
offer or pre emptive offer of such secuniuies for cash without complying with certain statutory pre emption requirements The directors
will also be authorsed to aliot sach securnities for cash on & non pre empnve basts ncluding ihe allorment of any ordinarv shares which
the compans has purchased and elected to hold as treasury shares (see the notes on Resolution 9 below for further information on
treasury shares) up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £3,730,000 (approaumately 5% of the ordinary share capial in 1ssue
ar the date of this notice} This authenty will expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeung of the company 1o be held m 7008
or on 11 Julv 2008 if earler

Resolution 9
This resolution, which will be proposed as a special resolution, authorises the company ro make market purchases of its 1ssued ordinary
shares as, in certain circumstances, 1t mav be in the best interests of the company to do so

Various regulations relaning to treasury shares enable companies to retain any of their own shares they have purchased as treasurv shares
with a view to a possible re 1ssue at a larer date, rather than cancetling as was previously required The compamy would consider helding
any of s own shares that it purchases as treasury shares This would give the company the ability to re 1ssue the treasuny shares quichly
and cost effectivels, and would provide the company with addirtonal flexubility in the management of ws capital base As at the date of
thus notice the company did not hold any shares as treasury shares

The directors have no present mmtention of exercising this authoritv but would hke the flexability to do so 1 future appropriate
arcumstances The directors only mtend to use the authoriry if they believe such purchases would be in the best interests of the company
and wil! result m an increase 1n earnings per share

The total number of options to subscribe for equity shares outstanding at the date of this nonice 15 10,338,140 Thus represents 3 50%

of the 1ssued share capital at that date If the company bought back the maximum number of shares perimatted pursuant to the passing

of this resolution, the total number of options to subscribe for equity shares outstanding at that date would represent 4 33% of the 1ssued
share capital as reduced following those repurchases

There are no warrants to subscribe for shares outstanding ar the date of this notice
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Shareholder information

Shareholder enquinies
1f you have any queries about the administratuon of shareholdings such as change of address, transfer of ownership, dividend mandate
forms or dividend payments please contact the Registrar

Capita Registrars

Northern House

Woodsome Park

Fenay Briage

Huddersfield

West Yorkshire

HOS8 OLA Tel 0870 162 3100 E ma:l SSD@Capitaregistrars com

Share price informauon
Prices are published m most newspapers and also on Ceefax and Teletext i the UK The current share price 15 updared every 15 minutes
on the company s website www salvesen com

Shareholder analysis {as at 31 March 2007)

Number of % of 1ssued “Number ot % of wssued

By size accoants shares Bv type of holder accounts shares
1 1,000 shares 5,831 10 ind:viduals 8,654 394
1,081 10,000 shares 3,012 39 Banks and notmunees 683 156
10,001 100,000 shares 512 61 Insurance companies 5 25
100,001 1,000,000 shares 144 193 Pension funds 25 63
1,000,001 5,000,000 shares 40 326 Investment and unic trusts 60 252
> 000,001 shares and over 8 371 Other mstitutions/corporares 120 110
9,547 100 9,547 100

Low cost share dealing service

Hoare Govett Lumited provides a low cost share dealing service in Christian Salvesen PLC ordmary shares which enables investors ro buy
or sell for a brokerage fee of 1% (plus 0 5% stamp dutv on purchases} with a mimmum charge of £15 Details may be obtamed by
telephoning Hoare Govert on 070 7678 8300 Please note thart thus 15 a postal service which 1s available to UK residents only

Payment of divdends

The best way to ensure thar dividends are received as quichly as possible 15 w0 instruct the Registrars to pay them duectly mre vour bank
account, tax vouchers are then posted to you separately A dividend mandarte form will accompanv the dividend warrant and rax soucher
in August or alternatively you can contact the Registrars ar the address shown above

Regustered office Advsers

16 Charlotte Square Audrtors

Edinburgh PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (Birmmgham)
EH2 4DF

Fnancial advisers
UBS Warburg Bank

Stockbrokers
J P Morgan Cazenove
Hoare Govert Lumited

Registered No SC7173

Corporate office
500 Pavilion Drive
Northampton
NN4 7Y}

Company secretanal department
500 Pavilion Drive

MNorthampron

NN4 7Y]

Finanaial calendar

Annuval General Meeting 12 July 2007
Shares trade ex dividend 1 August 2007
Record date for final dividend* 3 August 2007
Fual dividend pard 31 August 2007
Interim results and dividend announced Late November/early December 2007
Shares trade ex dvadend S T T - - Far]; ]—;r::ar?ZO“O_é—
Record date for interim dinvidend® Early January 2008
Interim dividend paid Late January 2008
Preliminarv announcement of full year results Late Mavy/earlv June 2008

“Shareholders on the register at this date wall recenve the dividend
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